L()ﬂg‘OF JE i) it 7=

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd.
B E B R A A

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(REEHETMRZZERAE)
Stock Code B 4ms% 960

2009 Annual Report F




B RERAGAR
CoverChengduBridgeCounty



H &%

Contents

2 e [ 24 4

3 oA YR

5 EEYEER R

9 i b

14 0 0 A

29 TV TN T P

35 e

56 e SCRE i

63 188 7 A% BT R A
65 R A T R R
66 SRE R IR &S

™

68 AR i A B R
70 SallenEx

74 A s TR B RE
211 V0 4 B 25 ik 2

Group Structure

Corporate Information

Schedule of Principal Properties

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis
Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
Report of the Directors

Corporate Governance Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Four Years Financial Summary

AEH AnnualReport 2009



LIPS

Group Structure

AE Wt EE A PR 2 ]

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd.

100%

T 1 B AT U (IR A R~ ]
Juntion Development
Hong Kong (Holding) Limited

91.3%

HEREMEENRE (FE)

Chongqing Longhu Development Co., Ltd

bz b %% HERE
Property Development Property Investment
AL B A
Subsidiaries JCE* Projects
B e HEHL IR B R HEEMOCO
Longfor Chongging 2% Chongqing Bamboo 49.6% Chongqing Norch  213% He 91.3%
— Grove Paradise Walk Chongqing MOCO
4
Longfor Chengdu 94.2% N R . Household Hall
L PSR o1 35 B 20104 1A 3
JLEcEEM Shanghai Rose 45.7% Chongqmg West ’ To be opened in 2010
Lenaior Beliin 89.9% and Ginkgo Villa Paradise Walk i
g jing IR =T 4
g BRI 4 e E%Eﬁu%;ﬁﬁ 0130 Chengdu Paradise Walk 91.3%
Longfor Shanghai 91.3% Chengdu Century 49.1% Chongqing : Three Thousand Mall
N Pealk View Crystal Palace B 201 047 [ 22
P To b d in 2010
L ﬁ?‘%%?ﬂ’ 91.3% R R R 0 be opened in
ongtor Aran Dalian Longhe 48.4% Chongqing Fairy Castle 91.3%
IS5 HE Paradise Walk
Longfor Wuxi 13%
B o
Longfor Shenyang 93.5%
==
— T s HE
Longfor Qingdao 96.7%
s
] e
Longfor Changzhou 96.6%
A HE 100% * JCE B3 I B
Longfor Hangzhou * JCE = Jointly Controlled Entity
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Schedule of Principal Properties*

A 8y 3%

Development Properties

BELM
k&M &
R R AT B B B
] £ Completed GFA BETH BAHHK
KH Group's Interest % {i#E®  Remaining  GFAUnder  GFA Under
Project in the Project  Location Site Area Unsold  Development Planning
(Fhk) (FHK) (F7k) (FHK)
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
EWEEREA  Longfor Garden Nanyuan 9130%  Chongqing EHE 163,689 8126 — — RS/
"M LR Longfor Garden Xiyuan 9130%  Chongqing EE 143,248 15,446 — —  RA/CP
R Fragrant Forest 9130%  Chongqing EE 192310 — — —  R/S/CP
T Kt North Paradise Walk 9130%  ChongqingBE 38710 14,497 — — R/S/CP
KREn Crystal Town 9130%  Chongqing BE 233799 37,180 — — R/S/O/CP
[k Blue Lake County 9130%  Chongqing EE 914343 12,494 — — RA/CP
EEEWH  Chongqing Fairy Castle 9130%  Chongqing EE 199,064 19,392 — — RA/CP
BLK River View 9130%  Chongging & 81,846 11,593 — — RSP
FED Hill of Good Hope 93.48%  Chonggqing B 120,169 8,401 - —  R/S/CP
33 West Paradise Walk 9130%  ChonggingEE 28316 672 - —  R/S/0/CP
KM Urban Courtyard 9130%  Chongqing E B 39,201 5,376 — —  R/S/ICP
MOCOF L MOCO Center 9130%  ChongqingEE 20,500 — 160,998 —  R/S/O/CP
[ il Sunshine Riverside 4636%  Chongqing EE 111741 0,107 277,129 —  R/S/CP
RRTE Chunsen Land 9130%  Chongqing EE 160,191 — 2,934,214 49835  R/S/0/CP
fEali i Peace Hill County 9130%  Chongqing EE 246,951 10,877 197,118 218233 R/S/CP
3 Wisdom Town 9536%  Chongqing & & 98,274 — 172,503 — RSP
R Toschna Villa 9556%  Chongqing BB 615175 — 171,395 866,280  R/S/CP
L5 Bamboo Grove 4957%  Chongqing B 778648 16,418 115,751 1300545 R/S/CP
h Crystal Magic 9130%  Chongqing EE 199,986 — — 1328160 R/S/CP
BRI Mopan Shan 93.48%  Chongqing BB 224378 - — 1170392 R/S/CP
KER University Town 9556%  Chongqing B 588,220 — — 1,774,955 R/S/CP
BB Chongging Subtotal 5,218,758 166,588 138,315 7,108,400
REEE King Land 94.17%  Chengdu & 59,476 10,677 — —  R/S/CP
RER Charming Port 94.17%  Chengdu 7 87,490 35412 — — RA/CP
ES Three Thousand Lane 9417%  Chengdu i 55,088 21,827 - —  R/S/CP
=T Three Thousand Castles 46.56%  Chengdu i 75,787 — 471,683 — R/S/CP
REH Bridge County 9142%  Chengdu % 469883 — 160,605 7350 R
RAHANL  Chengdu Flamenco Spain 9130%  Chengdu i # 126,137 — 243,853 511,794 R/S/CP
HER Century Peak View 9130%  Chengdu 7 48,062 - 143,489 38,380  R/S/CP
MEFR Jade Town 93.48%  Chengdu R 210,505 — — 232299 R/S/CP
WA Wukuai Shi 9130%  Chengdu i 184,487 — - 901813  R/S/O/CP
BExE Mou Ma Heaven 9556%  Chengdu X # 448,582 — - 538298 R
ANt Chengdu Subtotal 1,765,497 67,916 1,019,629 2,670,134
R fEE S ME O: WAE CP: {FHLY
Residential Shopping Office Car Park

REECE-REZ = A
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Schedule of Principal Properties*

By AN
K% 3k
RIER RETR R Rl
i) &3 Completed GFA BEMH BEMHE
JEH Group's Interest  H% fi#E%  Remaining  GFAUnder  GFA Under
Project in the Project  Location Site Area Unsold  Development Planning
(F5k) (FHk) (k) (Fik)
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
&L Beijing Roseand Ginkgo Villa 89.93%  Beifing L7 164,037 1,700 — - R
I7ERES  Bejing Chiant 9107%  Beijing LR 168,569 19,034 — — RSP
BEARE Summer Palace Splendor 89.93%  Beifing 50 97,809 - 128,894 —  R/S/CP
EEER Blossom Chianti 9130%  Beijing Tt 7 99,442 — 213,365 — R/S/CP
Nl Flegance Loft 9130%  Beijing L7 168,388 — 581,002 —  R/S/CP
J5% ONE Tangning One 9130%  Beijing Lt 41,971 - 250,190 —  R/S/CP
HRER Azure Chianti 9130%  Beijing L 55,435 — — 171,047 R/S/CP

EREE Chianti Riverside 9130%  Beijing L 187,514 — - 305,860 R/S/CP
BUWAFE  Hou Sha Yu 9130%  Bejing L 7 163,616 - — 65447 R/S/CP
Ha Changying 93.48%  Beijing L3¢ - - — 462,929  R/S/CP
(¥ i) Beijing Subtotal 1,147,381 20734 1173511 1,003,283
FEBERIL  Shanghai Rose and Ginkgo Villa  45.65%  Shanghai I i 144,496 - 236,722 R/S
B Sunshine City 93.48%  Shanghai L1 178,48 — 99,780 352974 R/S/CP
B Bai YinLu Project 95.56%  Shanghai i} 02,819 — — 146,080 R/S/CP
R Long Xing Lu 95.56%  Shanghai I - — — 148400 R/S/CP
Lt Shanghai Subtotal 385,563 — 336,502 647,454
ML R Qujiang Glory 817 X Fi% 34,795 — 17,447 —  R/S/CP
FZEMIK Xian Fairy Castle 8217  XfanTi% 08,939 — 82,006 192332 R/S/CP
F%EHKME  Xi'an Flamenco Spain 9130%  Xian % 176,049 — — 579905 R/S/CP
FZARES  Xian Chianti 9130%  Xian A% 309,653 - - 956,100 R/S/CP
k% Chang'an Wonder 8.17%  XianF% 30,889 — — 3535 S/CP
KERH Daxing Project 91300  XianFA% — — — 159270 R/S/CP
13 % Nt Xi'an Subtotal 080,325 99,453 1,931,142
AME Taike Yuan 91300%  WuxidEH 188,496 — — 270,657 R/S/CP
AMET Taike Yuan II 9130%  Wuxi 5 125,557 — — 2719547 R/S/CP
Gk Xihu Road 9130%  Wuxi EF 145,903 — — 486,000 R/S/CP
5N Wuxi Subtotal 439,956 - — 1,036,204
R EE S: ¥ 0: WAE CP: fFH I

Residential Shopping Office Car Park

fBIEE EF-FEZ =1 —H
As of March 31, 2010
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Schedule of Principal Properties*

A 8y 3%

Development Properties

BEL
k&M it B

RER REmR R S

) & Completed GFA BEME BENHE

JH Group's Interest % fi#%  Remaining  GFAUnder  GFA Under

Project in the Project  Location Site Area Unsold  Development Planning

(FIr k) (FH k) (T k) (F77 k)

(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
HIER Huishan Project 93.48%  Shenyang i 84,086 - - 85,137 R/S/CP
BIEHT  Huishan Project II 93.48%  Shenyang /&5 - - - 010,462 R/S/CP
EEVE Daoyi Project 9130%  ShenyangIEF 684,420 — — 1620689  R/S/CP

EREHT  Daoyi Project II 9130%  Shenyang i — — — 409,574

AN Shenyang Subtotal 768,500 2725862
FHER Qinglong Project 9130%  Changzhou M 164855 — — 418,000 R/S/CP
FRERT Qinglong Project II 85.07%  Changzhou M 143965 — — 345430  R/S/CP
i Hongzhuang Project 9130%  Changzhou M 204440 — - 809,700  R/S/CP
R 120 Dongjing 120 Project 9130%  Changzhou & M — - — 470800 R/S/CP

EMG Changzhou Subtotal 603,260 — — 2,043,930
TYHEE Xiasha Project 100.00%  Hangzhou®iM 178,000 — — 591214 R/S/CP

M Nt Hangzhou Subtotal 178,000 — — 391214
SFEWIER  Baisha Project 8400%  QingloFE 509300 - — 622,40 W/S/CP

HFENT Qingdao Subtotal 509,300 - - 622,240
HRIEHEM 28 Longhe I 4840%  Dalian K — — - 669,724 R/S/CP

KNGt Dalian Subtotal — — - 069,724

R fEE S T O MAE CP: 75
Residential Shopping Office Car Park

RS -FRE= =T —H
As of March 31, 2010
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Schedule of Principal Properties*

B R E

Investment Properties

KEM {4 & By
RER AWK B A
o] £ Rentable GFA BAHHK RAETHK
%H Group's Interest % i Held for ~ GFAUnder  GFA Under
Project in the Project ~ Location Site Area  Investment Development Planning
(Fk) (FTK) (FFK) (FFK)
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
LKt North Paradise Walk 9130%  Chongging EE 58710 146,262 - -
KB Crystal Palace 9130%  Chongging EE 233799 44,514 - - S
LR Faity Castle 9130%  Chongqing EE 199,064 20413 — - S
3 K West Paradise Walk 9130%  Chongging B 28316 111,654 - - 5
R fEE S E S O: MAE Cp: (8
Residential Shopping Office Car Park

fBIEE F-FEZ = —H
As of March 31, 2010
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AR 45 R 2 R M L
ECIRE BRG] PORE AR
R FF T A SR
W 2 S5 B 2 -

B3

CEENFEAFERSFHEEFARK183.6
o0 > WHIFHRT9.8% » TS EHARYE
1374800 » WA AF R 154.2% » AR E A Ui
AN R W28 6 BT K IR R
566.2% » AR & W) 3 AL B E R 1A% 0 A
MARB 6.1 T > [ R543.5% ° BLA
BLFE A% P 3 T Al i s MBS AL REI 2 1
FIHHE £516.1% » KK & IR 20084F 2.6.9% °

JB B,

ERGRRIRE T IEE ARG RE G
ANERH0.06370 © B F JUAE 1A I B AR A
o NRME3.2448 00 - IKBRBLAZ B A R @15 4%
B AL IA) 20.2% -

2R W 1l

TERFBIAE S N FI RIS R
B s TER U ) A TR = A L IR A R o B A
BAATHM - F5 - |8 W HHER
HH > b =% —FF— A AR R
o B AT TR - A A A
AR AE S L T s A o A ERE S T R A
C 82,5008 F oK - H e 4R AR 452,172
B oK o R AR o JRAMTE A b BAY I
R 22 ] b TE A SRS > AR R JUAR b b IR
)T 35 A 2y N R W 1,8690C /T ok - &
R TR TR AR
2,22576 ok o

B &

Chairman’s Statement

I am pleased to present to the shareholders the business and
outlook of Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended December
31, 2009.

Results

In 2009, the Group realized contract sales of RMB18.36 billion,
representing an increase of 79.8% over the year before. Revenue
was RMB11.37 billion, representing an increase of 154.2% year-on-
year. Profit attributable to shareholders amounted to RMB2.21
billion, representing a significant increase of 566.2% year-on-year.
Core attributable profit from operations after deducting
revaluation gain of investment property was RMB1.61 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 543.5%. Net profit margin
of the Group, based on the profit after tax excluding investment
property revaluation gain, was 16.1% in 2009, much higher than
0.9% in 2008.

Dividend

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.063 per share for 2009. Total final dividends for 2009 will
be RMB324.45 million, representing a payout ratio of 20.2% on the
profit after tax excluding investment property revaluation gain.

Review of our Strategy

In 2009, under the selected regional focus strategy, the Group
continuously expanded its footprint in the Pan Bohai Rim and the
Yangtze River Delta by securing projects in Hangzhou, Qingdao,
Wuxi, Changzhou and Shenyang. Together with the Dalian project
secured in the first quarter of 2010, the Group has projects across
11 cities, further diversifying its income sources geographically.
The Group’s overall land reserves have exceeded 25 million
square meters, of which the attributable areas were 21.72 million
square meters. Compared with previous years, we were more
tactful and efficient in acquiring land reserves at strategic
locations. Consequently, the average unit cost for land acquisition
was merely RMB1,869 per square meter in 2009 that averaged
down the unit cost of the Group’s current overall land reserves to
RMB2,225 per square meter.

£ Annual Report 2009
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Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2 A

Another important strategy of the Group was to expand its
portfolio of quality investment properties, particularly shopping
centers. Currently, the Group holds four shopping centers in
Chongqing with an aggregate area of 331,843 square meters. In
2009, total rental income was RMB197.98 million, representing an
increase of 24.7% year-on-year. Increase in rental income was
attributable to the increase in rental level for a portion of the
North Paradise Walk Mall with an area of 20,000 square meters
upon renovation.

More important, the Group’s property investment team has
become more mature and skillful in the way they run the
business. This will provide support to the Group’s continuous
development in the rental business and help raising rental yield.

Review of the Market for 2009

We believe that China’s real estate market is support by three
main factors — urbanization, economic growth and upgrade
demand. Despite market volatility and imbalance from time to
time, commodity housings with strong brand and good quality
will see fervent demands in the long run.

In 2009, benefited from the bottoming-out of the global
economies and the recovery and booming of the property market,
contract sales of the Group increased significantly. Apart from the
outstanding performance of projects in Chongqing and Chengdu,
it is more encouraging to see the fruitful results in 2009 breeding
from the seeds we sowed in the Eastern cities in previous years,
such as Beijing Rose and Ginkgo Villa and Beijing Chianti, which
boosted up the Group’s revenue and profit. It is noteworthy that
the Company’s brand value has been expanding across the
country and our competitive edges in such a volatile market
condition were more conspicuous with the diligence of our
employees.
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Chairman’s Statement

Organization Development and Brand Building

It is always our belief that brand recognition is built on public
praise gathered from the experience of excellent quality and
services, which in turn rely on the outstanding performance of
our staff and optimized organizational structure.

After years of well-planned development, the Group has
established a unique culture and operation flow. We are capable
of recruiting and training junior employees by providing them
with brilliant career development as well as attracting and
retaining experienced talents to join our middle to senior
management team. On the back of these, the Group has rapidly
expanded from a regional company into a nationwide company
while maintaining its product quality and standard of services
without over-stretching its management resources.

In 2009, Chongqing West Paradise Walk was awarded the “Guang
Xia Prize” for commercial properties by China Real Estate
Association and The Center For Housing Industrialization of the
Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of PRC.
Chengdu King Land Project received the “Golden Award for
Outstanding Residential District” of the 2009 Zhan Tianyou Civil
Engineering Award presented by China Civil Engineering Society.
The morale of our employees has remained high. The recovery
rate of property management fee has maintained at a high level
by industry standard, signifying satisfaction of the customers.

Outlook for 2010

In 2010, we believe there could be plenty of uncertainties in the
government’s macro policies targeting the property sector. We
would therefore expect volatility from time to time and imbalance
in the performances of different regional markets. Nonetheless,
we are of the view that a universally good market in which
everybody can do well may not represent the best of our interest.
Rather, we can better differentiate ourselves from our rivals amid
a market with ups and downs.

£ Annual Report 2009
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While expanding or maintaining our market shares in Chongqing,
Chengdu, Beijing and Shanghai where we have already secured
leading positions, the Group will endeavor to establish and
enhance our brand value in the new markets of Wuxi, Shenyang,
Qingdao and Hangzhou. Wuxi Tai Ke Yuan, Qing Long Project in
Changzhou, Hui Shan Project in Shenyang, Bai Sha He Project in
Qingdao, Xia Sha Project in Hangzhou and other new projects will
be launched to the market during the year. The Group has raised
its target of annual contract sales by 35% year-on-year to RMB24.8
billion. Also, we expect contribution to contract sales from the
Eastern cities as a percentage of total to surpass that of the
Western cities. Apart from improving and enhancing our existing
products, we will launch new products in a timely manner to
strengthen our competitive edges.

On property investment business, the Group plans to reserve a
substantial portion of the projects under construction as
investment properties. Commercial areas are included in the
master plans of Crystal Magic Project in Chongqing, Wu Kuai Shi
in Chengdu, Chang Ying Project in Beijing, Hangzhou Xia Sha, Tai
Ke Yuan Phase II and Xi Hu Lu Project in Wuxi, Dao Yi Project in
Shenyang, Bai Sha He Project in Qingdao, Hong Zhuang Project in
Changzhou, Da Xing Project in Xi'an and Lvshun Long He Project
in Dalian. Upon completion of these projects, it is estimated that
the Group’s investment portfolio will exceed 2 million square
meters.

As for land reserves, the Group will adhere to its strategy of
“selected regional focus” and further expand its footprint in
Eastern China based on prudent financial budget. We will strive to
control the acquisition cost while replenishing the land reserves.
For instance, the Group won the Chang Ying Project in Chaoyang
District of Beijing City with a planned GFA of 462,929 square
meters at a reasonable price of RMB9,807 per square meter in the
beginning of the year. This project will be developed into
residential areas as well as a large-scale shopping center,
providing solid foundation for our future growth in Beijing. The
total land reserves of the Group should be sufficient for
development in the coming five to seven years.
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Chairman’s Statement

In respect of organization development and brand building, the
Group is committed to maintaining rapid growth while upholding
a nimble organizational structure. While achieving further
business expansion, the Group will continue to streamline its
corporate structure and develop a unique corporate culture with
an equal and transparent environment to maintain our vivacity in
pursuit of quality. We will also enhance our efficiency by
upgrading our IT system to reduce redundancy in operation flow.
We will further promote the “Leadership Training Program” which
launched last year to offer more training opportunities to our
staff. New human resources development plan will be
implemented in the property management division to nurture
more regional general managers and project managers for the
property management arm. Moreover, the Company will fortify its
construction technology quality center and internal audit
department to ensure its product quality and efficiency of

operation.

Besides building quality products and providing quality services,
the Group will actively participate in social welfare activities
organized by the government and the community so as to further
enhance our brand value. In Chongqing, the Group will roll out
the “Ten Million Housings” plan, pursuant to which 2,000 small-
sized flats will be offered for leasing to university students and
urban residents who do not have their own flats at rentals
comparable to public housings within the next five years and for
sales in the market after five to seven years. The Group will
persist on providing “Long Hu Chinese New Year Gifts” to the
poor at the end of each year and encourage more homeowners
and kindnesses to join this meaningful activity.

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd.
Wu Yajun
Chairman
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Under the dual support of loose monetary policy and proactive
financial policy of the central government, the property market of
China experienced a robust recovery in 2009. The market turned
the sluggishness caused by the financial crisis in 2008 into another
record high year in primary housing transactions in 2009. As a
sequel of push back of numerous construction projects and
reduced number of land sales a year before, the property markets
in most cities where the Group had businesses were plagued by
under-supply in 2009. Coupled with the pick-up in pent-up
demand, property prices went over the roof.

Under this backdrop, the Group recorded a very strong year in
2009. Revenue was up by 154.2% year-on-year to RMB11.37
billion. Profit attributable to shareholders increased by 566.2% to
RMB2.21 billion. Excluding the net impact of investment property
revaluation gain, core attributable profit surged by 543.5% to
RMB1.61 billion.

Property Development

Revenue of property development business was RMB11.03 billion,
up 161.6% year-on-year, accounted for 97.0% of total revenue. For
the first time in our history, the Group generated 46.1% of total
property development revenue from the coastal region of China
whereas in the past all of our revenue came from Western China.
The Directors expect revenue contribution from coastal China to
further increase to over 50% in the next two years.

The Group delivered 1.34 million square meters of property in
GFA terms in 2009, of which 167,251 square meters belonged to a
jointly controlled entity. Net average selling price (ASP), which
arises from dividing property development revenue by GFA
delivered by the subsidiaries of the Group, was RMB9,400 per
square meter in 2009. This compared to RMB4,938 per square
meter a year before. Thanks to the increase in ASP, gross profit
margin for the property development business rose to 28.6% in
2009 from 24.7% in 2008.
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K — I H YK TR A T Table 1: Breakdown of property development revenue by projects
BET-A=Zt—HLEHE i BEH by T B E
Year Ended Dec 31 City Revenue GFA GP Margin
ZEFA ZFTAN ZFRFA ZFTAN ZFRFA ZEFTA
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
ARWTE ANRBTE SIS FIrk % %
RMB000  RMB’000 Sqm Sgm
Ele- LI s 2,848,099 — 107,708 —  36.0% —
Rose and Ginkgo Villa Beijing
=TH J# 1,765,806 — 294,440 — 27.0% —
3000 Lane Chengdu
TrEREsy s 1,588,681 — 147,033 —  261% —
Beijing Chianti Beijing
BT BE 817,910 — 167,558 —  13.3% —
Sunshine Riverside Chongging
it VT A% % 5% 086,894 — 58,558 — 32.7% —
Quijiang Glory Xi'an
fhe 1L E 083,675 — 77,578 — 21.0% —
Peace Hill County Chongqing
AR A 681,975 — 57,643 —  48.5% —
Bridge County Chengdu
BRI HE 648,525 — 85,660 — 34.6% —
Chunsen Land Chongqing
fe ik 7 e I 646,087 — 56,179 —  115% —
Blossom Chianti Beijing
& R 457,715 — 73,834 —  16.7% —
Wisdom Town Chongging
mEYE J# 53,937 897,608 9,532 159,447 55.4% 42.9%
King Land Chengdu
R FHB 44,250 1,399,312 8,186 203374  41.2% 30.9%
Charming Port Chengdu
W R 16,876 729,276 3,480 123340  37.5% 5.4%
Blue Lake County Chongging
79 3 K A R 16,223 347,444 2,985 77,388  16.9% 11.5%
West Paradise Walk Chongqing
Bk EY 6,950 332,520 2,823 87904  24.9% 24.6%
River View Chongqing
EN 3801 R 1,436 304,911 563 101,162 10.7% 21.8%
Chongging Fairy Castle Chongging
oAy AEH 64,271 145,101 19,625 41,228 5.8% (10.4%)
Others NA
At 11,029,310 4,216,172 1,173,385 853,843 28.6%  24.7%
Total

4E 8 Annual Report 2009 15
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Chianti Riverside
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In terms of contract sales, the Group sold RMB18.36 billion
(including RMB2.92 billion from jointly controlled entities) in 2009
on GFA of 1.88 million square meters, representing increase of
79.8% year-on-year and 60.4% year-on-year, respectively. In 2009,
the Group generated sales from 5 cities, namely Beijing, Chengdu,
Chongqing, Shanghai and Xi'an, up from three cities in 2008.
Contract sales from the two new cities of Shanghai and Xi’an
accounted for 17.9% of the total value. On the other hand,
contract sales from the three old markets recorded an average
organic growth rate of 56.0% year-on-year.

In terms of regional breakdown, contract sales from the Pan
Bohai Rim, the Yangtze River Delta and Western China accounted
for 33.2%, 13.2 % and 53.6% of the total, respectively.

T | g

% ONE
Tangning One
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Table 2: Details of contract sales of the Group in 2009
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JHH o AW AW ASP*

Project City Contract Sales GFA  ARWIL~
A R H T ok Ik

RMB mn Sqm RMB/Sqm

J& % ONE Jea 2,436 82,222 29,627

Tangning One Beijing

=T JHHB 1,777 204,790 8,677

Three Thousand Castles Chengdu

it W 1L i 1,566 76,059 20,589

Shanghai Rose & Gingko Villa Shanghai

KI7 Ji k| 1,432 301,913 4,743

Elegance Loft Beijing

VT B 45 N 1,352 129,121 10,471

Bamboo Grove Chongging

A4 111 P B 1,101 178,343 6,173

Peace Hill County Chongging

RAGH B 1,057 88,890 11,891

Bridge County Chengdu

B i bt 964 17,224 55,968

Summer Palace Splendor Beijing

P I i 855 37,044 22,713

Sunshine City Shanghai

BRUE HE 845 109,446 7,721

Chunsen Land Chongging

AR R 832 92,344 9,010

Toschna Villa ** Chongging

Hp 7L H 0064 133,191 4,985

Sunshine Riverside Chongging

1E B2 Tt e 599 44,237 13,541

Blossom Chianti Beijing

Hh B 5 7 % 514 40,911 12,564

Qujiang Glory Xi'an

FRE R B[ 437 31,255 13,982

Chianti Riverside Beijing

MOCOH > £ 370 62,329 5,936

MOCO Center Chongging

B 387 W% 349 09,144 5,047

Xi'an Fairy Castle Xi'an

JRCHD e W] X JRHD 346 57,123 6,057

Chengdu Flamenco Spain Chengdu

IR HE 321 56,792 5,052

Wisdom Town Chongqing

At B L bt 225 8,209 27,409

Rose and Ginkgo Villa Beijing

=72 A H 131 18,467 7,094

Three Thousand Lane Chengdu

HoAt AT 186 45,315 4,099

Others N/A

T 18,363 1,884,968 9,742

Total/Average

IR E B LA

*  Before deducting sales tax
#  Formerly known as East Bridge County

£ Annual Report 2009
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As of January 1, 2010, the Group had RMB19.21 billion sold but
unrecognized revenue which formed a solid basis for the Group
top’s line growth in 2010.

Property Investment

Total rental income of the Group in 2009 was RMB197.98 million,
representing an increase of 24.7% year-on-year. The Group
generated rental income mainly from four shopping malls in
Chongqing with details set out in Table 3. Gross profit margin
from rental income increased to 78.3% in 2009 from 72.5% a year
ago.

Table 3: Breakdown in 2009 rental income

A W 25 1

e A Ha b H fiL 2
BETA=Z+T—HILEE (AR¥TFX) Rental % of Occupancy
Year ended December 31 (RMB’000) Income Revenue Rate
b3 K A North Paradise Walk 125,796 03.5% 97.7%
PG I K A West Paradise Walk 44,787 22.6% 96.1%
EY Fairy Castle 9,728 4.9% 100.0%
i b Crystal Palace 11,388 5.8% 100.0%
{FH Car Park 973 0.5% N/A
HoAts Others 5,303 2.7% 62.0%
L e Total/Average 197,975 100.0% 97.5%

£ 1 ¥

B BTG SN P AR SR B B - — AT R
B -

A AE AR T B > A B AR
L E RHGMEERMEN  LFERE2
THD B i 2 ) Y 5 65 B ST A R o DAER
A R R IR o L B B L
EEFENE LR FENT2%HE —FF
NFEM2.8% o WEAREBR —FENFENE
[e] Bi5 /B A 2 T 4F 3 179.8% - M) 499 10 i B
F R e 3870 3.0% -

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2 A

Expenses Control

Management put in a lot of effort in controlling selling as well as
general and administrative (G&A) expenses of the Group.

A unit was set up in the headquarters of the Group to monitor
and to optimize the use of sales and marketing resources. Internal
audit were conducted on the use of selling expenses for several
subsidiaries aiming at raising utilization and reducing wastage. As
a result, selling expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased to
2.8% in 2009 from 7.2% a year before. Despite that contract sales
increased by 79.8% vyear-on-year in 2009, selling expenses
decreased by 3.0% year-on-year over the same period.
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Also, in spite of the triple digit increase in revenue in last year,
G&A expenses only mildly rose by 0.6% year-on-year over the
same period. The ratio of G&A expenses to revenue decreased to
3.6% in 2009 from 9.1% in 2008. Management imposed very
stringent expenses control measures including, amongst other
things, introduced an on-line expenses tracking system that traced
expenses records of every employee in every transaction. In 2009,
about 48.9% of the G&A expenses of the Group related to salary
and amortization of share-based compensation schemes. In 2008,
such ratio was 39.1%.

In the future, the Directors expect that the ratios of selling and
G&A expenses to revenue will remain more or less at the same
levels as those in 2009, respectively.

Share of Results of Jointly Controlled Entities

Contribution of jointly controlled entities (JCEs) in 2009 mainly
came from the Group’s 49.6%-owned Bamboo Grove Project in
Chongqing. The project delivered 167,251 square meter of
property on ASP (net of sales tax) of RMB6,868 per square meter.
This compared to GFA of 111,960 square meters on net ASP of
RMBG6,050 in 2008. The attributable profit after tax before minority
interest of the Group in JCEs was RMB136 million in 2009.

The Directors expect contribution from jointly controlled entities
to further increase in 2010 from the level of 2009 since a new
phase of the Bamboo Grove Project and the 45.7%-owned Rose
and Gingko Villa Project in Shanghai will reach completion,
respectively in this year.

ElA PR

North Paradise Walk

U S

Central Peak View
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Income Tax Expenses

The income tax expenses of the Group were RMB1.57 billion in
2009, translating into an effective tax rate of 39% (41% in 2008).
Income tax expenses consisted of three taxes. Firstly, PRC
enterprise income tax, which was charged at the rate 25%, less
any tax concession the Group was entitled to. Secondly, a 5%
withholding tax provided on the profits arose during the year of
certain PRC subsidiaries which were available for distributing to
the Group’s Hong Kong holding company. And thirdly, full
provision of land appreciation tax (LAT). LAT was approximately
4.3% of property development revenue in 2009 (1.3% in 2008) and
the Directors expect such ratio to increase if the gross profit
margin of the Group from property development business
increases in the future.

Profitability

Net profit margin of the Group, which is defined as the ratio of
profit after tax excluding investment property revaluation gain to
revenue, increased to 16.1% in 2009 from 6.9% in 2008. The rise
in net profit margin was mainly resulted from an increase in gross
profit margin to 29.3%, which in turn was mainly driven by the
increase in ASP, good expenses control efforts and a 115.1%
increase in contribution from JCEs.

Ak S 1

Beijing Rose and Ginkgo Villa

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2 A

b it 5 0 1
Shanghai Rose and Ginkgo Villa
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Land Bank Replenishment

As of March 31, 2010, the total size of the Group’s land bank was
25.04 million square meters or 21.72 million square meters on an
attributable basis. We estimate that the average unit acquisition
cost of our land bank was RMB2,225 per square meter. The
geographic spread of the land bank of the Group was as follows:

Table 4: Breakdown of land bank of the Group

RS
At 5 T A
o Wb At 5 Bi Al Ll Attributable it Al bt 4]
Region City Gross GFA % of Total GFA % of Total
T 5 ok T o5 ok
Sqm Sgm
TR i) it b [ Jb s 2,148,994 8.6% 1,969,987 9.1%
Pan Bohai Rim Beijing
1% 2,725,862 10.9% 2,503,872 11.5%
Shenyang
HE 622,240 2.5% 522,682 2.4%
Qingdao
N 009,724 2.7% 324,146 1.5%
Dalian
INGE 6,166,821 24.6% 5,320,687 24.5%
Subtotal
VL = A b [ i 983,956 3.9% 812,714 3.7%
Yangtze River Delta Shanghai
i3} 1,036,204 4.1% 946,054 4.4%
Wuxi
i 2,043,930 8.2% 1,844,584 8.5%
Changzhou
i 591,214 2.4% 591,214 2.7%
Hangzhou
g 4,655,304 18.6% 4,194,566 19.3%
Subtotal
R G [ HE 8,496,715 33.9% 7,195,174 33.1%
Western China Chongging
JRHD 3,089,763 14.7% 3,185,975 14.7%
Chengdu
W% 2,030,595 8.1% 1,823,318 8.4%
Xi'an
INGE 14,217,073 56.8% 12,204,468 56.2%
Subtotal
st 25,039,197 100.0% 21,719,721 100.0%
Total
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ZERFNAE > AEEBOEBE T ,0438 In 2009, the Group purchased 10.43 million square meters of land
RN s Hop25.99% 0 i B i i b I in GFA terms. Of which, 25.9% was in Pan Bohai Rim, 32.1% was
3219% 00 R RIL = AN IR 5 87T 42.0% 07 i in Yangtze River Delta and the remaining 42.0% was in Western
o P A [ o P A B B T R AN R China. The average acquisition unit cost was RMB1,869 per square
1,8697C o 7 i i 6 5 i e % 3R Vg o R % IR meter. By means of expanding our footprint around the secondary
VL= A [ Y — BT A4 L i cities in the Pan Bohai Rim and Yangtze River Delta, the Group

Jie 1A R B BEKCF- o was able to control land acquisition costs at reasonable levels.
KL ZFEBIEN L AT F Table 5: Details of land acquisition in 2009
JE A 1 i

HHAM W Attributable iR A S AT
Project Name City Interest Site Area  Total GFA

% RIS Tk

Sqm Sqm

KA i3] 91.3% 188,496 270,657
Tai Ke Yuan Wuxi
RAHE I 555 91.3% 125,400 279,547
Tai Ke Yuan II Wuxi
18 I 555 91.3% 145,900 486,000
Xi Hu Lu Wuxi
HHREA M 95.6% 164,855 418,000
Qing Long Changzhou
HHREA Y M 85.1% 143,965 345,430
Qing Long 1II Changzhou
Ut N 91.3% 294,440 809,700
Hong Zhuang Changzhou
T el 100.0% 177,478 591,214
Xia Sha Hangzhou
SR B i 95.6% 62,819 146,080
Bai Yin Lu Shanghai
B BEF k| 91.3% 187,514 305,860
Chianti Riverside Beijing
"W k| 91.3% 163,016 05,447
Hou Sha Yu Beijing
Hi 1L H H % 93.5% 84,086 85,137
Hui Shan Shenyang
A H 1 B 91.3% 084,420 1,620,689
Dao Yi Shenyang
ERUALI HE 84.0% 509,300 022,240
Bai Sha He Qingdao
JEE g 1L o 93.5% 224378 1,170,392
Mo Pan Shan Chongging
KEW M Y 95.6% 588,220 1,774,955
University Town 2 Chongging
LA i #R 91.3% 184,487 901,813
Wu Kuai Shi Chengdu
iGN i HR 95.6% 448,582 538,298
Mou Ma Heaven Chengdu
st 4,377,956 10,431,460
Total
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In the first three months of 2010, the Group added another 2.93
million square meters in GFA terms to the land bank. Of which,
73.4% was in Pan Bohai Rim, 21.1% was in Yangtze River Delta
and the remaining 5.4% was in Western China. The average
acquisition cost was RMB3,578 per square meters. The relatively
higher unit cost when compared to that of 2009 reflected that the
Group successfully bought more land in the core markets of
Beijing and Shanghai where land costs have been higher.

Table 6: Land acquisition in 1Q 2010

Y A1 B 25

HHAM W Attributable g A
Project Name City Interest Site Area  Total GFA

% FIik SRS

Sgm Sqm

WAL120 WM 91.3% 384,720 470,800
Dong Jing 120 Changzhou
LR E 8 i 93.5% 371,311 610,462
Hui Shan 11 Shenyang
His YT HE B B L 95.6% 92,734 148,400
Songjiang Long Xin Lu Shanghai
o B[ 93.5% 131,897 462,929
Chang Ying Beijing
EHRIAH & 91.3% 204,787 409,574
Dao Yi II Shenyang
i Mgt HE Ji K 48.4% 608,701 669,724
Lvshun Long He Dalian
KEIHH 79 % 91.3% 24,503 159,270
Da Xing Project Xi’an
At 1,818,653 2,931,159
Total

PG AR 2215 1 6 Mol
WA B BT ) - (B S A RS
ol E TSR E M
o AR BRI P — B o

The Directors believe that the Group’s costs for land acquisition

in the last 15 months were very competitive. When these projects
gradually attain delivery phases from the second half of 2011
onwards, our Group’s gross profit margin should have room to
expand further, assuming property prices remain stable.
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Financial Position

As of December 31, 2009, the Group had consolidated borrowings
of RMB9.77 billion (2008: RMB12.84 billion). Cash and bank
balances amounted to RMB7.30 billion. The net debt to equity
ratio of the Group was 20.3%.

Of the Group’s total borrowings, about 89% were denominated in
Renminbi and 11% were in HK dollars. The Group has no
currency hedging arrangement.

About RMB2.88 billion of the Group’s consolidated borrowings
were quoted in fixed rates ranging from 5.31% per annum to 6.7%
per annum depending on the tenors of the loans. The rest of the
borrowings were quoted in floating rates. As of the balance sheet
date, the Group’s average cost of borrowing was 5.65% per
annum.

A subsidiary of the Company in China issued a seven-year RMB1.4
billion enterprise bond in May last year at the fixed coupon rate
of 6.7% per annum for the first five years. The Company may
elect to upward adjust the coupon rate by 100 basis points on a
one-off basis at the end of the fifth year. The bond was part of
Company’s effort to lengthen the debt maturity profile, which the
Directors believe it is an important way to lower the Group’s
financial risks, together with the control of gearing. As of the end
of last year, the average tenor of the Group’s consolidated
borrowings was 2.5 years, up from 1.58 years a year before.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Employee and Compensation Policy

As of December 31, 2009, the Group employed 4,671 full time
employees in China and Hong Kong. Of them, 984 belonged to
the property development division, 66 to the property investment
division and 3,621 to the property management division. The
average age of our workforce is 31 years old and 62.3% of them
are male. About 77.2% of the staff of the property development
and property investment divisions have university degrees and
about 14.8% have masters degree or above.

The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, work experience and the prevailing market wage
level. The total compensation of the employees consisted of base
salary, cash bonus and share-based rewards. Cash bonus is a large
part of senior employees’ cash compensation which is a function
of, amongst other things, the net profit of the individual
subsidiaries, the return on invested capital, results of a balanced
score card system and operating cash inflow, etc. On top of two
pre-IPO share award schemes and a pre-IPO share option scheme,
the Company granted a batch of new options to certain Directors
and senior employees in December 2009 under the post-IPO share
option scheme with exercise price set at HK$8.44 per share. On a
fully diluted basis, the share award and share option schemes
account for 2.74% of the total enlarged share capital of the
Company. Around 550 employees of the Group own incentive
shares or share options.
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Prospects

The contract sales target of the Group for 2010 is RMB24.8 billion,
representing an increase of 35% year-on-year. The Directors have
full confidence to achieve the sales target because the Group will
be selling properties in 10 cities in China this year, doubling the
number of cities in 2009. Starting from 2Q 2010, the Group will
launch its first project in Wuxi City, to be followed by new
projects in Changzhou, Qingdao and Shenyang in 3Q 2010.
Finally, Hangzhou will start selling in 4Q. The number of saleable
projects throughout the year will increase from 17 in 1Q 2010 to
35 by the end of the year. Consequently, the Directors expect
sales momentum to go stronger and stronger as we go deeper into
the year.

During the first three months this year, the Group had recorded
contract sales of RMB4.52 billion, up 78.6% year-on-year. ASP
achieved was RMB13,822 per square meter in GFA terms, which
compared to the ASP of RMB9,742 per square meter for the 2009
contract sales.

The Group plans to complete 2.28 million square meters of
properties in GFA terms (including jointly controlled entities) in
2010, up 56.7% year-on-year. Of which, 301,069 square meters
will be completed in 1H10 and the balance of 1,981,351 square
meters will be in 2H10. By the end of March this year, the Group
has sold approximately 77% of the GFA to be completed in 2010.

FERUE

Chunsen Land
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In the longer term, the estimated completion pipeline of the
Group is as follows (such completion schedule may change from
time to time):

Kt ZF-FEFZF-ZFWELFHE  Table 7. Completion pipeline 2010-2012

b [ o —E-FE ZEFof DEF -
Region City 2010 2011 2012
RS RS RS
Sqm Sgm Sgm
B it 3 I Bl 727,695 328,390 277,923
Pan Bohai Rim Beijing
7] — 144,583 303,195
Shenyang
HE — 130,000 256,000
Qingdao
N — — 89,900
Dalian
RIL=AH b E L 199,463 167,452 312,478
Yangtze River Delta Shanghai
55 — 273,475 308,501
Wuxi
M — 90,000 733,860
Changzhou
LIl — 75,500 17,500
Hangzhou
o I 7 M [ Y- 822,374 842,796 1,090,750
Western China Chongging
AR 532,888 571,022 714,893
Chengdu
7% — 212,328 635,768
Xi'an
At 2,282,420 2,835,545 4,740,769
Total
Al L 24k (%) 56.7% 24.2% 67.2%

YoY change (%)
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Thanks to the competitive costs of our land bank and expenses
control efforts, the Directors believe that net profit margin of the
Group will continue to expand between 2010 and 2012.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, I would like to express my sincere
appreciation to all of our employees for their hard work and all of
our shareholders for their support in the past challenging but yet
rewarding year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board proposed the payment of a finial dividend of
RMBO0.063 per share for the year ended December 31, 2009 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on 26 May, 2010. The proposed final dividend will
be paid on or about 15 June 2010 after approval by shareholders
of the Company at the forthcoming 2010 annual general meeting
of the Company (the “AGM”).
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Executive Directors

Madam Wu Yajun, aged 45, Madam Wu was appointed as
executive director of the Company on December 21, 2007, and is
the Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Madam
Wu joined the Group since its inception in 1994. Madam Wu
graduated from the Department of Navigation Engineering of the
Northwestern Polytechnical University in 1984. Madam Wu serves
as a member of the National Peoples’ Congress, Vice-Chairperson
of the Federation of Industry & Commerce of Chongqing
Municipality and Vice-Chairperson of the Real Estate Branch
Chamber of the Chongqing General Chamber of Commerce.
Madam Wu has extensive experience in property development,
property investment and property management.

Mr. Lin Chu Chang, aged 40, Mr. Lin was appointed as executive
director of the Company on January 15, 2008, and is the Chief
Financial Officer of the Group. Mr. Lin joined the Group in July
2006. Mr. Lin graduated from The University of Hong Kong in
1991 with a Bachelor of Science degree. Mr. Lin has worked for
the research department of Merrill Lynch (Asia-Pacific Region).
Prior to joining the Group, he was the Chief Financial Officer of
China Resources Land Limited, a company listd on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong.

Mr. Fang Shengtao, aged 36, Mr. Fang was appointed as executive
director and Chairman of Remuneration Committee of the
Company on January 15, 2008, and is the Chief Human Resources
Officer of the Group. Mr. Fang joined the Group in August 2005.
Mr. Fang graduated from the Department of Mechanical
Engineering of Tsinghua University in 1995 with a Bachelor’s
degree in Engineering and obtained a Master of Business
Administration degree from INSEAD in 2002. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Fang worked for Procter & Gamble (Guangzhou) Ltd
and co-founded the Shanghai Tuosheng Associates, a human
resources consulting company.
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Mr. Chen Kai, aged 40, Mr. Chen was appointed as executive
director of the Company on September 8, 2009, and is the General
Manager of the Operation and Business Development Department
of the Group. Mr. Chen joined the Group in March 2008. Mr. Chen
graduated from the Zhejiang University with a Master’s degree in
Engineering in 1995. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked
for the China Resources Group and served as the executive
director and assistant general manager of China Resources Land
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

Mr. Qin Lihong, aged 36, Mr. Qin was appointed as executive
director of the Company on September 8, 2009, and is the General
Manager of the Group’s Customer and Corporate Branding
Department. Mr. Qin joined the Group in March 2008. Mr. Qin
graduated from the School of International Studies of Peking
University in 1999 with a Master degree in Law. He obtained a
Master’s degree in Public Policy (MPP) from John Fitzgerald
Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University in 2001. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Qin worked in the Marketing
Department of Procter & Gamble (Guangzhou) Limited, Roland
Berger Strategy Consultants and Anhui Chery Automobile Sales
and Service Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Frederick Peter Churchouse, aged 60, Mr. Churchouse was
appointed as independent non-executive director and member of
the Audit Committee of the Company on November 1, 2009. Since
2005, he has been a director of LIM Advisers Limited and the
senior portfolio manager for the LIM Asia Alternative Real Estate
Fund. Prior to joining LIM Advisers Limited, Mr. Churchouse was
with the research department of Morgan Stanley for over 15 years
where he acted in a variety of roles including executive director,
managing director and advisory director. Mr. Churchouse earned a
Bachelor of Arts degree, and a Master of Social Science degree
from the University of Waikato in New Zealand.

Mr. CHAN Chi On, Derek, aged 46, Mr. Chan was appointed as
Chairman of the Audit
Committee and the member of the Remuneration Committee of

independent non-executive director,

the Company on November 1, 2009. Mr. Chan is a Group
Executive Director of Taifook Securities Group Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and is also
currently the Managing Director of Taifook Capital Limited, in
charge of its corporate finance division. Mr. Chan graduated from
the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor degree in Social
Sciences (majoring in Economics) in 1985 and from the Hong
Kong University of Science & Technology with a Master degree in
Business Administration in 1994. Between 1989 and 1996, he
worked for The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is an
REIT Asset

Management Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange of

independent non-executive director of GZI

Hong Kong and is also an adjunct professor in the School of
Accounting and Finance of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
He was an independent non-executive director of GST Holdings
Limited, which was delisted on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
Mr. Chan possesses over 20 years of experience in the financial
services industry.

Dr. Xiang Bing, aged 47, Dr.
independent non-executive director,

Xiang was appointed as
member of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company on
November 1,2009. He obtained a Doctoral degree in accounting
from the University of Alberta in Canada. He has over 11 years of
teaching experience in the academic field. Dr. Xiang is currently
the founding dean and professor of the Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business.
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Dr Xiang is an independent non-executive director of Dan Form
Holdings Company Limited, HC International, Inc., Enerchina
Holdings Limited, Sinolink Worldwide Holdings Limited, China
Dongxiang (Group) Co., Ltd , Little Sheep Group Limited and
Peak Sport Products Co., Limited. All of the above mentioned
companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Dr. Xiang is an independent non-executive director LDK Solar
Co., Ltd. Perfect World Co., Ltd., E-House (China) Holdings
Limited. All of the above mentioned companies are listed in the
u.s.

Dr. Xiang is an independent non-executive director of Yunnan
Baiyao Group Co., Ltd, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

In the past 3 years, Dr. Xiang was an independent director of
Shaanxi Qinchuan Machinery Development Co., Ltd., Guangdong
Midea Electric Appliances Co., Ltd., TCL Corporation., Shenzhen
Terca Technology Co., Ltd.. All of these companies are listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Dr Xiang also was an independent
non-executive director of Jutal offshore Oil Services Limited, a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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Senior Management

Ms. Fan Qi, aged 42, is the General Manager in charge of our
Chengdu business operations. Ms. Fan joined the Group in August
1997. Ms. Fan graduated from the Department of Management
Engineering of the Sichuan Institute of Light Industry and
Chemical Technology in 1988. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Fan
had worked for the Chongqing City Jiangbei District Shimen Tax
Office. Ms. Fan has held various positions since joining the
Group, and became the General Manager of Chengdu Longhu
Jinhua in September 2005.

Mr. Zhao Nannan, aged 33, is the General Manager in charge of
our Shanghai and Xi’an business operations. Mr. Zhao joined the
Group in June 2001. Mr. Zhao graduated from Chongging Jianzhu
University in 1999 majoring in Management Engineering. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Zhao worked for Chongqing Residential
Construction Limited. Mr. Zhao has taken various positions since
joining the Group, and he is currently the General Manager of
Shanghai Longhu Properties and Xian Longhu Properties.

Mr. Shao Mingxiao, aged 43, is the General Manager in charge of
our Beijing business operations. Mr. Shao joined the Group in
March 2006. Mr. Shao graduated from Renmin University of China
with a Master of Economics degree in 1992. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Shao worked for Hangyu Economic Development
Company, a subsidiary of the Beijing Capital Group, Beijing
Xinlian Xiechuang Real Estate Development Limited, Beijing
Zhongjing Yiyuan Real Estate Development Limited and Beijing
Hualian Group.

Mr. Zhou Dekang, aged 42, is the General Manager in charge of
our Chongqing business operations. Mr. Zhou joined the Group in
July 2005. Mr. Zhou graduated from the Architecture Institute of
Chongqing Jianzhu University and obtained a bachelor’s degree
majoring in Architecture in 1989. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Zhou worked for the construction division of the Chongqing City
Planning and Design Research Institute and Chengdu Bo Rui Real
Estate Development Limited.
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Mr. Li Jun, aged 37, is the General Manager in charge of our
Shenyang business operations. Mr. Li joined the Group in June
2006. Mr. Li graduated from Beijing University of Technology with
a bachelor’s degree in Engineering in 1996 majoring in civil
engineering. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li worked for Beijing
Beichen Innovation Hi-tech Development Limited, Markgold
International Housing Land Consulting (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and
Beichen Property Development Company.

Mr. Feng Jinyi, aged 38, is the General Manager in change of our
Wuxi and Changzhou business operations. Mr. Feng joined the
Group in June 2008. Mr. Feng graduated from Changsha
Communication College (currently known as Changsha University
of Science & Technology) in 1994 with a bachelor’s degree in
engineering. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Feng worked in No. 3
Aviation Engineering Design Institute Co., Ltd., Shanghai Kanggqiao
Bandao (Group) Co., Ltd. and Zhejiang Jubao Real Estate Co., Ltd..
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Report of the Directors

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) are pleased to present the
annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the property development, property
investment and property management businesses in China.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating results for the
year by principal activities is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income of the Group on pages 65.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommend a final dividend of RMB0.063 per ordinary
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2009 to
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on 26 May 2010.

The proposed final dividend shall be declared in RMB and paid in
Hong Kong dollars. The final dividend payable in Hong Kong
dollars will be converted from RMB at the average middle rate of
RMB to Hong Kong dollars as announced by the People’s Bank of
China for the period from 20 May 2010 to 26 May 2010.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from 20 May 2010 to 26
May 2010, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
Shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend and to determine the identity of the Shareholders
who are entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, all duly completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 19 May 2010 (Wednesday).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year
is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

As at 31 December 2009, the distributable reserve of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB9,169.289 million.

DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately RMB7.89million (2008: approximately RMB7.11
million).
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Report of the Directors

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group is set out on page 211 of this
annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2009, revenue attributable to the
largest customer of the Group amounted to approximately 0.16%
of the total revenue in the year and the five largest customers of
the Group accounted for less than 1% of the Group’s revenue in
the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, purchases attributable to
the largest supplier of the Group amounted to approximately
5.42% of the total purchases in the year and the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for less than 17% of the Group’s
purchases in the year.

So far as the Board of the Company is aware, neither the
Directors, their associates nor any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had any interest in these major
customers and suppliers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Madam Wu Yajun (Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lin Chu Chang

Mr. Fang Shengtao

Mr. Chen Kai (appointed on 8 September 2009)

Mr. Qin Lihong (appointed on 8 September 2009)

Mr. Cai Kui (resigned on 8 September 2009)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Frederick Peter Churchouse
(appointed on 1 November 2009)
Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek
(appointed on 1 November 2009)
Dr. Xiang Bing
(appointed on 1 November 2009)

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company,
Madam Wu Yajun, Mr. Lin Chu Chang, Mr. Fang Shengtao, Mr.
Chen Kai, Mr. Qin Lihong, Mr. Frederick Peter Churchouse, Mr.
Chan Chi On, Derek and Dr. Xiang Bing shall retire from office
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Each of the executive directors of the Company has entered into a
service contract with the Company taking effect from 1 November
2009 for a period of three years. None of the directors of the
Company proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the directors and those of the five
highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2009 are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, its fellow
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2009, none of the directors of the Company
are considered to be in businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or subsisted during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, at no time during the year were there any rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, nor were
there any such rights exercised by them. Also, there was no
arrangement to which the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries is a party that would
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKINGS BY THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS AND THE DIRECTORS

The Company has entered into the non-competition deed dated 1
November 2009 with the controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely Charm Talent International Limited (“Charm
Talent”), Junson Development International Limited (previously
known as Precious Full International Limited) (“Junson
Development”), Silver Sea Assets Limited (“Silver Sea”), Silverland
Assets Limited (“Silverland”), Madam Wu Yajun (“Madam Wu”) and
Mr. Cai Kui (“Mr. Cai”) pursuant to which Madam Wu, Charm
Talent and Silver Sea have jointly and severally undertaken, and
Mr. Cai, Junson Development and Silverland have jointly and
severally undertaken, not to compete with the Group. Each of
Madam Wu, Mr. Cai, Charm Talent, Junson Development, Silver
Sea and Silverland has also undertaken with the Company to
procure that any investment or commercial opportunity relating to
any property business or investment or management in the
People’s Republic of China that they or any of their respective
affiliates identify or propose or that is offered or presented to
them by a third party, be first referred to the Company in
accordance with the terms of the non-competition deed.

In March 2010, the Company has received an annual declaration
from each of the controlling shareholders of the Company and the
Directors in respect of their respective compliance with the non-
competition undertakings since the date of the listing of the
shares of the Company on 19 November 2009 (the “Listing Date”).
The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the said
undertakings and are of the view that each of the controlling
shareholders of the Company and the Directors has complied with
their respective non-competition undertakings during the period
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2009.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2009, certain directors and
their close family members, and companies controlled by certain
Directors and/or their close family members entered into
transactions with the Group which are disclosed in note 39
“Related party transactions” to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Save that certain sales of properties to key management and
shareholders constituted de minimis connected transactions of the
Company which were exempt from the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Chapter 14A of Listing Rules, the other related party transactions
which were carried out by the Group during the period from the
Listing Date up to 31 December 2009, did not fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected
transaction” (as the case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has two share option schemes namely, the Pre-IPO
Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Option Scheme which were
adopted on 30 November 2007 and 1 November 2009 respectively.

The total number of shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
available for issue under the share option schemes as at 31
December 2009 was 48,540,000 Shares which represented
approximately 0.94% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2009.
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(a) Pre-IPO Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Option Scheme to
recognise the contribution of certain of its senior management
personnel and to retain such senior management personnel.

On 30 November 2007, the Company granted options to
subscribe for a total of 37,940,000 Shares under the Pre-IPO
Option Scheme to Mr. Lin Chu Chang and Mr. Fang Shengtao,
the directors and four other employees of the Company,
under which Mr. Lin Chu Chang was entitled to subscribe for
10,000,000 Shares and Mr. Fang Shengtao was entitled to
subscribe for 5,588,000 Shares. These options were
subsequently transferred to Long Faith Management Limited
(“Long Faith”) subject to the terms of the Long Faith Trust.
The Long Faith Trust is a discretionary trust of which HSBC
(HK) Trustee Limited acts as the trustee and these original
grantees of the Pre-IPO Options are the discretionary objects
under the trust.

The Pre-IPO Options have been vested and will vest in equal
portion on January 1, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012 and will only
become exercisable for a period from the respective vesting
dates and ending on November 30, 2017. No further options
can be offered under the Pre-IPO Option Scheme.

The subscription price payable upon the exercise of any Pre-
IPO Options is fixed at HK$2.94 per Share.

The terms of the Pre-IPO Option Scheme are similar to those
of the Post-IPO Option Scheme (see below) except in respect
of the following:

e there is no provision limiting the maximum number of
options that might be granted to any individual grantee
under the Pre-IPO Option Scheme;

e the provisions on the granting of options to connected
persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) were not
included,

e the Pre-IPO Option Scheme does not contain provisions
relating to the “refreshing” of the 10% limit or the seeking
of separate approval for granting options beyond the 10%
limit as anticipated in Note 1 of Rule 17.03(3) of the
Listing Rules, or the restrictions on the number of Shares
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issued or to be issued under options in any 12 month
period to any participant of the Pre-IPO Option Scheme
not exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue as anticipated in
the note to Rule 17.03(4) of the Listing Rules.

No option can be granted after Listing Date. No option
was exercised, lapsed or cancelled during the year.

(b) Post-IPO Option Scheme

On 23 December 2009, the Company granted options to
subscribe for a total of 10,600,000 Shares under the Post-IPO
Option Scheme to five directors and one employee of the
Company, with the following details:

(1) DIRECTORS

Ve i 1 B H

Number of share Option
“RRIE
7 1 AT +ZA=Z+—H
(W) T AR 190 TR 452 W A A7 B
£ it A Exercise Grant during Outstanding
Date of Grant Price (HKS) the preriod at 31 Dec 2009
23 December 2009 8.44 6,000,000 6,000,000
23 December 2009 8.44 3,000,000 3,000,000
23 December 2009 8.44 200,000 200,000
23 December 2009 8.44 200,000 200,000
23 December 2009 8.44 200,000 200,000
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Note:

The closing price of the shares on the date on which the options were
granted was HK$8.34.

No options were lapsed, exercised or cancelled during the year.

The options are exercisable in 4 tranchs of 25% each, from 23rd
December 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013 to 22nd December 2019.

A summary of the principal terms of the Post-IPO Option

Scheme is set out as follow:

@)

(ii)

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the Participants
(defined in paragraph (ii) below) who have been granted
Options under the Scheme to subscribe for Shares with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company and to encourage Participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and the Shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

Who may join

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at their
discretion, invite any directors (including executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors) and employees of any member of the
Group and any advisers, consultants, distributors,
contractors, contract manufacturers, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, service providers of any member of the Group
who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group (the
“Participants”) to participate in the Scheme.
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(ii1) Total number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Initially the maximum number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all Options to be granted under
the Scheme or any other option schemes adopted by the
Company shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate of the
Shares in issue on the date of which trading of the Shares
commences on the Stock Exchange and any Shares which
may be allotted and issued by the Company under the
over-allotment option.

The total number of Shares available for issue upon
exercise of the Options which may be granted pursuant to
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue
from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the Options granted and to be granted
pursuant to the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company to each Participant in any 12-
month period up to and including the date of grant of the
Options shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares

in issue.

Time of exercise of the Options

The period within which the Options must be exercised
will be specified by the Company at the time of grant.
This period must expire no later than 10 years from the
relevant date of grant.

Payment on acceptance of Option offer

HK$1.00 is payable by the Participant to the Company on
acceptance of the Option offered as consideration for the
grant.
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(vii) Basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price per Share under the Scheme is a
price determined by the Board and notified to each
Participant and shall be no less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange for the five Stock Exchange business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

(viii)Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme will remain valid until 31 October 2019 after
which no further Options will be granted but in respect of
all Options which remain exercisable on such date, the
provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect.

PRE-IPO SHARE AWARD SCHEMES

The Company adopted two Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes on 30
November 2007 and 31 July 2009 respectively. Their principal
terms are substantially the same and are summarized below.

(i) Objective
The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes to
recognise the contribution of certain of its employees,
especially those whom the Company considered had
contributed to the early development and growth of the
Group, and to align their interests with those of the
shareholders of the Company.



(i) BT

By BOAT 1 WK B 5 5 i M S D & )
B ZFENEAN A+ — HROLFit All
Trust > 550% 1€ B 5 Z @ A o MR &
ZELET— A=+ IR E RSB
B IR fr 5% B EE# - A A A Fie All
Investments Limited ([Fit All] » & &%
AN H A — B e 55 8 A T o B S s A
WAL B FFE B A R B Fit All Trust
3£ AHSBC (HK) Trustee”® & B f) % 17
£ 464,014,000/ K o REER Z LN
FLH =1 — BB R B
J 17 22 ) 51 #) > Charm Talent X Junson
Development[i] Fit  All# 3 4 Jt
30,000,000 & i o £ 4L 1 94,014,000
et (148 B ) 4527 A L B4 2L 5504
BE (HEERE]D -

(i) 5% Jh M 4 o it oG Ak 12

188 5 MR B % 1) B 0 46 17 I e 4 D M
Oy BT > A A o s A D S £
Al e

METE o bR NS B AE
] 188 5 A8 B 5% 1 8 M L 53 5 I R B
J& FAY R A AF FDAK (] £ R R

RO T T L AR E o P A A B E (R
B E AR R SR - FEIE—H—
H o MRSE =% FFRHE - A M
BERANHEMERA YL % %4
tH—H-

A B B i 8 E I BBE S S AT B B
Wi 2 £ HE R D BE R o B AR B MR
e

O

Report of the Directors

(ii) Implementation

For the implementation of the Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes,
the Fit All Trust was established on June 11, 2008 for the
benefit of 550 employees of the Group. Pursuant to the Pre-
IPO Share Award Scheme adopted on 30 November 2007, the
Company issued a total of 64,014,000 Shares to Fit All
Investments Limited (“Fit All”), a special purpose vehicle
incorporated in the BVI and wholly owned by HSBC (HK)
Trustee acting as the trustee of the Fit All Trust, on June 11,
2008. Pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme adopted
on 31 July 2009, Charm Talent and Junson Development
transferred to Fit All a total of 30,000,000 Shares. A total of
94,014,000 Shares (the “Awarded Shares”) were granted to a
total of 550 employees of the Group (the “Selected
Employees”).

(iii) Vesting of the Awarded Shares

The Selected Employees are not entitled to exercise or enjoy
the rights to the Awarded Shares pending the vesting of the
Awarded Shares in accordance with the applicable vesting
period.

In general, vesting period is either four or five years during
which the Awarded Shares granted to any particular Selected
Employee will vest on each anniversary of the first vesting
date in equal portions.

The first vesting date for all the relevant Selected Employees
under the scheme of 2007 is 1 January 2009, and the first
vesting date for all the relevant Selected Employees under the
scheme of 2009 is 1 July 2010.

Prior to vesting, the Selected Employees are not entitled to
the rights to and interests in the Awarded Shares, including
voting and distribution rights.
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i 2% Bt 5% DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
4 $ )3 Eo ﬁ‘ L& A BZ @ i Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests

ACEENEF =1 —H > REF LA As at 31 December 2009, the interests of the Directors and chief
Ov ) ERATHON B A B SCH AT ] A B i executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
M OE 78 7w 20 2O B R ) ([ 25 2o B Mk debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
1) S5 XVHER) B A AR 55 5% 25 T 6 ke 4] 4 (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
352M5 L2 ZE A AT B B RO R B R R Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register which were
TR AT O S AT R R 20 5 1R SF A required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
([EE ey [ ]) ZH 0 & AN Al 28 2 i notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
3~ AR BB P R 2 AR A Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

(i) FrkeARARIHESR (B ) (i) Interest in the Company (long position)
il A A2 T M 4
B4 2 M 2 WEAH A I
LLVR F i3 HERHA Interestin  Approximate %
HHUEAH Capacity/Nature Number of underlying of interest
Name of director of interest ordinary shares shares  in the Company
EH HEFTEAIMN (7t 2,343,591,600 — 45.51%
Wu Yajun Founder of a discretionary
trust (Note 1)
RIS (Hf7E2) 1,502,394,400 — 30.34%

Family interest (Note 2)

st B BErt% &N (Hit3) 2,800,000 — 0.05%
Lin Chu Chang Beneficiary of a trust (Note 3)
G %N (Hat4) — 37,940,000 0.74%

Beneficiary of a trust (Note 4)

7 7% Wi Rtz @A (Hit3) 4,512,000 — 0.09%
Fang Shengtao Beneficiary of a trust (Note 3)
Rt (Hite) — 37,940,000 0.74%

Beneficiary of a trust (Note 4)

e Ham A (s — 6,000,000 0.12%
Chen Kai Beneficial owner (Note 5)
fastzm A (W73 3,400,000 — 0.07%

Beneficiary of a trust (Note 3)
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JA B A A R AR
[t 2 RE 15 WAH >
B/ W W i W H Interect in ~ Approximate %
HHES Capacity/Nature Number of underlying of interest
Name of director of interest ordinary shares shares in the Company
R HEaa A (Hats) — 3,000,000 0.06%
Qin Lihong Beneficial owner (Note 5)
ErtZ @A (Hi3) 3,400,000 — 0.07%
Beneficiary of a trust (Note 3)
Frederick Peter HREA A (Hats) — 200,000 0.004%
Churchouse Beneficial owner (Note 5)
BE A A A (s — 200,000 0.004%
Chan Chi On, Derek Beneficial owner (Note 5)
P B AN (HELs) — 200,000 0.004%
Xiang Bing Beneficial owner (Note 5)
BEGEL 3% %5 6y 1 Charm Talentlh Bt £ 4 A Note 1: These Shares are held by Charm Talent as registered holder. The

15 54 o Charm Talent? ¥ E B 17
& A th Silver Sea: & # 4 > T Silver
Sea # O ¥ 17 Mt A J| i HSBC
International Trustee Limited ([ HSBC
International Trustee) ) P % [X % ik {5 5t
W2 AR REHR - S REERE T
R ZER/NEAA+—HB\ R L L
By sr N % N St HSBC International
Trusteeff 2 % 56 A #k 5L 19— JH 2 HE (5
i RREARGEIMZ R HEBRERAL
T F X% B X Fit All Investments
Limited ([Fit Alll) o AR 4558 % 2O £
BISEXVER » 5% L 1A Jy S5 R IR AR ST Al
e AE A B Charm Talent$§ A 1)
2,343,591,600/% & 0 ) HE 7 -

entire issued share capital of Charm Talent is wholly owned by Silver
Sea, the entire issued share capital of which is in turn wholly-owned
by HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC International Trustee”)
as the trustee of the Wu Family Trust. The Wu Family Trust is a
discretionary trust set up by Madam Wu as settlor and protector and
HSBC International Trustee as trustee on 11 June 2008. The
beneficiary objects of the Wu Family Trust include certain family
members of Madam Wu and Fit All Investments Limited (“Fit All”).
Madam Wu as founder of the Wu Family Trust is taken to be
interested in the 2,343,591,600 Shares held by Charm Talent pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.
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% % & 17 B Junson DevelopmentP) % 7t
A N & B % A o Junson
Development® # € # 17 &t A&
Silverland % & # A+ i Silverland % &
o % fr M A& W i HSBC
International Trustee A %% [T K ik {7 #€ 1
ZREN S REWA - SHIRE AR
A EFENEANA+— BB EEAEL
&7 N KB4 N X HSBC International
Trusteeff: 5 % 56 N &L ) — TH 2 REf5
it BIRFIRGFEM Z i B R a5k
HE 5 T AR LR K Fit Al o ARIE A8 5 X
WMEGOIHXVE o S LER A
119 T 5 150 4 4 47 1 Junson Development
FEA 11,562,394,400 8 i 0 (9 HE 45 o

%% BB I Fie ANRME ST S0
H o Fit ALY 23 C 8 17 It 4 1 HSBC
Trustee (HK) Limited ([ HSBC (HK)
Trustee]) PAFit All TrustZ i€ A1 & 4y
AEHA o Fit All Trustft — & % /U4F
7~ A+ — H LIHSBC (HK) TrusteefE %
% 56 NESE © Fit All Trustf 57 %6 ¥ &
5504 M % 2 BUR A AR I E W
[ 8 5 i (3 56 B R A 4 L0 B o

37,940,0000 4% A A Al —FE L4
= H R R A B R
JBOHERR ) 0 R 2 R i B P B o
Long Faith/R {% Long Faith Trustff) & 3k
F# 47 o Long Faith Trust& — JH 2 # {5
5t > %5 A B HSBC (HK) Trustee >
MAMEREH P —Z2HETHE -

R B AR 4 U B R R IR BT
) 052 T R R I Y RO o

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

These Shares are held by Junson Development as registered holder.
The entire issued share capital of Junson Development is wholly
owned by Silverland, the entire issued share capital of which is in
turn wholly-owned by HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of
the Cai Family Trust. The Cai Family Trust is a discretionary trust set
up by Mr. Cai as settlor and protector and HSBC International Trustee
as trustee on 11 June 2008. The beneficiary objects of the Cai Family
Trust include certain family members of Mr. Cai and Fit All. Madam
Wu as the spouse of Mr. Cai is taken to be interested in the
1,562,394,400 Shares held by Junson Development pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO.

Such number of Shares are held on trust by Fit All. The entire issued
share capital of Fit All is wholly-owned by HSBC Trustee (HK)
Limited (“HSBC (HK) Trustee”) as the trustee of the Fit All Trust. The
Fit All Trust was set up on 11 June 2008 with HSBC (HK) Trustee
acting as the trustee thereof. The beneficiary objects of the Fit All
Trust are 550 selected employees of the Group as participants of the

Pre-IPO Share Award Schemes adopted by the Company.

37,940,000 pre-IPO options granted pursuant to a Pre-IPO Option
Scheme adopted by the Company on 30 November 2007 are currently
held by Long Faith subject to the terms of the Long Faith Trust. The
Long Faith Trust is a discretionary trust of which HSBC (HK) Trustee
is the trustee and the relevant director is one of the discretionary

objects.

The relevant director was granted options to subscribe for such

number of shares under the Post-IPO Option Scheme.
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(ii) Interest in an associated corporation of the Company (long

position)
A0 s
BATR
Approximate %
MR 2 B S/ HatE g L of interest
EHIA Name of the associated Capacity/Nature Number of class in the associated
Name of Director corporation of interest of securities corporation
REE ERENCEARARL T ggctiytl g 20,010,000/ % f 8.7%
Wu Yajun Chongging Longhu Development Co., [td.  Interest of controlled 20,010,000 shares

BrESCH g &40 RZFFNE+ A=
T B S AN A EEATE B
AR ) BSCHCAR: o] AP B 2 I A AR A 2
BRI 352 W 2 R AR o R A7 B 1 8w
TRRERE o SRR B T S ) 2R A O ) O
ST 2 Bty ~ A B A o MR A MR A R
B EELPE LR EAR I8 T M
A0 5 HE ) AN 2 ) LA AR 3 B Y
e A FF o 8 R AT BEAE AT % S A o

corporation

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the shares of the
Company, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
which were required to be kept by the Company under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code. None of Directors or
their spouse or children under the age of 18, had been granted
any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations, or had exercised
any such right.
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WoEERAEFZHZ+—H > BAAAE
Fok EETHA B2 AN LA A K
A I 03 A AR R 2 I M 1585 3361k It
A E 2 B R A R I (L4
A AT BRI A) T H 5%E Lh b2 fE 45
o

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2009, the interests of persons, other than the
directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares and the
underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or more of the
nominal value of shares comprised in the relevant share capital of
the Company as recorded in the register kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Interest in the Company (long position)

N \ al AJ 25 BYN
A2 E ) RERS (38 AR AT
B4 E 4 b
4y HE 25 1 LEBHE Approximate %
B 5 4k 4 Capacity/Nature Number of of interest
Name of shareholder of interest ordinary shares in the Company
BHZE KGR (7t 2,343,591,600 45.51%
Cai Kui Family interest (Note 1)
2 RERE SLRIHEN (K aE2) 1,562,394,400 30.34%
Founder of a discretionary
trust (Note 2)
HSBC International Trustee Limited b A (Mf#L1%2) 3,905,986,000 75.85%
Trustee (Notes 1 and 2)
Charm Talent International Limited BRCHEA N (BFFED 2,343,591,600 45.51%
Registered owner (Note 1)
Silver Sea Assets Limited THERIEE Z RS (KD 2,343,591,600 45.51%
Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 1)
Junson Development BREA N (H2) 1,562,394,400 30.34%
International Limited Registered owner (Note 2)
(7 % Precious Full
International Limited)
(previously known as
Precious Full International Limited)
Silverland Assets Limited TP E 2 RS aE2) 1,562,394,400 30.34%

Interest of controlled

corporation (Note 2)
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Note 1: These Shares are held by Charm Talent as registered holder. The entire
issued share capital of Charm Talent is wholly owned by Silver Sea, the
entire issued share capital of which is in turn wholly-owned by HSBC
International Trustee as the trustee of the Wu Family Trust. The Wu Family
Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Madam Wu as settlor and protector
and HSBC International Trustee as trustee on 11 June 2008. The
beneficiary objects of the Wu Family Trust include certain family members
of Madam Wu and Fit All. Madam Wu as founder of the Wu Family Trust
and Mr. Cai as the spouse of Madam Wu are each taken to be interested in
the 2,343,591,600 Shares held by Charm Talent pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO.

Note 2: These Shares are held by Junson Development as registered holder. The
entire issued share capital of Junson Development is wholly owned by
Silverland, the entire issued share capital of which is in turn wholly-
owned by HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Cai Family
Trust. The Cai Family Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Cai as
settlor and protector and HSBC International Trustee as trustee on 11 June
2008. The beneficiary objects of the Cai Family Trust include certain
family members of Mr. Cai and Fit All. Madam Wu as the spouse of Mr. Cai
is taken to be interested in the 1,502,394,400 Shares held by Junson
Development pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

During the period commencing on the Listing Date to 31
December 2009, the Company had not redeemed, and neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of
the Shares of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association, or the law of Cayman Islands
being the jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated
under which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing Shareholder.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this
annual report.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 19 November
2009. The net proceeds from the Company’s issue of new shares
(after deducting the underwriting commission and listing
expenses) amounted to approximately RMB6,841.798 million. For
the year ended 31 December 2009, RMB5,795.01 million of the net
proceeds has been utilized in accordance with the proposed
applications set out in the section headed “Future plans and use
of proceeds” contained in the Prospectus.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Rules 8.08(1)(a) and (b) of the Listing Rules require there to be an
open market in the securities for which listing is sought and for a
sufficient public float of an issuer’s listed securities to be
maintained. This normally means that (i) at least 25% of the
issuer’s total issued share capital must at all times be held by the
public; and (ii) where an issuer has more than one class of
securities apart from the class of securities for which listing is
sought, the total securities of the issuer held by the public (on all
regulated market(s) including the Stock Exchange) at the time of
listing must be at least 25% of the issuer’s total issued share
capital.

However, the class of securities for which listing is sought must
not be less than 15% of the issuer’s total issued share capital, and
must have an expected market capitalization at the time of listing
of not less than HK$10,000 million.
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The Group had applied to the Stock Exchange to request the
Stock Exchange to exercise, and the Stock Exchange exercised its
discretion under Rule 8.08(1)(d) of the Listing Rules to accept a
lower public float percentage of the Company of 15% (assuming
the over-allotment option is not exercised) or such higher
percentage of the issued share capital as would be held by the
public in the event that the whole or a part of the over-allotment
option is exercised (which discretion may be exercised in respect
of issuers with an expected market capitalization at the time of
listing of over HK$10,000 million) on the basis that the Stock
Exchange was satisfied that the number of the Shares concerned
and the extent of their distribution would enable the market to
operate properly with the lower percentage, and on the condition
that the Company would make appropriate disclosure of the
lower prescribed percentage of public float in the Prospectus and
confirm sufficiency of public float in the successive annual reports
after listing. At the time of the listing of the Company on 19
November 2009, the market capitalization exceeded HK$10,000
million.

The over-allotment option was fully exercised on 24 November
2009 in respect of an aggregate of 150,000,000 shares and
accordingly the lower public float percentage of the Company
accepted by the Stock Exchange is approximately 22.33%. Based
on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Directors confirm that the Company has maintained
the amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution for the
reappointment of Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
Company’s auditor is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

For and on behalf of the Board
Longfor Properties Co. Ltd.
Chairman

Hong Kong, April 12, 2010
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INTRODUCTION

the
transparency and accountability. The Company is committed in

The Company recognizes importance of corporate
achieving a high standard of corporate governance and leading
the Group to attain better results and improve our image with
effective corporate governance procedures.

The shares of the Company commenced trading on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 19
November 2009 (the “Listing Date”). Since listing, the Company
had adopted, applied and complied with the code provisions as
set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
except on the deviations set out in the paragraph headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” below.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company have not been segregated as required by the provision
A.2.1 of the Code.

Madam Wu Yajun is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. With extensive experience in the property
development, property investment and property management
businesses, Madam Wu is responsible for the Group’s overall
The

board of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company (the “Board”)

strategic planning and the management of our business.

considers that vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer in the same person is beneficial to the business prospects
and management of the Group. The balance of power and
authority is ensured by the operation of the senior management
and the Board, which comprise experienced and high calibre
individuals. The Board currently comprises five executive
Directors (including Madam Wu) and three independent non-
and therefore has

executive Directors a fairly strong

independence element in its composition.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the guidelines
for the Directors’ dealings in the securities of the Company.
Upon specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of them
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code during the period from the Listing Date to
31 December 2009 (the “Relevant Period”) in relation to their
securities dealings, if any.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and overseeing the Group’s business, strategic decisions
and performances and comprises 8 Directors, including 5
executive Directors namely Madam Wu Yajun, Mr. Lin Chu Chang,
Mr. Fang Shengtao, Mr. Chen Kai and Mr. Qin Lihong and 3
independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Frederick Peter
Churchouse, Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek and Dr. Xiang Bing. The
management is delegated with the authority and responsibility by
the Board for the day-to-day operation and management of the
Group under the Board’s instruction. In addition, the Board has
also established various Board committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the Board committees including the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the management
committee (the “Management Committee”) and the investment
decision committee (the “Investment Decision Committee”)
(together, the “Board Committees”). All the Board Committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective
terms of reference and further details of these committees are set
out hereunder. During the Relevant Period, no board meeting was
held. But all directors of the Company approved grant of share
options to executive directors, independent non-executive
directors and employees of the Company by written resolutions.
Meanwhile, subsequent to the end of Relevant Period and up to
the date of this report, the Group’s final results for the year ended
31 December 2009 were approved by the board of directors of the
Company.

£ Annual Report 2009
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Save as Madam Wu Yajun, who is the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, there are no financial,
business, family or other material relationships among members of
the Board.

All of the independent non-executive Directors are appointed for
a term of three years commencing from 1 November 2009. None
of them holds any other offices in the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the Company except
that each of them has been granted options under the Post-IPO
Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 1 November 2009,
The
Company has received from each of the independent non-

details of which are set out in the Directors’ Report.

executive Directors a confirmation of his independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are

independent.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition
regularly to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the
Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 1
November 2009 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the
Directors and senior management and determining on behalf of
the Board specific remuneration packages and conditions of
employment for the Directors and senior management and
evaluating and making recommendations on employee benefit
arrangements. The Remuneration Committee consists of Mr. Fang
Shengtao, an executive Director, and Dr. Xiang Bing and Mr. Chan
Chi On, Derek, independent non-executive Directors and is
chaired by Mr. Fang Shengtao.

During the Relevant Period, the Remuneration Committee held
one meeting in which all members of the committee attended, to
approve grant of share options to executive directors,
independent non-executive directors and employees of the
Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 1 November
2009 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee include reviewing and supervising the
financial reporting process and internal control procedures of the
Group and nominating and monitoring external auditors. The
Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek, Mr. Frederick Peter
Churchouse, and Dr. Xiang Bing and is chaired by Mr. Chan Chi
On, Derek. In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the
chairman of the Audit Committee possesses the appropriate
professional and accounting qualifications.

As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 19
November 2009, no Audit Committee meeting was held during the
Relevant Period. However, subsequent to the end of Relevant
Period and up to the date of this report, the Group’s final results
for the year ended 31 December 2009 were reviewed by the
members of the Audit Committee before submission to the Board
for approval.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The primary duties of the Management Committee include
discussing and approving corporate policies and key management
issues of the Group in the areas of strategy, operation, finance
and human resources. The Management Committee consists of
the executive Directors and the General Managers of the regional

companies.

INVESTMENT DECISION COMMITTEE

The Investment Decision Committee reports directly to the Board
and is responsible for appraising land acquisition proposals
submitted by the regional companies and the business
development department of the headquarters as well as making
land purchase decisions. The Investment Decision Committee
consists of Madam Wu Yajun, Mr. Lin Chu Chang, Mr. Chen Kai,
Mr. Qin Lihong and the General Managers of the regional
companies.

£ Annual Report 2009
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APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

Given that the nomination committee has not been established,
the whole Board will be responsible for the selection and
approval of the new Directors. Under the articles of associations
of the Company, one third of the Directors for the time being (or
if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one third) will retire from office by rotation
provided that every Directors shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years. The Board
will consider the factors including the expertise, experience and
integrity of the candidates when selecting the new Directors.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remunerations paid or payable
to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in respect of its audit services and
are RMB3,000,000 and RMB4,767,808,

non-audit services

respectively.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing all
information and representations contained in the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2009
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and of the results and cash flow for that period. The Directors
consider that the financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with all appropriate accounting standards and
requirements and reflect amounts that are based on the best
estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment of the
Board and the management. The Directors are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the
financial statements of the Company on a going concern basis.

The statements of the auditors of the Group about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out
in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 63
of this report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The directors of the Company are responsible for the maintenance
of an effective system of internal control. The Company leverages
on the expertise offered by internal and external professionals to
develop its internal control system which includes a well-
established corporate structure and an organization with clearly
defined lines of responsibility and authority.

In addition to the annual internal control review performed by the
Internal Control department (the “Internal Control Department”) of
the Company, the Company has engaged Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants Ltd.
assessment on the effectiveness of the internal controls of the

to conduct an

Group for the IPO in 2009. Result of the assessment was positive.

The internal control are reviewed and assessed on an on-going
basis by the executive directors, and will be further reviewed and
assessed at least once each year by the board of directors..

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Objective

The management of the Company believes that effective and
proper investor relations play a vital role in creating shareholders’
value, enhancing the corporate transparency as well as
establishing market confidence. As such, the Company has
adopted a stringent internal control system to ensure true,
accurate, complete and timely disclosure of relevant information
pursuant to requirements of relevant laws and regulations in order
to ensure all shareholders equal access to information. To strive
for effective communication and transparency of the Company,
the personnel in charge have frequent contacts with the
shareholders and investors through various channels such as
internet, telephone and email. Since the listing on 19 November
2009, approximately 60 visits to the Company have been
arranged. The Company has also introduced its development
strategy and recent business development to the investors in large
investment forums. On-site visits to the projects of the Company
have been arranged for the fund managers and analysts from
Hong Kong and overseas. The Company endeavours to create
opportunities for investment and communication and to provide
the latest development of the Company as well as information of
the PRC real property industry to the market in time. As such,
investors’ understanding of and confidence in the Company can
be enhanced.

£ Annual Report 2009
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Information Disclosure

The Company discloses information in compliance with the
securities regulations of the Stock Exchange, and publishes
periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations. Our primary focus is to
ensure information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and
complete, thereby enabling shareholders, investors as well as the
public, to make rational and informed decisions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF LONGFOR PROPERTIES CO. LTD.
HE 8 3 7 A PR 2
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Longfor
Properties Co. Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 65 to
210, which comprise the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2009, and its consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial

statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal controls relevant to the Group’s
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors of the Company, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at December
31, 2009 and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

April 12, 2010
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

i3 “RENE ZERE N
NOTES 2009 2008
AR¥FT AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
A Revenue 5 11,373,962 4,475,199
B B A Cost of sales (8,042,326) (3,321,192)
E A Gross profit 3,331,636 1,154,007
HoAth g A Other income 6 424,711 132,068
REVWENTHED Change in fair value of
investment properties 920,945 125,100
B N T 35 1 B B S Selling and marketing expenses (314,119) (323,910)
T BB 32 Administrative expenses (410,632) (408,286)
& A Finance costs 7 (27,499) (61,525)
g3 M 3 [ 2 o B S AR Share of results of jointly
controlled entities 135,998 63,225
ot T ¥ Profit before taxation 4,061,040 680,679
iy 15 i B 32 Income tax expense 8 (1,568,581) (281,198)
A BE i M) B A T 4 T WA B Profit for the year and total
comprehensive income
for the year 9 2,492,459 399,481
PATF BEAY Attributable to:
ENYNEIE XN Owners of the Company 2,209,207 331,590
DB A 45 Minority interests 283,252 67,891
2,492,459 399,481
3 & NN ) Earnings per share, in RMB cents
BN Basic 12 53.5 8.3
Vb
3 Diluted 12 53.2 N/A

AE#R Annual Report 2009 65
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

“2RAEFZASH—H
At December 31, 2009

B 5 “RENE ZERE N
NOTES 2009 2008
AR¥EFT A RMEF o
RMB’000 RMB’000
e i Y ¢ e NON-CURRENT ASSETS
gy Investment properties 13 4,698,300 3,759,100
ESN V& Property, plant and equipment 14 171,861 166,976
BERE ) Properties under development 15 — 10,701
PSR B 3RO Prepaid lease payments 16 3,194,207 3,026,288
& gt 4 ) B A Interests in associates 17 1 1
i 4 [ 2 o R Interests in jointly controlled entities 18 2,373,834 932,468
A R Available-for-sale investments 19 8,600 8,600
A L A C 4% 4% Deposits paid for acquisition of
land use rights 3,264,561 845,780
390 ST — ] Je 2 D Y Deposits paid for acquisition of
B 45 O AT 1R 4 4 additional interest in a subsidiary 34,000 —
iR AL B TH A Deferred taxation assets 29 227,702 347,960
A& i D B R K IR Amount due from a minority
shareholder 39(e) — 12,490
13,973,066 9,110,364
i B % CURRENT ASSETS
i Inventories 20 301,048 138,652
BRpGEYE Properties under development for sales 15 18,312,478 14,880,070
FE L &Y Properties held for sales 21 1,008,296 2,582,592
JRE i e T e Gt B i BRI Accounts and other receivables,
Fie 4 R FEAY SRR deposits and prepayments 22 1,382,897 1,611,597
JRE Wi 3 ] 2 i T # 5OR Amounts due from jointly
controlled entities 23 35,271 107,094
A i 5] A 2 Taxation recoverable 134,265 131,722
EL KGR 17 47 3K Pledged bank deposits 24 496,208 605,379
AT R Bl & Bank balances and cash 24 6,801,573 3,228,797
28,472,036 23,285,903

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
—gehEt=A=t—A
At December 31, 2009

il “RENE ZERE N
NOTES 2009 2008
AR¥FT AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
i B £ CURRENT LIABILITIES
AT IRIE ~ B iR Accounts payable, deposits received
K e and accrued charges 25 16,362,320 13,843,721
JRE ARF 3 7] 2 1l 2 f 50H Amounts due to jointly
controlled entities 26 363,879 19,957
JRE At # = 3 I Amounts due to directors 26 — 81,590
JRE A% i TE Taxation payable 1,616,029 935,528
Bty B H AR K — Bank and other borrowings -
—4F N F due within one year 27 3,710,200 6,480,051
22,052,428 21,360,847
) 5 NET CURRENT ASSETS 6,419,608 1,925,056
A8 E W B B TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 20,392,674 11,035,420
A R ik CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Ji A Share capital 28 452,972 351,668
it fii Reserves 11,685,706 2,770,893
A EL AN RE A HE 43 Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 12,138,678 3,122,561
DB SR 45 Minority interests 1,099,884 821,673
T 25 40 % TOTAL EQUITY 13,238,562 3,944,234
B A R NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
SRAT B H A 3R — Bank and other borrowings -
—AE 1% 3 due after one year 27 6,055,305 6,359,700
% 4 ol JH B AR Deferred taxation liabilities 29 1,098,807 731,486
7,154,112 7,091,186
20,392,674 11,035,420

FOSE2N0E 5 MBWMER —F—FFEW  The consolidated financial statements on pages 65 to 210 were
A2 H M o il L > A6 b approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

TAERERES April 12, 2010 and are signed on its behalf by:
B S EL HirEs b &
Chairperson: WU Yajun Executive director: LIN Chu Chang
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Write down of inventories

Bad debt recovery

(Reversal of) impairment loss on
other receivables

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Imputed interest income of amount
due from a minority shareholder

Increase in fair value of
investment properties

Share of results of jointly
controlled entities

Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Excess compensation received
from primary development project

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

Gain on disposal of partial interest
in a jointly controlled entity

Interest income

Dividend income from available-
for-sale investments, unlisted

Share-based payments expenses

ZERNLE

2009
ARWF L
RMB’000

4,061,040
27,499
(16,000)

(5,000)

21,863

(920,945)
(135,998)
(33)

(306,000)
10,533

(47,620)

(685)
53,232

ZERE N

2008
AR ¥T o
RMB’000

680,679

01,525
1,094

31,109
16,884
(1,337)

(125,100)

(63,225)

77

5,787

(36,774)
(33,388)

(847)
00,139
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

ZEFNF ZET)NE
2009 2008
AR¥T T ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB 000
BEESBBHAN Operating cash flows before
KB E movements in working capital 2,741,886 596,469
& B Increase in inventories (162,396) (92,928)
B3 AR Decrease (increase) in properties
HEYER D (8N under development and
properties held for sales 958,187 (4,590,814)
B SR G A B RO Decrease (increase) in accounts
i 4 J T A SRR and other receivables, deposits
B () and prepayments 365,193 (414,134)
R Wi ) 2 7 3k TR ek > Decrease in amounts due from
related parties 71,823 40,017
JEAHIEZK ~ BlkiE & K Increase in accounts payable, deposits
JIE %1 2% ) 1 received and accrued charges 2,271,485 4,697,603
RE AN B & Cash from operations 6,246,178 236,213
E Ao B i 15 B PRC income tax paid (400,386) (272,905)
BEEH S () NET CASH FROM (USED IN)
W34 OPERATING ACTIVITIES 5,845,792 (36,692)
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HEYE - BE Kk

P 15 5

B 4 3 15 R

B — A B 5% S B WO B R
At B T OO B

4 5 RE 2 4 10 P 5 SO

bt &
NOTES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to prepaid lease payments
Additions to investment properties
Deposits paid for acquisition of
land use rights
Deposits paid for acquisition
of subsidiaries
Refund of deposit paid for
acquisition of land use rights
Acquisition of assets and assumption
of liabilities through acquisition of
subsidiaries/settlement of
consideration payable 30
Acquisition of additional interest in
jointly controlled entities
Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity
Dividend received from a jointly
controlled entity
Additions to properties under development
Decrease (increase) in pledged
bank deposits
Purchase of property, plant
and equipment
Acquisition of additional interest in of
subsidiaries/settlement consideration
Interest received
Net cash inflow (outflow) on
disposal of subsidiaries 32
Proceeds from disposal of partial
interest in a jointly controlled entity
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of
investment properties
Compensation received from primary
development project
Dividend received from available-for-
sale investments
Proceeds from disposal of investment
in a trust fund

ZERRAE

2009
AR ¥Tx
RMB’000

(1,411,125)
(23,745)

(3,212,781)

(34,000)

(507,250)

(537,796)
(1,037,018)

40,263

109,171
(13,644)

(55,500)
47,620

56,691

4,559
5,490
1,100,000

685

ZRETINAE
2008
AR¥F
RMB’000

(2,232,949)

(302,292)

365,650

(190,664)

(56,231)

(10,701
(418,133)
(27,731

(508,554)
28,145

(2,616)
196,105

1,437

847

80,106
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For the year ended December 31, 2009

il “RENE “ET)N\E
NOTES 2009 2008
AR¥FT AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
A0 0 P 9 54 5 NET CASH USED IN
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (5,468,380) (3,077,581)
ik 547 B FINANCING ACTIVITIES
R SRAT B I £ 5K Repayment of bank and other loans (9,250,051) (3,680,948)
£ 5 A B Interest paid (590,595) (812,409)
B RAT S At Bk New bank and other loans raised 4,609,610 8,592,249
AT 5 A% SKOR Proceeds from issuance of a bond 1,384,931 —
D W Capital injected from minority
shareholders 35,000 13,000
J I 22 ] 8 Advances from jointly controlled entities 343,922 6,400
GRET) 2 B K Advance from (repayment to)
a minority shareholder = (19,3006)
BATHEF Repayments to directors (81,590) (27,658)
AT IRy P A5 R 4R Net proceeds from issue of shares 7,162,158 —
B A3 347 B 5 Share issue expenses (320,360) —
B 16 2 BB RS 0 M Dividend paid to minority shareholders (9,541) —
B2 Dividend paid (88,120) (65,882)
il 575 00 10 B2 NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 3,195,364 4,005,452
Bl RBLe SR MMFR NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,572,776 891,179
A B4 B B4 S AT CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 3,228,797 2,337,618
BRI B4 B B 5 BT CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
END OF THE YEAR 6,801,573 3,228,797
B RBeFHNEHEBRAN  ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES
OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT B LBl Bank balances and cash 6,801,573 3,228,797
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T RER

ARAR_FZFELEL AT —HE
HERSREMSHEARE (—ILA—
= GERE 22 - RS RERT) 5
TSz R e RN ] o AR B
HZZZHE+— A+ I H R A
GRS ARA R (B2 £k
i > GE I JF 25 5% Hb dik £ Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111 > Cayman Islands °
AAFR R EANREME (THE]) kEF
ik 1Y o 2 3 B Y b ik 3 T A b
30 o [ 25 R A7 4 0 K R 2 7R R
W R 2 A B 1915

L8 J 8 5 A 2 ) MR A3 7 W 32 BT b 7 T
AN RME AR (GHIALE])
ZEIETR S E AR (TREEAD R
#AH A /v "] ) Longfor Investment Co.
Ltd. ([ Longfor Investment|) 5 52 #% %% &
W (R ARAF ([RBEER]) kK
A B SR R A L M SR e A T T Y
HTARZHNBRRETER » AXFED
A EFENEANN +— B A B
AR A A PR A A o

Charm Talent International Limited
([Charm Talent]) & ZFZF /N4 —H—H
EEENEL AT ABBBH AL
F 2 H ¥ A A o Charm Talent ¢
Siver Sea Assets Limited4) {l it — & &\
F—A—HEZFENEAATALZ
FENEAAHT—HEZEZE+—
JE IR ANLE G N 2 NN o 8 Sl g
W oo AN Al 2 BB R R AE
AHT—REZFELREF_H=+—
H I A S RS 7T X8R IR K A5 Gt
Z % it A HSBC International Trustee
Limited » J = 28 3E 0 B b 4 o 2 5 K
L AKX

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated on December 21, 2007 as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands under the Companies Law Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares
of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”) from
November 19, 2009. The address of the registered office of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
addresses of the principal place of business of the Company
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong
are 7/F, Tower 2, FuSheng Building, No. 4 Huixin East Street,
Chaoyang District, Beijing, and 15/F, 1 Duddell Street, Central,
Hong Kong, respectively.

Pursuant to a group reorganisation (the “Group
Reorganisation”) to rationalise the structure of the Company
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”) in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on the SEHK, which was completed by interspersing
the Company and Longfor Investment Co. Ltd. (“Longfor
Investment”) between Juntion Development Hong Kong
(Holding) Limited (“Juntion Development”) and certain
companies under the control of the ultimate shareholders
Madam Wu Yajun and Mr. Cai Kui. The Company became the
holding company of the companies now comprising the
Group on June 11, 2008.

Charm Talent International Limited (“Charm Talent”) is the
Company’s immediate holding company for the period from
January 1, 2008 to November 18, 2009. Charm Talent and
Silver Sea Assets Limited are the Company’s ultimate holding
company for the period from January 1, 2008 to June 10, 2008
and June 11, 2008 to November 18, 2009 respectively. The
Company’s ultimate controlling shareholders are Madam Wu
Yajun and Mr. Cai Kui for the period from January 1, 2008 to
June 10, 2008. The ultimate parent undertaking of the
Company is the HSBC International Trustee Limited, which is
trustee of Wu Family Trust and the Cai Family Trust from June
11, 2008 to December 31, 2009. The principal place of
business of the trustee of Wu Family Trust and Cai Family
Trust is Level 13, 1 Queen’s Road Central Hong Kong.
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BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

GENERAL (Continued)

Details of the Group Reorganisation are set out in the
prospectus dated November 6, 2009. The Group comprising
the Company and its subsidiaries resulting from the Group
Reorganisation is regarded as a continuing entity.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2008
which include the results, changes in equity and cash flows of
the companies now comprising the Group have been
prepared as if the current group structure had been in
existence throughout the year, or since their respective dates
of incorporation/establishment where it is a shorter period.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
42.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the functional currency of the
Company and its major subsidiaries.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

The Group has applied all the standards, amendments and
interpretations issued by the International Accounting

Standards Board, which are effective for the Group’s financial
year beginning January 1, 2009.

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised standards, amendments and interpretations that have
been issued but not yet effective.

4t Annual Report 2009

75



A B 0 2 A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
== Bl

REZFENET A

For the year ended December 31, 2009

2. BRAGHT B R T B B
B5 9t o (Tt Bk 5

WA L) )

I ¢ 5 i At
MR (BT A)

I % S 5 S
Q) (BT A)

I % T e
550455 (B 4EHT)
B % 1 2
B2 (KBAERT)
I % T e

53255 (B FT A%

I8 [ it e S

53958 (BFTA)

I ¢ A 75 i A
e S 5 19%
(EFTA)

I ¢ A 75 i At
e JU 5 19%
(BT A)

I % S 5 S
e [ 565 2%
(BT A)

I % S 5 S
HE RIS 39%
2«<1|:5tj‘

I % S 5 S
e [ 565 9%

76 | Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #& i H &1 BR 24w

B T I % B 5 A
5 SR AR A Wi
“ET)NERH BB
08 5 i £t ¥4 U

— !

O T T LA

P9 A 1 B
e f)2
RPN

VT (8] &%iﬂjﬂ%i&%@l
3t JB 1 43 7
HEEEIHE
BN S0 YR b
EVSS BT S
Sop 75 i o5 YE ) 56 7 5%
1 5% 1 UG R T
A7 PR .6

B2 B DL B 4 45 50
FB A A 7K 22 B ¢

ES R

G T A

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

IFRSs (Amendments)

IFRSs (Amendments)

IAS 24 (Revised)

IAS 27 (Revised)

IAS 32 (Amendment)

IAS 39 (Amendment)

IFRS 1 (Amendment)

IFRS 1 (Amendment)

IFRS 2 (Amendment)

IFRS 3 (Revised)

[FRS 9

Amendment to IFRS 5 as part of
Improvements to IFRSs May 2008*

Improvements to IFRSs April 2009*

Related Party Disclosures?
Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements’
Classification of Rights Issues’

Eligible Hedged Items'

Additional Exemptions for First-
time Adopters®

Limited Exemption from
Comparative IFRS7 Disclosures for

First-time Adopters®

Group Cash-settled Share-based
Payment Transactions®

Business Combinations!

Financial Instruments’
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2. TRV R B SR AT B Y 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

51 4% T I S it INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
W) @ STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)
BRI BRIEEAREZ IFRIC 14 (Amendment)  Prepayments of a Minimum
RRERY  EANRE Funding Requirement’
ik BE 5 1498
(B AT A%)
R R B R BEA AR IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to
wREZAEE FHEER Owners'
it FE AR 1798
R AR B R LR TR IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
iwHZEg SMAaRe with Equity Instruments®
it FE AR 1998
bR ZERFRAELH — A S RS 2 A ! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009
AR 3
2 RIEEZNFLA-BRZZF-FHF—H— 2 Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
F (i 1) 352 4% B i 22 48 B 300 1 A 2509 £ July 1, 2009 and January 1, 2010, as appropriate
SRS E ] - B R R 2 3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011
AR 3
fRSE-FE-H - HEZ BRI EES 4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010
I
SRS E S - B R R 2 5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013
i A 2%
6 RIZFE-FHELH— B ZER GRS 6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2010
i A 2%
T RS ERET ] — KB R 2 7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after February 1, 2010
i A 2%
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

The adoption of IFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the Group’s
accounting for business combinations for which the
acquisition dates are on or after January 1, 2010. IAS 27
(Revised) will affect the accounting treatment for changes in
the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets and
will be effective from January 1, 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The standard requires all recognised financial
assets that are within the scope of TAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” to be measured
at either amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that (i) are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows and (ii) have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at fair value. The application
of TFRS 9 might affect the classification and measurement of
the Group’s financial assets.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations will have no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements.
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BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for the investment properties
which is measured at fair value, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on the SEHK and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year, except for those acquired pursuant to the Group
Reorganisation, are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition
or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein.
Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of
those interests at the date of the original business
combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity
since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the
minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s
equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except
to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is
able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses, except for those acquired
pursuant to the Group Reorganisation, is accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of
assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions
for recognition under IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” are
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of
the business combination, the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is
initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair
value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost less impairment loss and is presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis
of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries

On acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries which are
regarded as acquisition of additional interests in assets and
liabilities as the subsidiaries are not business, the difference
between the consideration and the carrying values of the
underlying assets and liabilities attributable to the additional
interests acquired is added to or deducted from the carrying
values of the relevant assets, where appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when all of the following criteria are
met:

e the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
properties are transferred to buyers;

e neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership nor effective control
over the properties are retained,;

e the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

e it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Deposits and installments received from purchasers prior to
meeting the above criteria of revenue recognition are
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
under current liabilities.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Property management and related service fees are recognised
in the period in which the services are rendered.

Other service income is recognised when the services are
provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’
established.

rights to receive payment have been

Investment properties

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

Property under construction or development for future use as
an investment property is classified as investment property
under development. If the fair value cannot be reliably
determined, the investment property under development will
be measured at cost until such time as fair value can be
determined or development is completed, in which time any
difference between the fair value and the carrying amount
will be recognised in profit or loss in that period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use or no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment loss.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful
lives after taking into account of their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production, rental or for administrative
purposes, the leasehold land component is classified as a
prepaid lease payment and amortised over a straight-line basis
over the lease term. During the construction period, the
amortization charge provided for the leasehold land is
included as part of the costs of the properties under
development. Properties under development not for sale are
carried at cost, less any identified impairment losses.
Properties under development which are intended to be held
for own use or their investment potential are shown as non-

current assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Prepaid lease payments

The prepaid lease payments represent upfront payments for
land use rights and are initially recognised at cost and
released to profit or loss over the lease term on a straight-line
basis, except for those that are classified and accounted for as
properties under development intended to be held for sale.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over these
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of
the associates, less any identified impairment loss. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional share of
losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a
separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly
controlled entities.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled
entities are incorporated in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the
equity method, investments in jointly controlled entities are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s
share of the net assets of the jointly controlled entities, less
any identified impairment loss. When the Group’s share of
losses of a jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds its
interest in that jointly controlled entity (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the jointly controlled entity), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An
additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of that jointly controlled entity.

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity
of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entity.

Properties under development for sales

Properties under development which are intended to be sold
upon completion of development are classified as current
assets, and carried at the lower of cost, which include the
related land cost, and net realisable value.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Properties held for sales

Properties held for sales are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost includes the costs of land,
development expenditure incurred and, where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realised value is determined
based on prevailing market conditions.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables or available-for-sale financial assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees, points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including amount due from a minority
shareholder, accounts and other receivables, amounts due
from jointly controlled entities, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-
maturity investments.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less
any identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting
period (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).

Impairment of financial assels

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at
the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of

impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

e default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as accounts
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit period,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will
not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of accounts and other receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When an account and
other receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the
Group are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees, points paid and received that form an
integral part of the effective rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including accounts payable, amounts due
to jointly controlled entities, amounts due to directors and
bank and other borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the group entities are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for
a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the original or
modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract issued by the Group and not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount determined in
accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with IAS 18 “Revenue”.
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For the year ended December 31, 2009

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental
expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of lease
classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, in which
case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance lease
and accounted for as property, plant and equipment. To the
extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for as
operating leases and amortised over the lease term on a
straight-line basis except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value
model.
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For the year ended December 31, 2009

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in the period in which they arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. RMB) at the rate of exchange prevailing at end of
the reporting period. Profit and loss and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
year, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised as a separate component of equity (the
exchange reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
(the exchange reserve). Such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the year in which a foreign
operation is disposed of.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred taxation.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred taxation is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred taxation liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at
each end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement
of deferred taxation liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Government grants related to
depreciable assets are recognised as a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss
over the useful lives of the related assets. Other government
grants are recognised as revenue over the periods necessary
to match them with the costs for which they are intended to
compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants that
are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to
state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as
payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s
obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising
in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options/share awards to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options or shares granted at the grant
date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting

period with a corresponding increase in equity.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options or shares that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, a
correspondence adjustment to reserve.

At the time when the share option are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Share options/share awards to employees (Continued)

For any modification to the terms and conditions of share
options granted, the incremental fair value granted is
determined at the difference between the fair value of the
modified share options and that of the original share options,

both estimated as at the date of the modification.

If the modification occurs during the vesting period, the
incremental fair value granted is included in the measurement
of the amount recognised for services received over the
period from the modification date until the date when the
modified share options vest, in addition to the amount based
on the grant date fair value of the original share options,
which is recognised over the remainder of the original vesting
period.

If the modification occurs after vesting date, the incremental
fair value granted is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current

and future periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair values based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers. In
determining the fair values, the valuers have based on a
method of valuation which involves certain estimates of
market condition. In relying on the valuation report, the
directors of the Company have exercised their judgement and
are satisfied that the assumptions used in the valuation are
reflective of the current market conditions. Changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group’s investment properties and the corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in profit or
loss.

Income tax expense

Deferred taxation assets of RMB227,702,000 (2008:
RMB347,960,000) mainly in relation to tax losses, land
appreciation tax provisions, allowance for doubtful debts,

government grants, unrealised profit on intra-group purchases
and others have been recognised at December 31, 2009, after
offsetting certain deferred taxation liabilities as set out in note
29. The realisability of the deferred taxation assets mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. The
directors of the Company determine the deferred taxation
assets based on the enacted or substantially enacted tax rates
and the best knowledge of profit projections of the Group for
coming years during which the deferred taxation assets are
expected to be utilised. The directors of the Company will
review the assumptions and profit projections by the end of
the reporting period. In cases where the actual future profits
generated are more or less than expected, an additional
recognition or a reversal of deferred taxation assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a recognition or reversal takes place.
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the PRC.
However, the implementation and settlement of the tax varies
amongst different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC
and certain projects of the Group have not finalised their land
appreciation tax calculations and payments with any local tax
authorities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgment is
required in determining the amount of land appreciation and
its related income tax provisions. The Group recognised the
land appreciation tax based on management’s best estimates.
The final tax outcome could be different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, and these differences will impact
the income tax expense and the related income tax provisions
in the periods in which such tax is finalised with local tax
authorities.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on
internal reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (i.e.
the board of directors of the Company) in order to allocate
resources to the segment and to assess its performance.

The Group is organised into business units based on their
types of activities, based on which information is prepared
and reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
performance. The Group’s reportable segments under IFRS 8
are identified as three main operations:

e Property development: this segment develops and sells
office premises, commercial and residential properties. All
the Group’s activities in this regard are carried out in the
PRC.

e Property investment: this segment leases investment
properties, which are developed by the Group to generate
rental income and to gain from the appreciation in the
properties’ values in the long term. Currently the Group’s
investment property portfolio is located entirely in the
PRC.

e Property management and related services: this segment
mainly represented the income generated from property
management. Currently the group’s activities in this
regard are carried out in PRC.

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Company’s
board of directors monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Segment assets include all tangible assets and current
assets directly attributable to each segment with the
exception of interests in associates, interests in jointly
controlled entities, available-for-sale investments, deferred
taxation assets, taxation recoverable and other corporate
assets. Other corporate assets are not allocated to the
reportable segment because they are head office assets or
assets which are managed centrally by the Group. The
investment properties included in segment assets are
stated at cost when assessed by the chief operating
decision maker. Segment liabilities include trade payables
and accrued expenditure on construction, bills payable,
deposits received and receipt in advance from property
sales, and other payables with exception of taxation
payable, deferred taxation liabilities, bank and other
borrowings and other corporate liabilities. Other
corporate liabilities are not allocated to the reportable
segment because they are head office liabilities or
liabilities which are managed on group basis.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or
amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.
Segment profit does not include the Group’s share of
results arising from the activities of the Group’s jointly
controlled entities.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is adjusted
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, change in
fair value of investment properties and finance costs
(“Adjusted Earnings”), where “interest” is regarded as
including investment income and “depreciation” is
regarded as including impairment losses on non-current
assets. To arrive at Adjusted Earnings the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as directors’ and
auditor’s remuneration and other head office or corporate
administration costs.
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BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

5. iER ) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) 40 H6RAH - AR A ) (a)
A A I 4 5 5 25 10 43350
Sb o B T I A 3 09 A B
WMo AR CA (BLEF A B ) -
P 4340 1 2 10 LA 3
2 0 A T A 4
A e 43350 S 5083 7 10 95 9 0
B4 B RE o 4 O 8 65 T 2 BRI
IR B B 158 5 = 0 09 5 (T i

18 -

B A S T i 2 B B R B R

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
Adjusted Earnings, management is provided with segment
information concerning revenue (including inter-segment
sales), interest income and finance costs from borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and
impairment losses and additions to non-current segment
assets used by the segments in their operations. Inter-
segment sales are priced with reference to prices charged
to external parties for similar service.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is

T e set out below.
RE-ZZFAET A= —HESEE
Year ended December 31, 2009

MEEHR

M

Property

management

LES ES35 and
Property Property related it
development  investment services Total
ARBTE ARHTE ARBTFL ARBTFI
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
KEMBEFF YA Revenue from external customers 11,029,310 197,975 146,677 11,373,962
LGN Inter-segment revenue — — 17,395 17,395
Wk il A Reportable segment revenue 11,029,310 197,975 164,072 11,391,357

ik 2 A i A Reportable segment profit

(5 38 % 2 A1) (Adjusted Earnings) 2,797,455 146,888 36,489 2,980,832
o Reportable segment assets 27,457,370 2,196,888 5,477 29,659,735
k2 A LA Reportable segment liabilities 14,891,370 52,003 51,638 14,995,011
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

5. gk @)

(a) HiREA - BEKAR @)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)
BEZENEFT A=A LEE
Year ended December 31, 2008

WEEER

B

Property

management

YR WERE and
Property ~ Property related st
development  investment services Total
AR#ETFE ARETT AREBETT ARETZE
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB’000
K EAMBE F A Revenue from external customers 4216,172 158,785 100,242 4,475,199
LT LON Inter-segment revenue = = 16,282 16,282
HEHBIRA Reportable segment revenue 4,216,172 158,785 116,524 4,491,481

ke 2y i A Reportable segment profit

(AR (Adjusted Earnings) 637,418 103,214 17,794 758,426
REnHEE Reportable segment assets 22387387 2,307,036 19,138 24,714,161
Wi EE Reportable segment liabilities 12,594,493 44,099 57,098 12,696,290

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w
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(a) i

- EEKRAE @

measure of segment assets:

JE At 43 3 & B
R 0 T BT

ZHE
ZEENAE 2009
W EIENE G E

(B 5E) (Note)
RPN\ 2008
@?E;F {Jlugﬁﬁ %%

(B 5E) (Note)

WieE - SOHGEREREYE - BAHE
BRI B e il - (YRR T S AT £

4o

h\/T

Other segment information

Amounts included in the

Additions to non-current assets

Additions to non-current assets

WEBERE  PERE
Property  Property

development investment

ANRW T ARETT

RMB'000  RMB’000

4,623,906 23,745

4,355,509 =

L g T

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

E X 197
AR I A 5
Property

management

and
related O
services Total

ARBTE ARKTE
RMB'000  RMB'000

— 4,647,651

— 4,355,509

Amounts include additions to investment properties, prepaid

lease payment and deposits paid for acquisition of land use

4t Annual Report 2009
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

5. »ER @)
(a) HHBES BEKAR @
H At oy B RE ()
B 2 T AT B 4 0 A9 4 9
Sh T Y A A
S AL 62 24 7 0 O 2 2 A
S5 5%+ 0 SR £ 08 0 M 2

IR ES B S-E/E IR :L A
B BRAT 4 B B A B R R ]

70 WC % 8 2 A AT B B AR B K investment properties,
Tg o

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment profits, the chief operating decision maker is
provided with information concerning the Group’s
consolidated amount of interests in associates and related
share of results, interests in jointly controlled entities and
related share of results, changes in fair value of
interest income from bank
balances and depreciation which are not allocated to

operating segments.

(b) WEWBA - HE S BE (b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit
T B 08 1 R or loss, assets and liabilities
“RELE ZRE)N\E
2009 2008
AR ¥F A R¥F o
RMB’000 RMB 000
LN Revenue
ok B A Reportable segment revenue 11,391,357 4,491,481
0 [T Wi At 6 Elimination of inter-segment revenue (17,395) (16,282)
e EER Consolidated turnover 11,373,962 4,475,199
i Profit
4k 2y 8 v ) Reportable segment profit 2,980,832 758,426
HAb g A Other income 424,711 132,068
TGN A TEEE Change in fair value of investment properties 920,945 125,100
Bl I A Finance costs (27,499) (61,525)
JRE A6 AL ] P i EE B 248 Share of results of jointly controlled entities 135,998 63,225
P8 Depreciation (21,863) (16,884)
& e B % Unallocated expenses (352,084) (319,731)
e IR | Consolidated profit before taxation 4,061,040 680,679

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w
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BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

5. 2 ER @)
(b) HEFWWA ~ HiE - EE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit

FAERHHEIE @) or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)
“RENAE ZERENLE
2009 2008
AR¥F ANR¥ T
RMB’000 RMB’000
% e Assets
ot o W E Reportable segment assets 29,659,735 24,714,161
REWEN L FE Cumulative change in fair value of
ZEH ) investment properties 2,501,412 1,581,390
A e 2 B R AR Interests in associates 1 1
RAFEEHEBAOHELS  Interests in jointly controlled entities 2,373,834 932,468
At R Available-for-sales investments 8,600 8,600
I HE B JH S Deferred taxation assets 227,702 347,960
T M [m A 2 Taxation recoverable 134,265 131,722
R 4 i 485 S b Unallocated head office and other assets 7,539,553 4,679,965
GAEEAE Consolidated total assets 42,445,102 32,396,267
A Liabilities
ok s A E Reportable segment liabilities 14,995,011 12,696,290
A% ot I Taxation payable 1,616,029 935,528
I 4 i JH B Deferred taxation liabilities 1,098,807 731,486
SRAT B Ath £ 3K Bank and other borrowings 9,765,505 12,839,751
R0 TS A e At B fR Unallocated head office and other liabilities 1,731,188 1,248,978
GEAERE Consolidated total liabilities 29,206,540 28,452,033
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

5. ¥R 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(c) FEEE i K R P 4 e 2 (c) Revenue from major product and services
AEEAHEEYE  HEWER The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
i 458 8 IR 785 i 75 Wi i 2 A A0 F its properties sold, property invested and services
provided:
BERE
Year ended

ZEF0F ZETNE

+=A +=A

=+—H =t+—H

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

AR T ANRWBT T

RMB’000 RMB 000

Hi & 3 Sales of properties 11,029,310 4,216,172

LiN-¢7/E = Leasing of properties 197,975 158,785

B 14 36 4 AR B Provision of property management services 146,677 100,242

11,373,962 4,475,199
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BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

5. ¥R 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(d) Hb |5 & B (d) Geographic information
TRET R EYE - HEWER The following table sets out information about the
T 58 P IR 75 A 3t 6 ) A R A Group’s revenue from external customers by cities in the
MR BSREFBRARER - R PRC, based on the location at which the properties sold,
B E R T AE b AL property invested and services provided. Information
o about its non-current assets is analysed by geographical

location of assets.

K E SN % A i H &
Revenues from Non-current
external customers assets
SERME CETAE . CRBAE SRR
2009 2008 2009 2008

ARWFR  ARETFT  ARWTE ARKTFTL
RMB000  RMBO00 ~ RMB000  RMB'000

EY Chongging 3,030,015 2,184,825 8,920,181 6,184,647
A Chengdu 2,566,327 2,285,081 863,267 495,290
x Beijing 5,090,778 4,693 576,056 219,710
v LA 3 Other cities in the PRC 686,842 —  3377,260 1,841,667

11,373,962 4475199 13,736,764 8741314

Wi« JEURE) & A ER LA RIEL Note:  Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred
FBiIHB R o taxation assets.
A B B — AR S AT 22 5 I UL No revenue from transaction with single external
NEALEBB AR 10%8 L L - customer is amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue.
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

Jefb e A

6. OTHER INCOME

“EERIE ZERFE )N
2009 2008
ARWTF I ANRBT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
FLE e A Interest income 47,620 28,145
& L5 4 HE RS i A Interest income from investment
in a trust fund — 5,243
A i A SR R T Y i Imputed interest income of amount
FE WA due from a minority shareholder — 1,337
A A (B Consultancy fee income (Note 1) 31,129 4,291
Ak BT E R Dividend income from available-for-sale
JBe Bl A investments, unlisted 685 847
B — % 8 0H H R Excess compensation received from primary
JoF B I 1 (R 5 2) development project (Note 2) 306,000 —
HEWE - BE K Gain on disposal of property, plant
A M B WL i and equipment 33 77
B A — R AR R % ) Gain on disposal of partial interest in
H 43 HE i O i 45 a jointly controlled
(P 5E3) entity (Note 3) — 36,774
FEE 50,k 4 15 A0 Net exchange gain 3,490 38,555
IR R Y Government subsidies 5,406 5,532
AT A Sundry income 30,348 11,267
At Total 424,711 132,068
Fif5E - Notes:
1. TEAEE R B = RN A RS 1. It represents the design, decoration and consulting services related to

I 7E B I BT - S8 KRR IR real estate development provided by the Group to independent third

parties in Beijing.
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6. HAbWA @)

i : (/‘ﬁ'/é?)

WE EEAE+ A=+ HILFEE
7% 45 [ B BLBORT 5T 57 WA BOAE R B
h & B ENETZH = H XA
?mu%AE%wawmmﬁiﬁAW%i
0l HE 2 B AR A R) o R BRI NEF
:H+£D>EM&%M%%%ﬁﬂﬁ
LN A e o L |
BHEE o AR PRAK 1k WA L Hh o i B G B
ik o o B BUR I 0 (15 A4 [ 2 A 4%
&) Ky N R 1,100,000,0007C © # & =
NEFZA=Z+—HILEE > AEEEE
TERHEE - ANFEFRE - HRERN
BIERBEER - FENEFZH=+—H
e A - BB R ER R
NEFZH =+ B ILEE R A BB
a3 B S 18 SR IO A IR MO T R E » B [ B
R MBIM SRR R AT RERA TR > A
— AR DR BE T E iR A A =R
ZENEF A=+ HIEFEERR -

WE_FZRZNEFETF_A=+—HILFE
A ] L A — [ (] 2 o B L
BEA R A (THCABHER ) 28.5% 1 I HE -
B4R E 4 B N R #196,105,0000C > T3 2
5 FS A R 6T B A o M A v o o E A
i 45 %9 A R %36,774,0007C ©

BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

6. OTHER INCOME (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Group entered into a
joint land renovation and development agreement with the government
and paid deposits which aggregated to RMB794,000,000 totally as at
December 31, 2008 (included in the deposits paid for acquisition of land
use rights). On December 15, 2008, the Group entered into an
agreement to terminate the joint land renovation and development as a
result of change in the development plan of that region. Pursuant to the
agreement of termination of the joint land renovation and development,
the compensation from government (including the deposits paid by the
Group) was RMB1,100,000,000. During the year ended December 31,
2009, the Group has received the full amount of the compensation. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, as the negotiation of
termination and compensation was still in progress as at December 31,
2008, the compensation received only met the revenue recognition
requirement of IAS 18 Revenue that “it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity” during
the year ended December 31, 2009, the excess compensation received
from primary development project was therefore recognised during the
year ended December 31, 2009.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Group disposed of its
28.5% equity interest in a jointly controlled entity, Chengdu Huixin Real
Estate Company Limited (“Chengdu Huixin”), at a cash consideration of
approximately RMB196,105,000 which is determined with reference to
the attributable registered capital of Chengdu Huixin. Gain on disposal
amounting to approximately RMB36,774,000 was resulted.
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

7. WA 7. FINANCE COSTS

“ERNE ZRE I
2009 2008
AR¥T I ARBTIT
RMB’000 RMB 000

JR I AR T 2 B Interest on bank and other borrowings
R AR AT R A (& 3R wholly repayable within five years (611,115) (814,722)

W BERTYENEAIER Less: Amount capitalised to properties
under development 583,616 753,197
(27,499) (61,525)

BEAAL 1A B RCA TR B AS AR Y — ik
R RBE_FFNLFET_H =T
— H L4 B % 4 5.38% (ZF &R )\
7.44%) W E AR WRFH > FEARTH
BREML -

Borrowing costs capitalised arose on the general borrowing
pool of the Group and were calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate of 5.38% (2008: 7.44%) per annum for the
year ended December 31, 2009, to expenditure on the
qualifying assets.

8. PrfsBibi X 8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

ZRENE ZERERNAE
2009 2008
A R#T o5 AR T
RMB’000 RMB 000

o A 3 BT PRC enterprise income tax:
B 48 i £ B Current income tax (609,428) (396,746)
T AR ([ 3E(ERL])  Land appreciation tax (“LAT”) (468,916) (55,478)
(1,078,344) (452,224)

R FE B TE (B 5E29) Deferred taxation (note 29)
NGy Current year (490,237) 171,026
(1,568,581) (281,198)

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w
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8. B f#BL B 3¢ )

WA A A E AN RA
W o WO 7 i R B A B A -

ALEP R B EENE T WE ARG &
H AT T 0 TR 2 R o R S AR
AR A A L P B A SE T AR B -

L v B A 3 BT A5 B ([ BT 15 Bl
B RAERBRIEEREG - 5=
FTNE—H—HE > F B E A 7B
R 1525% e

AR AR B v B A S T 15 BRI KA
N PR B i i 8 N A E R
JBh ZE 5 1Y A I R ) A A A A S
BBBLR o i 3% % A A 37 B S i 5
AR A AR AR A A B 70% > RIS
HOZFZ ERE T —TAER15%0 #
ER RGN ET R HEFEER
H AL M o AR B B A A TR O o

BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

No provision for taxation has been made as the Group’s
income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong.

Certain of the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC are
eligible for certain tax holidays and concessions and were
exempted from PRC income taxes for the year.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from January 1, 2008
onwards.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC corporate income tax rules and
regulations, preferential corporate income tax rates have been
granted to certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries which were
established in western regions and engaged in the encouraged
business. These companies are subject to a preferential rate of
15% from 2002 to 2010, subject to approval of the competent
tax authority, if the annual income derived from the
encouraged business is more than 70% of the annual total
income. Approval has been obtained for the year.
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

8. B fdBLB 3 )

ARG JE BOR R B AR AT A R

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit

B 0 A A B B HRINR before taxation per consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as follows:
“EFhE —EFTNE
2009 2008
ARWTF ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
I il ik Profit before taxation 4,061,040 680,679
25% 1) Hp B A 3 BT A5 B PRC enterprise income tax at 25% (1,015,260) (170,170)
e A I ] 25 i A8 SE AR Y Tax effect of share of results of jointly
Bl TE 5% 2 controlled entities 34,000 15,806
FBLIEN S AR FBRBI XA Tax effect of expenses not deductible
B 2 (W ek 1) for tax purposes (Note 1) (73,653) (50,835)
MBLIE T 5 ﬂiﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ /PN Tax effect of income not taxable for
f) L 5 % tax purposes 698 9,730
-+ 38 (B LAT (468,916) (55,478)
3t 3 (B P 28 Tax effect of LAT 117,229 23,156
% e 5R R JH s 12 1 B 2 Tax effect of tax losses not recognised (243) (3,974)
B H SEH AR MBLEKR  Utlisation of tax loss previously
not recognised 68 129
B J1 5 il R Tl 53 0 T Utilisation of deductible temporary
IR I 2 differences previously not recognised — 11,748
5 T o B e 4 Effect of tax exemption
TE R B I 5 and concessionary rates granted to
1B BB R Y R certain PRC subsidiaries 20,194 (376)
A ) 325 HE R A8 A 1Y Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries
W 2 A [] o %6 S 5 2 operating in other jurisdictions — (16,047)
15 43 IR £ B i AL 1 A R Withholding tax on retained profits to be
(P 55 2) distributed (Note 2) (123,771) (44,887)
HoAth (W 3E3) Others (note 3) (58,927) —
B EE Tax charge for the year (1,568,581) (281,198)
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i f3 BB 3¢ 4

% 0 4 B AL AR SR S T A A 3 B
S B T WS A ) B SR o A I B o B
F T 0 3k R 0

MR BTN — T — H A 20 b B
H i (0 B %5 [2008]112%8) - BLR £ 10%
1 v I A A AT TR R R ) 4%
B (FE v I8 316 406 R A A O G )
9 FBE 5 o AR AR A R A 4 47 1B R
b 15 4 G B T AOBE AN B 1 fAT U B 1 % HE)
K BRI EE (20081112755 » 5% 2 T # B B 5%
P B AT A R A ) AR D 25%
A W B A o % OB i A T o
BAFAREE ZBFENAER ZER/NE+
TR =+ H R4 B B EE AR WA 4 U i A
i 435 6 7 TEL 40 BT AR

WE-ZZRE=ZANHBERR -FZN
M 1 — H A Rk 2z B R (I B
[2009]31%8) » —ETNE K BT JLEAR
4 25 T R 2 7 BT RE AR B BT L AR
A B 2 8 8 B 33% 1 FF 25% ) Bl R 5t A
JIT A5 BE BH 52 o A7 T O D 4 R IR B SR
R T EUEUR YN e+

BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Notes:

The amount mainly comprises of the tax effect of non-deductible
corporate expenses of the Group and the expenses of certain
subsidiaries in excess of the allowable deduction limits in accordance

with the relevant tax regulations.

In accordance to PRC tax circular (Guoshuifa [2008] 112) effective from
January 1, 2008, PRC withholding income tax at the rate of 10% is
applicable to dividends to “non-resident” investors who do not have an
establishment or place of business in the PRC. According to the
“Arrangement between the Mainland of China and the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and
the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income” and
Guoshuifa [2008]112, where the Hong Kong resident company directly
owns at least 25% of the capital of the Mainland company, 5% dividend
withholding tax rate is applicable. The amount represents the
withholding income tax provided on the distributable profits arisen
during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 of certain PRC

subsidiaries.

In accordance to the PRC tax circular (Guoshuifa [2009] No. 31) issued
on March 6, 2009 and effective from January 1, 2008, the sales that were
recognised by certain subsidiaries of the Group in 2008 and 2009 which
were related to the pre-sale in 2007 had to use 33%, instead of 25% to
provide the income tax expense. The amount represented the difference
between the tax rate used to provide the income tax expense arise from

the recognition of revenue in current year.
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

9. B i A 9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
“EFNE ZRFE A
2009 2008
AR T AR¥ETT
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
BB (FEA) T3l FHZ Profit for the year has been arrived at after
17 4 5 s A charging (crediting):
% i P Auditors’ remuneration 3,000 3,000
FEASHE AN ERFE KA  Cost of property inventories included
in cost of sales 7,839,702 3,239,602
FHA B AR I ) 2EAE UK Write down of property inventories
included in cost of sales — 1,094
W~ R K ST Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 21,863 16,884
HEYE - RE LEM MY Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment (33) an
B 6 2 W RO S 1R Loss on disposal of subsidiary 10,533 5,787
W [m1 452 Hi Bad debt recovery (16,000) —
JAt BEWGR T (3 1)) B S8 (Reverse of) impairment loss on other
receivables (5,000) 31,109
REHENHE Operating lease rentals 14,458 9,100
B T A Staff costs
R (SRR A5 & Directors’ emoluments (including equity-
Ay By BEBER AT 30 (B sE10)  settled share-based payments) (note 10) 44,850 20,902
HAb B T A Other staff costs
B LHA (AR A RA)  Staff costs excluding retirement
benefit costs 403,263 364,049
AR ARAE T A Retirement benefit costs 35,952 28,158
VAHE £ 45 58 I M Ay o B Y Equity-settled share-based payments
A 3K (Fft £ 38) (note 38) 40,070 50,897
B T A Total staff costs 524,135 464,006
A AR E il Less: Amount capitalised to properties
G & under development (141,717) (151,921)
382,418 312,058
BEYERH A Gross rental income from investment
properties 197,975 158,785
W AT WA N EERM X Less: direct expenses that generated
rental income (56,072) (55,571)
141,903 103,214
J3 A 36 7] 4 ) 2 A O Share of tax of jointly controlled entities
(FF A 23 4 38 7] 28 ] (included in share of results of jointly
HHEES) controlled entities) 70,268 20,722
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BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

10. % 35 K 0@ 5 5 10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

ERF & R Rty
R A BIKER  RIERER
f Al 5% fifak
Basic Retirement Equity-
HHM4E  salaries benefit  settled

Directors’ and other 64 contri- share-based At

fees  benefits Bonus bution payments Total

ARBTL AREFL ARWTFLE ARETT ARWTL ARWFX
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

(WH3E)
(Note)
BE 2N+ Year ended December 31,
Zt-AEE 2009
HRES Name of director
PirEE Executive Director:
REE Lt Madam Wu Yajun — 4,103 3,000 30 — 7,133
Wi B A Mr. Lin Chu Chang — 2,132 800 80 4,730 7,742
7 1 e Mr. Fang Shengtao — 1,934 3,424 56 4,220 9,634
[ istes Mr. Chen Kai — 1,934 4,867 57 2,141 8,999
FhEE Mr. Qin Lihong — 1,667 4,791 56 2,041 8,555
EENk Mr. Cai Kui = 2,600 = 25 — 2,625
DR KGR E Independent non-executive
director:
Frederick Peter Mr. Frederick Peter
Churchouse & 4 Churchouse 44 = = = 10 54
BT Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek 44 — — — 10 54
BERL Dr. Xiang Bing 44 - - — 10 54
132 14,370 16,882 304 13,162 44,850
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

10. 3% 3 K i B H W 0 10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

D& 458
YN Bt
R A BRIER BARD
Al it 3% T3k
Basic Equity-
HHWL  salaries Retirement settled

Directors’  and other fBAL benefit share-based w5t

fees  benefits Bonus contribution  payments Total

ARETFL ARWTFL ARWTFE ARWTZ ARWTZ AKETE
RMB000  RMB000  RMB000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMB000

(H3E)
(Note)
BEZZZN\E+ZR Year ended December 31,
=t—HIEEE 2008
3% Name of director
PrEE Executive Director:
SEEL L Madam Wu Yajun — 3,015 600 29 — 3,044
BRI Mr. Cai Kui = 2,412 600 10 - 3,022
Msh & Mr. Lin Chu Chang — 2,197 300 11 5,140 7,648
7 7 W 6 2 Mr. Fang Shengtao - 1,934 500 52 4,102 6,588
BRol G Mr. Chen Kai — — — = = =
ZNBEE Mr. Qin Lihong — — — — — _
Bufaf&s. Independent non-executive
director:
Frederick Peter Mr. Frederick Peter
Churchouse/ £ Churchouse — — — = = =
BRE%ZEE Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek = = = = = =
HERL Dr. Xiang Bing - - - — — —
= 9,558 2,000 102 9,242 20,902
WfaE - REBAHB SRR AL BB E =TT Note:  The bonus relates to performance related incentive payment which
ERZRENEF A=+ —HIEEER is determined as a percentage of the profit of the Group for the
it I H 4 M E o years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.
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BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

10. 3% 3¢ K R B W a0 10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’” EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
{5 55 Employee’s emoluments
AABRHMALCHERE-TTNE The five highest paid individuals included two (2008: two)
TZAET-HLEFENMA (CFFA directors for the year ended December 31, 2009. The
Foma) EE - WE_FEAET A emoluments of the remaining three (2008: three) highest paid
ST-REFEART =4 (CFTA individuals for the year ended December 31, 2009 are as
B =R RE A LR EM T oilloms:
“EFNE ZRE N\
2009 2008
AR T ARMT
RMB’000 RMB 000
f’ & Employees
— R H 4 SR — basic salaries and allowances 5,533 5,478
—fE 4L — bonus 10,646 2,300
— 3B PR 48 A ik 3% — retirement benefit contributions 112 156
— DUHE 4 45 5 S ety 2% — equity-settled share-based
LB A 2 payments 12,662 11,682
28,953 19,616
MNBE-BRZENER -ZENET A During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, no
Et—HIRERE > A BRI AAL emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
Al 1 2 2 B A3 B e A AT o] s P Company or the five highest paid individuals as an
15 By S I A 5O A A 4 [ 4% 11 5% g 5 inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
ERERAE - REE_ZZINELZ compensation for loss of office. None of the directors of the
EENFEFTZHAZ+—HIEFERE - Company has waived any emoluments during the years ended
AR ) B HE 2 B AT R December 31, 2009 and 2008.
10 55 19 35 B A F 1 5 Their emoluments were within the following bands:
AN
Number of Individuals
e 2 YIRS “EENE
2009 2008
5,500,001 JG % 6,000,000% 7t HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 — 1
7,000,001 JG % 7,500,000% j&. HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 — 1
8,500,001 JC % 9,000,000 5t HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000 — 1
10,500,001 ¥ 7T % 11,000,000 7t HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000 2 —
11,500,001 7T % 12,000,0003 7t HK$11,500,001 to HK$12,000,000 1 —
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

11. B & 11. DIVIDEND

ZREIAE SRR\

2009 2008

AR ¥F ARMETF o

RMB’000 RMB 000

it Dividends:
B H IR KA T I Dividends declared and paid to the then

B BRI Ji S shareholders 88,120 138,408
ZEFNAETHZH o AR ) On October 2, 2009, the Company declared dividend of
JBe 3 IR B S 100,000,000 7T (S A HK$100,000,000 (equivalent to RMB88,120,000), which was

& i
[ #88,120,0007T) > Mk 28 5 AR /3 7] i

iy conditional upon the listing of the Company’s shares, to the
LRI AR - then shareholders of the Company.
WMEZEENEFTH =+ —HILE During the year ended December 31, 2008, dividends of
B o 5 AR 0 R ) R R RORE R R A RMB138,408,000 were declared by Juntion Development to its
[ ' 138,408,0007C © then shareholders.
FEOERREBRE_FENET A A final dividend of RMB324,450,000 (RMB0.063 per share) for
Et—HIEFEMRHRE AR the year ended December 31, 2009 has been proposed by the
324,450,0007C (45 [ A [ #0.06378) - HE Directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the
JR AR R SRS B i M R 4F K & LM o forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w
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BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

12,5 B & A 12. EARNINGS PER SHARE
AN FHEA AL B 5 A % 4 L The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
B BT S LR B attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

“EFhE —ZENE
2009 2008
AR % T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
A A R A I Earnings attributable to the owners of
B R A 7 the Company for the purposes of
A A 2 A calculation of basic and diluted
earnings per share 2,209,207 331,590
“EFhE —ZENE
2009 2008
T g T K&
000 ‘000
B4 % H Number of shares
R 5t 5 A JB AR 8 ) Y Weighted average number of ordinary
W 248 B AR P 2 shares for the purpose of calculation of
basic per share 4,132,192 4,000,000
Fi e HEAR B L 7 P Y Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
B i 5 in respect of
— share options 23,825
R w5 48 9 ) Y Weighted average number of ordinary
W 288 B AR P 2 shares for the purpose of calculation of
diluted earnings per share 4,156,017
WEFEZNREFTA=Z4—HILE For the year ended December 31, 2009, the outstanding share
FBE o A R R A R AR options issued under the Post-IPO share option scheme
MBEZFZZNES A = HEAE adopted on December 23, 2009 are not included in the
ﬁ(ﬁ“\ O B B A% I SRR T R AT R 0 R calculation of diluted earnings per share as the adjusted
A7 B IROHE - 7 R T RN RAT exercise price was greater than the average market price of
ﬁi%ﬁfﬂﬁ o AL R B AT BRI A R IR the Company’s share during the outstanding period in 2009.
) F 2T -
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

12. BB 12. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

WE_ZFZEZNFEF_H=+T—HILH
B8R EARAERMNZE B f
4,000,000,000% i 15 5+ & > R 3 A 4 7
BIZSROR > FEEHACR %
NE—HA—HZH »

Sl 4 3 DA 03 4 2 B ) A 3R 5 wH R
E_FENEFA=ZF+—HEFEER
B AR AR o AR B SRR I A B
FB A7 I I A9 T S R B e AT O A
FBCHEAT 0 M o e S O R I

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the calculation of
basic earnings per share are based on 4,000,000,000 shares in
issue on the assumption that the issue of such shares of the
Company under the Group Reorganisation had been
completed on January 1, 2008.

No diluted earnings per share is calculated for the year ended
December 31, 2008 in respect of the share-based payment
transactions since the directors are of the opinion that,
without reliable information of the market price of the shares
to determine whether the outstanding share options were
dilutive, such calculation and disclosure are not meaningful.

13.REWE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

ANRW T
RMB'000

AR FAIR VALUE
AERNF—H—H At January 1, 2008 3,634,000
B RMER A T{H%E  Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss 125,100
NZEENEFZH =+ —H At December 31, 2008 3,759,100
NE Additions 23,745
ik Disposal (5,490)
JA &5 £ 2 T 5 R HERR 1Y Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss 920,945

0T E 52 )

REFZENE+FTZH =1+—H At December 31, 2009 4,698,300

BEYESYMR TR > T EE - B
AEEYEHEFE R LR ELEHEH
H oo

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w

The investment properties are all situated in the PRC under
medium-term lease. All the investment properties are
completed properties and rented out under operating leases.
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13. 8 ¥WE @

AEBBEEMER —FEFRER-FF
NEFZH =+ — HIAFE TR
Bl 7 4 Sl 0 B ) — XL B
S (A0 565 — O SR O £ B I S
P AR 2> A (55— KPR > LA
] o 58 0L 00 286 0 A (L b B A 9 A
B o 48 R ) TR % 4 H O AT O £ (8 A
8o MEETI RN E % HEGE X 275 B
i B LR 8 52 Gy > MR
Re % BLA AL A P B A B R E AL
R Aty ol E/E SR A ON
1w S -

A% S 9 T 1 e T REL < B0 1 A B B o
) 57 A7 A MR W S i DA Y
PR R A SRSIAE S B

BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at
December 31, 2009 and 2008 have been arrived at on the
basis of valuations carried out on those dates by Savills
Valuation and Professional Services Limited (“Savills”), a firm
of independent qualified professional valuers not connected
with the Group, who have appropriate qualifications and
recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the
relevant locations. The valuations were arrived at with
adoption of the direct comparison approach by making
reference to comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant markets and where appropriate, by capitalising the
net rental income derived from the existing tenancies with
due allowance for reversionary incoming potential of the
respective properties.

All of the Group’s property interests in leasehold land and
buildings to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

4t Annual Report 2009

125



i B R M
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

14. 9% ~ B Kkt fli 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

KH S RER

## Equipment
#F Motor and st
Buildings vehicles  furniture Total
AEWTE  AR¥FT ARETT ARETZ
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

A COST
REEBENF—H—H At January 1, 2008 126,008 22,941 11,109 160,058
nE Additions 2,186 12,357 13,188 27,731
RETRKERA Transfer from properties under development

B upon completion of construction 24,115 - - 24115
i Disposals — (3,202) (709) (3,911)
& — W B A A Disposal of a subsidiary — — (13) (13)
REZEZFNEFZH=+—H At December 31, 2008 152,309 32,096 23,575 207,980
NE Additions 1,844 3,501 8,299 13,644
g YN Acquisition of subsidiaries — — 39 39
TR TR 4 Transfer from properties under development

BRTYFE upon completion of construction 17,591 - - 17,591
i Disposals (6,281) (124) (1,004) (7,409)
REZZENFFZH=+—H At December 31, 2009 165,463 35,473 30,909 231,845
RitiiE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
RoEZENE—H—H At January 1, 2008 13,272 9,029 4371 26,672
ERE MR Charge for the year 6,920 5,176 4788 16,384
A B4 8 Eliminated on disposals = (2,215) (336) (2,551)
i — KB A F Disposal of a subsidiary — — (1) )
RZFZNEFZA=ZF—H At December 31, 2008 20,192 11,990 8,822 41,004
FEEM Charge for the year 9,327 5,436 7,100 21,863
it 5 R 1 8 Eliminated on disposals (1,890) (117) (876) (2,883)
REZZNF+ZAZ1—H At December 31, 2009 27,629 17,309 15,046 59,984
e CARRYING VALUES
REFZNFE+ZA=1—H At December 31, 2009 137,834 18,164 15,863 171,861
REFZNE+ZAZ4—H At December 31, 2008 132,117 20,106 14,753 166,976
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BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

14. %% ~ BB Kt i @ 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
LA - BRI KR T B AR R L The above items of property, plant and equipment are
T AF S 5B Al R R 6 8 (5 4% DA B AR depreciated using the straight-line method after taking into
ik account of their estimated residual values at the following

rates per annum:

B 2 Al &t AT 68 4 0 204 Buildings Over the estimated useful lives

SR > DA Sy U of 20 years or the term of the
leases, if shorter

1 ) B 20% Motor vehicles 20%

W ERE 33% Equipment and furniture 33%

B P AE A B AR R AR The buildings are all situated on land in the PRC held under

BRA - medium-term leases.

AEER _FENER_FENELZ The Group had not pledged property, plant and equipment at

A=+~ EMECETY X - RS Kt December 31, 2009 and 2008.

i o
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

15. 88 R v 1) 5 B W 2B 15. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALES
“EERIE SRR\
2009 2008
ARWTF I AR T
RMB’000 RMB 000
A COST
i) At the beginning of the year 14,890,771 8,702,421
nE Additions 7,560,542 8,400,488
BRUER B ARRE, Additions through acquisition of
B I A R AR subsidiaries/additional
interests in subsidiaries 826,204 231,782
HE— KM EA R Disposal of a subsidiary (18,112) (858,990)
o LR EMMERE  Transfer from prepaid lease payments upon
commencement of construction 1,431,482 3,604,037
A 0 Transfer from deposit paid for
i 3 A ) 4% 4 acquisition of land use rights — 100,000
WL % R A B B ) 2 Transfer to properties held for sales (6,360,818) (5,264,852)
B TREHEYE - BB & Transfer to property, plant and equipment
i M upon completion of construction (17,591) (24,115)
i AR £ At the end of the year 18,312,478 14,890,771

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w
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15. 8 Rb M R )

BRI - B R R

BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

15. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALES

(Continued)

The properties under development are located in the PRC

MEREMST under medium-term lease and analysed for reporting purposes
as follows:
“RENAE ZEREZ )\
2009 2008
AR EF T AR ¥F o
RMB’000 RMB 000
ME Current 18,312,478 14,880,070
IE T B Non-current — 10,701
18,312,478 14,890,771

LB 8 2 K UL B 9 2 20 S A A
EVE IR S (FEWIEIE

AERENAFEFH=F—H o 5tA%
JERPES BRI EENRTHEAR
#5,778,000,0007C (—FF A4E © AR K
7,362,000,0007C) > 45 T B 4 s K
I R A 5 TR AT {8 R
{9 i T (-

The current portion and non-current portion represent
properties held for sales and property held for own use under
development.

Included in the properties under development classified as
current assets as at December 31, 2009 is carrying value of
RMB5,778 million (2008: RMB7,362 million) which represents
the carrying value of the properties expected to be completed
and available for sale after more than twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

16. T A AL L 3K K

T AR A B SR A B T (L9 7E R B R A Y
TR AT

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The carrying amount of prepaid lease payments represents
land use rights held in the PRC and is analysed as follows:

“RELE ZERE N\

2009 2008

AR¥F ARMTF i

RMB’000 RMB’000

4 Medium term 135,936 458,217
=W Long term 3,058,271 2,568,071
B Non-current 3,194,207 3,026,288

A A2 [ A A IR 4 A AE P B A A
T 404F & 704F TH 1A 1F 2% & e 5 1) 1 ot (fF
FRERT AT I » R ZFFNEFE T2
A=+—H AR B H %R
54 A R ¥ 2,110,150,0000C (= F & N\
0 N B 1,348,406,0007C) 19+ b

The Group’s prepaid lease payments represent payments for
obtaining the land use rights in the PRC with lease terms
ranging from 40 to 70 years for the purpose of development
for sale. The Group had not yet obtained the certificates of
land use rights of approximately RMB2,110,150,000 (2008:
RMB1,348,406,000) from the relevant authorities at December

e - 31, 2009.
17, 7% W65 5 2 vl 1y B Ak 17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
“ERNE SRR\
2009 2008
ARWTF I AR#BTF T
RMB’000 RMB 000
BEWRA - LT Cost of investments, unlisted 415 415
B B RS B s Less: Impairment loss recognised (414) (414)
1 1

REFFNFEFZA=Ft—HZBEL
i) 1 R 1 O B 42

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w

Details of the associates as at December 31, 2009 are set out
in note 42.
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BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

18. 77 3t I ¥ ) 2 8 9 HE 2 18. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
2 IR e YN

2009 2008

AR¥FL A B #F

RMB’000 RMB’000

RERA - I BT Cost of investments, unlisted 2,225,681 882,476

JRE A1l 1 4% ¥ ) Share of post-acquisition profits 148,153 49,992
2,373,834 932,468

R-ERAET A=+ - HZ R %
il B f 1 o 19 O B 42

HWEEZZNEFT A=+ —HILHF
JEE > A% B2 T B A BECER BEE BT 28.5 %6 1Y ik
T o A SE Y HE 4R R BE H 57.8% 0 &
29.3% o A B FE1F IS B Gk 6% 57 o B R R
5% AR BT 0 AL AR AR KA A Bl - &
B AR AT T 49 W) 5 6 (7] 2 o A2 B 1)
B 5 B A8 TSR > S A R S 47 A B B
1 3% [7] 78 ol 7 Y o

BEZFZANFE+ A=+ —HI%
> AL EGEERE M EARAA
(Il EgtE2]) “f’;éf}\%?%‘ansoooooﬁ
ORI 1 74 5 18.3% M B S ) > ML
EPAE%261,569,00071:E4JE_iémﬁ)ﬂt
— AF 398 i I e P RE I S A Y 4 4 T
A o

BEZFNFELT A=+ —HIEF
B AEEIRBREELEWE A A
COF V SRL ([COF V) & W % & & Iiff
J& /A A A P E AT R ] ([ AR P
B ) R RSUCER PE HE B R (B P
FED) B 70%0E 4 o i R AR o CED
VA B % RS V5 1 A S Y A (7] 2 o)
T (R 32 o

Details of the jointly controlled entities as at December 31,
2009 are set out in note 42.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Group
disposed of 28.5% equity interest in Chengdu Huixin. The
Group’s interest has decreased from 57.8% to 29.3%
accordingly. Details of which are disclosed in note 6.
Chengdu Huixin is still accounted for as a jointly controlled
entity since in accordance with the memorandum and the
articles of Chengdu Huixin, the joint venture partners have
contractually agreed the sharing of control over the financial
and operating policies of Chengdu Huixin.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Group injected
RMB317,800,000 into Shanghai Hengrui Real Estate Company
Limited (“Shanghai Hengrui”) as capital injection, representing
18.3% effective interest in Shanghai Hengrui, in which
RMB261,569,000 was injected by using the deposit paid for
acquisition of land use rights in prior year.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Group also
disposed of 70% interest of two wholly owned subsidiaries,
Chengdu Xixi Real Estate Company Limited (“Chengdu Xixi”)
and Chengdu Xixiang Real Estate Company Limited (“Chengdu
Xixiang”), through the disposal of a wholly owned subsidiary,
COF V SRL (“COF V”). Upon completion of the disposal,
Chengdu Xixi and Chengdu Xixiang became jointly controlled
entities of the Group (see note 32).
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2009

18. 7/ 3 1) 5 3 B 08 0 B 2 a0

18. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

HWE ZZAF+ _H=1+—HILF
JE > ARSEE DA N K ¥ 537,796,0007C )
AAB W I V1 1027 4% B W TR » A
4 [ 1 B 5 TR I 18.3% 3 £45.7% > i
AR 5 L i 1 A AR A T AR OR A K AT
H > A8 9 A A A7 5T 40 15 28 JE R 2 i
Vg A A Y A S BB UK i R A
A5 N B 9 A T 2 o

BE_FZFAET _A=Z+—HI#E
o AR BN RLA IR 1,037,018,00070
i £ 18 di B Northpole Intermediary
Limited ([ Northpole] ) ] 44.4444% & B I
BE o B R AR 9% Northpole ) £ 4% 7= 72 K 4
BANHL > &8 A A R4 e LR 2
#il Northpolefty ff ¥ J& %8 & BU K > &
Northpole /s A iz 51 1F It [m] £ 1 B #8 -

LIHE a5 € 55 51 MR 19 A 42 3 A5 36 ) %
il B A 5 ) B S B R BR RS AT

(Continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Group
acquired an effective equity interest of 27.4% in Shanghai
Hengrui. The Group’s interest has increased from 18.3% to
45.7%, at a consideration of approximately RMB537,796,000.
Shanghai Hengrui is still accounted for as a jointly controlled
entity since in accordance with the memorandum and the
articles of Shanghai Hengrui, the joint venture partners have
contractually agreed the sharing of control over the financial
and operating policies of Shanghai Hengrui.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Group also
acquired an effective equity interest of 44.4444% in Northpole
Intermediary Limited (“Northpole”), at a consideration of
RMB1,037,018,000. Northpole is accounted for as a jointly
controlled entity since in accordance with the memorandum
and the articles of Northpole, the joint venture partners have
contractually agreed the sharing of control over the financial
and operating policies of Northpole.

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s jointly controlled entities attributable to the Group’s
interest therein which are accounted for using the equity
accounting method is set out below:

“RELE ZEREN\E

2009 2008

AR¥F AR BT

RMB’000 RMB 000

i B Non-current assets 850,815 3,667
T E Current assets 2,837,805 1,966,160
B A Current liabilities (659,065) (678,056)
M E A E Non-current liabilities (655,721) (359,303)
A Income 573,145 335,928
B 3¢ Expenses (437,147) (272,703)

132 | Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. HE Wi #b 2 f K 2 &



o B U 5 AR B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

19. W) {3 i £ 8¢ W 19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
2 RS e AN
2009 2008
AR¥ T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I bR AR R S o A Unlisted equity securities, at cost 8,600 8,600
bt I b i RE AR % 4 B A AL b B A The above unlisted equity investments represent the
SR E MBI B EERS investments in unlisted equity securities issued by private
H R 3% SR 4 I A B A T (B4 R entities established in the PRC. They are measured at cost less
Ko AN EEER AR EEHA impairment at the end of the reporting period because the
AR S A R A R LA B range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that
k& - the directors of the Company are of the opinion that its fair
value cannot be reliably measured.
20. 4 % 20. INVENTORIES
“EFIF ZRE N\
2009 2008
AR¥T T AR#TF I
RMB’000 RMB 000
e R Construction materials 300,420 138,163
TH 25 K H A Consumables and others 628 489
301,048 138,652
20 %4 B R 21. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALES
AEENFELEWEMR PR - T f The Group’s properties held for sales are situated in the PRC.
FRAE & W) 2E 8 LLRUA 51 R o All the properties held for sales are stated at cost.
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

22 5 W e I B AL i M Wk 22. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
B~ 3 E R B K DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
BOEMREEEE LAY ENE - f Trade receivables are mainly arisen from sales of properties.
BA 6 W E 10 ARAE AR R A B R T R A Considerations in respect of properties sold are paid in
;o WE AR ARF4SH R accordance with the terms of the related sales and purchase
HESGHREAELMWETEEALZ agreements, normally within 45 days from the agreement.
2 B Consideration under pre-sale contracts will be fully received

prior to the delivery of the properties to the purchasers.

“EFhE ZERENE
2009 2008
AR¥T T AR #F
RMB’000 RMB 000
Z ) M W 5k Trade receivables 143,394 41,996
At 8 i BRI Other receivables, net of allowance
R R J8E A for doubtful debts 209,572 713,343
1] 4% RE 7R A K Advances to suppliers 246,246 111,824
TS B IH Prepaid tax 782,961 742,885
TH A SRIE K i % Prepayments and utilities deposits 724 1,549
1,382,897 1,611,597
AR 2 0% 9 7R B ) TR M T I R B The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables at the
#r end of the reporting period:
“EFhE —EFTNE
2009 2008
ARHTF AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
60H A Within 60 days 136,261 35,693
61% 180 H 61 - 180 days 4,652 4,389
1814 365H 181 - 365 days 2,481 1,435
1% 24F 1 - 2 years — 479
143,394 41,996
AZEFENFFTZA=ZT—H > 95% (= At December 31, 2009, 95% (2008: 85%) of the trade
TR 85%) H1E 5 e W 3k T B ot receivables are neither past due nor impaired and with
W E - HERERSANWE - satisfactory credit quality.
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22. M6 Ve e B 3G i M ek

B~ el BB K )

REoEENEFT A=+ —Hit AL %
@WELI&EE%M*’E%E’JE’EWEH&*NEZEEE
(B 5 % N R %7,133,0007C (—FF A
AR ¥6,303,00000) » B A AR
B> R ph R A A O B A A R B
T %R 3 3R ELA B A
a8 T B T 0 0 A 9 A i B A R Wik TE
SR > WA B I 0 R R A BE AR A
{ﬁ o

JA T A B M MR T 75 T [ B
L5 E A E RIS 2
RE 5 BERFORFEEE RN TEE) -
HAA % 5 AR B R R e M B o R
BEFEEZAR -

REEENETZHA=Z1—H » AR
AR T A B IR A K A A5 E R E)
BB AT AR R B 25 T IE B M B AR o S
FOEE A4 A R ¥#39,566,0000 (—F
ZE 0 N R ¥44,566,0000C) 0 R A
3 F 7 WA A fi A S R e AR
T A TR - B P4
5 1 A A o

At 88 SR L R R HE A A )

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

22. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Included in the Group’s accounts receivable balance are trade
receivables with a carrying amount of approximately
RMB7,133,000 (2008: RMB6,303,000) at December 31, 2009
which are past due at the end of the reporting period for
which the Group has not provided for as the Group has
retained the legal titles of the properties sold to these
customers at each end of the reporting period and the
estimated fair value of the relevant properties is expected to
be higher than the outstanding receivable amount.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the
Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to the
end of the reporting period. The concentration of credit risk
is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.

Included in other receivables mainly represented temporary
payments and miscellaneous projects related deposits paid
which are refundable when maturity, of which, approximately
RMB39,566,000 (2008: RMB44,566,000) was impaired as at
December 31, 2009 because the counterparties are in severe
financial difficulties and the Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances. The remaining balance was not
yet due for repayment.

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts on other

receivables:
e 2 YIRS “ETNE
2009 2008
AR T AR ¥ T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
) & B Balance at the beginning of the year 44,566 13,457
EROERSCAEN F Impairment losses recognised — 31,109
A TR E Wi B ) 5K0E Amounts recovered during the year (5,000) —
R & Balance at the end of the year 39,566 44,566
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For the year ended December 31, 2009

23. M W 3 Il o ) ok O

B Wi 3 (] £ o T 9 SO R E AT - B H
I — MR

24 BRI BT A7 K BRAT B
s B B 4

B HEH SR AT 77 3 AN RS RHE - 5 KA
THRATHAFR » DRy EHERE -
REBZERFTHA=Z1+—H » 30
B E AR 0.36% (= F T A
0.72%) o

RITEHRERSOHAREFANRE
B DB SRR = AR A BB B3 A7

& Rl T B S A7 AR R R £2.25%
(ZFFENE  FE3125%) -

25

24.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES

The amounts due from jointly-controlled entities are
unsecured, interest-free and are repayable within one year.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES
AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits are denominated in RMB which
represent deposits pledged to the banks to secure the
mortgage sales of property. The deposits carry fixed rate at
0.36% (2008: 0.72%) per annum at December 31, 2009.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
demand deposits with an original maturity of three months or
less.

The interest rates on cash placed with financial institutions
ranged from nil to 2.25% (2008: nil to 3.125%) per annum.

ZERNLE ZRE )N
2009 2008
AR¥F AR T
RMB’000 RMB 000
1i 5 W AT R AT Analysis of bank balances
G ER BB and cash by currency:

— LN R WHHE — Denominated in RMB 3,703,416 2,896,604
— D oEtE — Denominated in HKD 2,077,520 233,474

— b ([%£535]) — Denominated in United
FHE States dollars (“USD”) 1,020,637 98,719
6,801,573 3,228,797

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w
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BERZFMET_H=ZT—HILEE

For the year ended December 31, 2009

25. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND

ut B ACCRUED CHARGES
ZRELA ZET )N
2009 2008
AR¥Fx A R o
RMB’000 RMB 000
B 5 AT ROH K Trade payables and accrued
JRE 51 722 28 B S expenditure on construction 1,611,284 1,453,839
e A5F 5 % Bills payable 42,738 282,789
Bl e kY EHE Deposits received and receipt in
T WCHIE advance from property sales 13,340,989 10,959,662
L Afth 1R8£S BROE e e R Other payables and accrued charges 1,367,309 1,147,431
16,362,320 13,843,721

OV I VY g Y BRI
M K H AT B B B S JIR A
BRI IE B ST o AEECHIE
S5 B TSR DA R BT A M A K

JE AR ST IR A

LR 2 7 8 5 AR > B 5 B A E -
w5 B ST % A R R G R 0 AT

Trade payables and accrued expenditure on construction

comprise construction costs and other project-related

expenses which are payable based on project progress

measured by the Group. The Group has financial risk

management policies in place to ensure that all payables are

settled within the credit timeframe.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables and

accrued expenditure on construction and bills payable at the

end of the reporting period:

2 YIRS “EETNE

2009 2008

AR T AR ¥ T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

60 H A Within 60 days 1,396,739 1,491,136
61% 180H 61 - 180 days 142,015 205,148
181% 365H 181 - 365 days 76,478 23,882
1524 1 - 2 years 34,270 11,354
2% 34 2 - 3 years 2,499 5,108
o A8 34 Over 3 years 2,021 —
1,654,022 1,736,628
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

26 JEAT L e B K g 26. AMOUNTS DUE TO JOINTLY CONTROLLED

X ENTITIES/DIRECTORS
o H N REEHE > A IS - 2R The amounts are denominated in RMB which are unsecured,
Jo JE ¥ B AE interest free and repayable on demand.
27. 847 B A A K 27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
“RELE ZERE N
2009 2008
AR ¥F A R o
RMB’000 RMB’000
ST A LA Bank loans, secured 5,810,000 10,448,051
SRAT R WAL Bank loans, unsecured 2,240,310 2,312,700
HAb & - AL Other loan, unsecured 329,000 79,000
a2 > A LA Bond, secured 1,386,195 —
9,765,505 12,839,751
1B SRR LA BB R The borrowings are repayable:
“RELE ZERE N
2009 2008
AR%Fx ANRBF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
— A N R R Within one year or on demand 3,710,200 6,480,051
ZR—4F More than one year, but not
fH S 6 A8 T 4 exceeding two years 1,868,750 5,279,700
Z WA > H More than two years, but not
N A = A exceeding three years 2,800,360 1,080,000
B LA Exceeding five years 1,386,195 —
9,765,505 12,839,751
W RE AR R —ER Less: Amount due within one year
3| 1 3K shown under current liabilities (3,710,200) (6,480,051)
— AR 5 1) 3K 0E Amount due after one year 6,055,305 6,359,700
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27. 8447 B L ABAF K )

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

ZRENA ZET)NAE
2009 2008
AR #F ARMETF o
RMB’000 RMB 000

&I B WA Analysis of borrowings by currency:
— LA R¥EFHE - Denominated in RMB 8,691,295 10,884,550
— L JoEHE - Denominated in HKD 1,074,210 1,955,201
9,765,505 12,839,751

A 3 5 39 R 1 A T AT R A B DA
ak 34T AL A T AR AR -

AZEFZNET A= — B E RS
A 45 4 ) R A F3.08% 2 5.4% (ZFE
JVAE 6ﬁ%§7M%EM§§%ﬁ%AE
#1,483,210,00000 (= FFE N @ NRHE
2meWWD>I%¢%@E%Q¥E
FRJEB o R _FFERFET H =1 —
H Y S e A RS R E A
RGRAT B 0 A 2 1 o > BB AR A T
4.86%% 5.67% (= % F )\ 520%%
10.71%) - P ot A< 42 8 i 36 550 46 Ok 22 ) 3R
JR B

ACEENAERLALA » AEFBTA
& A B N K ¥ 1,400,000,00000 K& A4 i =
F—NERA I ABEERNES (T4
FLE ) o & AL 46,7 %1 [
EREFR > EEFE A RAEE ]
BEHF-NERLARLARE - RMEL
P2 1001 2L 2 (5% 26 - R =% —
POAEI H Z 1 H A > A% 4 [ 5 A1) 2R R
NG 158 5 B P R A R K 6.7% o B
RN JiEh IR ] 498 45 i T D e 4 4
nEH - FZEFEEBS (ARK
nmmmmWEﬁiﬁ 558 5 I bl

EHEUALEBNETYERLL
ﬂﬁﬁ%%%o

Certain bank and other loans as at the end of the reporting
period were secured by the pledge of assets as set out in note

34.

Borrowings include approximately RMB1,483,210,000 (2008:
RMB279,000,000) fixed rate borrowings which carry interest
ranging from 3.08% to 5.4% (2008: 6.75% to 7.47%) per annum
at December 31, 2009, and exposing the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. The remaining borrowings are arranged at
variable rate based on the interest rates quoted by the
People’s Bank of China, the effective interest rate is ranging
from 4.86% to 5.67% (2008: 5.20% to 10.71%) per annum at
December 31, 2009, and exposing the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk.

On May 5, 2009, the Group issued a bond of the principal
amount of RMB1,400,000,000 and will be repayable in full by
May 5, 2016, subject to early redemption. The bond bears
fixed coupon interest rate at 6.7% per annum for the first five
years payable semi-annually in arrears and is subject to an
one-off upward adjustment of up to 100 basis points
(inclusive) from May 5, 2014 at the election of the Group. On
April 25, 2014, the Group will determine the interest rate by
election of an upward adjustment to the interest rate or
maintain the interest rate at 6.7%, a holder of the bond then
may elect to redeem all or part of the bond at the face value.
A portion of such bond, RMB1,100,000,000, is listed and
traded on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The bond is secured
by certain properties and land use rights of the Group.
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For the year ended December 31, 2009

27. 8447 B oAb A% 3k ) 27.

BB BHER FENFET A
Et+—-HAWATFEHH AR
1,437,800,0007C ° fE 7 2 Eiii Kok B
i /NS - DEE = -l ol i ) )
WG -

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Management estimates the fair value of the bond at December
31, 2009 to be approximately RMB1,437,800,000. The fair
value of both the listed and unlisted portion of the bond had
been calculated with reference to the quoted market price of
the listed portion of the bond.

28. % A B fitk i 28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES
il e gE HAE
Number of Nominal
ordinary shares value
T # o
HK$°000
%E Authorised
RoEENE—H—H At January 1, 2008
(Fff 5E (a)(i)) (note (a)(1)) 500,000 50
AR B (B E (a) (i) Increase during the year (note (a)(ii)) 9,999,500,000 999,950
N EENFETH At December 31, 2008 and
ZE+—HR_ZZNE December 31, 2009
+—-HA=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
CH#AT R Issued and fully paid
RoEBENE—H—H At January 1, 2008
(B 5% (a) (i) (note (a)(Q)) 1,000 —
56 W A R AT IR A Issue of shares upon the Group
(B 5 (a)(i1)) Reorganisation (note (a)(ii)) 3,999,999.,000 400,000,000
e e YIS At December 31,
+—-H=+—H 2008 4,000,000,000 400,000,000
MR 2 k8 B B AT IRy Issue of shares by global
(B 5 (a)(iid)) offering (note (a)(iii)) 1,150,000,000 115,000,000
N EEJEFTH =1+ —H At December 31, 2009 5,150,000,000 515,000,000
Sy B R R Shown in the consolidated
financial statements
AOEENES H=+—H At December 31, 2009 SHEAR®T 452,972,000
RMB equivalent
WoEENE+F A =+—H At December 31, 2008 FHEAR®T 351,668,000

RMB equivalent
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28. % A K fifk i )
(a) BEA

(®

(ii)

RZEZEEF A+ —
H oo A2 m A BA 2 B 5 AT A
S ERREREMLAA - R
L Al = RN /NN 5 &
¥ 58 A B 50,0008 7T > 4 B
500,000/ & i 1 {E 0.109 7T B
LA o A R AR R A T

i #% M %% 47 T Codan Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited
([ Codan Trust)) (%3}
A) e [l H > 18 8% B Codan
Trust## 7% T Charm Talent > fi
599/t K 400 FBE 1 Fil 7 Jol A 3%
M #%17 T Charm Talent % Junson

Development International Limited

([ Junson Development]) (Fij ##
Previous Full International
Limited) °

MREAE AR O A ORI = F R
HAZTLHMZmRZESR
A I B B Bk
9,999,500,000/1% #7 iz > £ 50,000
% 70 3 2 1,000,000,000%5 IC

RIER - FEZNENH+—H
R OL W o T R R IR OR
Jo o 4 SRR A A AR A A
DL 48 € {8 3,201,155,089% T i
Longfor InvestmentZ: fi| % 3
1,200,000/% %% 800,000/ 5% #% %%
R My o

WRERZFENESAT—H
R L TR OE O A SRR
Aot R O8R %E e A A% R U Longfor
InvestmentsX JH 3,201,155,0897
JG 18 3 F Charm Talent & Junson
Development > DL i '8 5% 45 5% &
B AR BEATRA > MEEA
AAMZEREEET AL
o

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(a) Share capital

)

(ii)

On December 21, 2007,
incorporated as an exempted company with limited

the Company was

liability in the Cayman Islands. As at the date of
incorporation, the Company’s initial authorised share
capital was HK$50,000, divided into 500,000 ordinary
shares of par value of HK$0.10 each, of which 1
subscriber share was allotted and issued to Codan
Trust Company (Cayman) Limited (“Codan Trust”) as
the initial subscriber. On the same date, one share was
transferred from Codan Trust to Charm Talent and 599
shares and 400 shares were allotted and issued to
Charm Talent and Junson Development International
Limited (“Junson Development”) (formerly known as
Previous Full International Limited) respectively.

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing of the
shareholders of the Company on May 27, 2008, the
authorised share capital of the Company was
increased from HK$50,000 to HK$1,000,000,000 by the
creation of 9,999,500,000 new shares.

Pursuant to an agreement dated June 11, 2008, Madam
Wu Yajun and Mr. Cai Kui, the then shareholders and
directors of Juntion Development, transferred the
shares in Juntion Development of 1,200,000 shares and
800,000 shares, respectively, to Longfor Investment, at

a total consideration of HK$3,201,155,089.

Pursuant to two deeds of assignment dated June 11,
2008, Madam Wu Yajun and Mr. Cai Kui assigned the
amount of HK$3,201,155,089 due from Longfor
Investment to Charm Talent and Junson Development
for the purchase of the entire issued share capital of
Juntion Development which these companies then
assign the amount to the Company.

4t Annual Report 2009

141



142

s B s 2 B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

28. 5 A B fili i )
(a) A )

Longfor Investmentfit % [z %17 1
i T 2% 135 6 1 A MR B 4 48R
9 B B o DA 18 A A 4
I o

MR A A B ROR I 2 F )\ AF
ANAT— BN EE R
% JEff Charm Talent Junson
Development#8 % /4 3,201,155,089
WD &AL K AR
B 4 453,999,999,000 % A i
T E.0. 107 7G 19 3% %8 it -

(i) R=FFAE+—H > AnH

WREERARBEEEREEA
bR % o A2 BREE B 4 A R0
TG 119 1 4% 517 1,150,000,000 /8
B TG EL0. 1945 70 19 JBE 4 = A/ )
AR N BT T A A TE &
T 3 5 A 4 HE 4 o

(v) —FFNE—H—H BB

3 B 1 1B A 4 4 T AL D R
R B T AR RO AR o

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(a) Share capital (Continued)

Longfor Investment allotted and issued one share of
USD 1, credited as fully paid, in settlement of the
amount due from Longfor Investment to the Company.

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the shareholders
of the Company passed on June 11, 2008, the loans
due to Charm Talent and Junson Development in the
total sum of HK$3,201,155,089 were capitalised and
applied in paying up in full a total of 3,999,999,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each.

(iii) In November, 2009, 1,150,000,000 shares of HK$0.1

each were issued pursuant to the initial public offering
of the Company by way of Hong Kong public offering
and global offering at a price of HK$7.07 per share.
All the shares which were issued by the Company
during the year rank pari passu with each other in all
respects.

(iv) The share capital shown on the consolidated

statement of financial position at January 1, 2008
represented the combination of the share capital of
Juntion Development and the Company before the
Group Reorganisation.
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28. YE A B ik i a0
(b) fik i
CL R AR e

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
(b) Reserves

Name nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

() RO fE

“EFAFT A= —HE
By i 4 A 25 ) B O B

B 3 i 5 R 52 B 2 i I 0 D
HUE > AT A R R R (I
) AR R A K A R R
fELTT &« (a)SC 20 B Sk
BT BOR 5 ()8R #5817 T 1
it FBE SR DA AR 0 4800 AL B ) AR 2
ARBITBG  OFMERE
O3 T 3T Y A T (] R
E%%;@Mﬁ GRCE

(o) B AT A2 A e 4 2
ﬁ#%%ﬁjmwiﬁwﬁﬁ
A TR s RO R E R
o S A2 A AR AT A AR O
IR 26 T SR IR

BR T Y 2% BE R R A 0 R S
FCE BRI > A R AT AR
FH S5 T BT R B 5
AT B B i 5 M 1) B 2 JBE SR
fE A 7 73 IR 555 AE 1 B
M o

I

Share premium at December 31, 2009 represented
share premium of the Company.

The share premium account is governed by the
Cayman  Companies Law and may be applied by the
Company subject to the provisions, if any, of its
memorandum and articles of association in (a) paying
distributions or dividends to members; (b) paying up
unissued shares of the Company to be issued to equity
shareholders as fully paid bonus shares; (¢) the
redemption and repurchase of shares (subject to the
provisions of section 37 of the Cayman Companies
Law); (d) writing-off the preliminary expenses of the
Company; (e) writing-off the expenses of, or the
commission paid or discount allowed on, any issue of
shares or debentures of the Company; and (f)
providing for the premium payable on redemption or
purchase of any shares or debentures of the Company.

Provided that no distribution or dividend may be paid
to the equity shareholders out of the share premium
account unless immediately following the date on
which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be
paid, the Company will be able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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28. % A B Gl i a0
(b) 1 )
AR EE RS (4

(il) & A Al

RZFZEZNESAT—H &
i %£173,999,999,000 % 45 Fi 1 E
0.1 70 1 JBE 03 o8 A S M E 4 o
A A T B AT I A 1) T (B B
0% T 1 B A 4 A 2 T 25 A
A B AT -

(i) 4% Al 5k A6

HEZEZLET =1
HIEFE > mBERCH —K
I 4 B R 4w BB E W 4 3
e ([EERENMCENRE] T
A AN E K 770,000,000 TG
T A 7 i) 1 o 4% B BR % B B 4
+ R % 7 Ol R R Jy B RE A A
AR D BB R o A 4R B R
R HE ) A 2E 4R R Y BOHE 1 60%
HE291.3% » 17 A5 41 ic S 1) B 3
A B 620,672,0007C HI 48 B dic
i 4 SR 2 1 M M E (R
HIEEEEMIT S > BRI
o {85 TR T GRS M A A ON IR
gj o
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28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Reserves (Continued)

Name nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(i) Capital reserve

On June 11, 2008, the Group Reorganisation was
completed by issuing 3,999,999,000 shares of HK$0.1
each. The difference between the nominal amount of
the shares issued by the Company and the aggregate
amount of the share capital of Juntion Development is
debited to capital reserve.

(iii) Special reserve

During the year ended December 31, 2007, Juntion
Development injected additional capital of
HK$770,000,000 in a non-wholly owned subsidiary,
Chongqging Longhu Development Company Limited
(“Chongqing Longhu Development”) in which the
minority shareholders are Madam Wu Yajun and Mr.
Cai Kui, who are also the ultimate shareholders of the
Company. The Group’s equity interest in Chongqing
Longhu Development has increased from 60% to 91.3%
and a discount on deemed acquisition of
RMB620,672,000 which represents the excess of the
share of net assets attributable to the additional
interest acquired over the amount injected was
recognised in special reserve as the contribution from
equity owners.
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28. % A K fifk i )
(b) it fli (4
A EE RS (4

(iv) 5 & 50 kA

v)

TR B8 AE o BT 1 2 T B A
AMABRTERAN > ZEME
5 T ) 3 S 2R At A 4 L
BBk A A010% » B2 FEE
B FEME AR AI50% 4 1k o g =
7% fet e ZEUIS 10 HE 25 AT N ) R
BB Z HIE o W BB AR
AT AR AR R
R 0 AT 1 A8 S A
Wi J 2 B AN AR o

25 7 B0 G

S BN i A 9 B T 38 (a) T
TR B S RO 28 st
A B N A

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Reserves (Continued)

Name nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Statutory surplus reserve

)

In accordance with the articles of association of
certain subsidiaries established in the PRC, these
subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of the profit
after taxation to the statutory surplus reserve until the
reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital. Transfer
to this reserve must be made before distributing
dividends to equity owners. The statutory surplus
reserve can be used to make up for previous year’s
losses, expand the existing operations or convert into

additional capital of the subsidiaries.

Capital contribution reserve

Capital contribution reserve represents the fair value
of share awards under the Pre-IPO share award
scheme as set out in note 38(a).
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C8H =

For the year ended December 31, 2009
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For the year ended December 31, 2009

29 B HEBL I () 29. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

ME5E - Notes:

1. RZA G o wth e R BB B B U Bl 1. This represents the tax effect of the temporary difference arising from the
1) % BT A IR A ) BLS E o BLS treatment of the government grants between the accounting standard and
B M R S B AR S WO > (ELEEAT B S the tax bureau. Tax bureau treated the government grants as an income
IR B SBORT 8 B AF 5 i v 49 2 B SR but for financial reporting purpose, the government grants are treated as
Do deduction from costs of properties under development.

2. LA RRRE 0BR B Ak B ST E AR W IR 2 R 2. This represents the tax effect of temporary differences arising from the
BUHS 3 B o 7% S5 I T R A 8 M 45 15 9% deduction of the advertising expense. The Group can deduct its
F B {85 BH 32 o 1T A AT TR B9 F 4 () H advertising expense of no more than 15% of its revenue and for the part
AT S A% A ) 4 o that cannot be deducted, if any, it can be brought forward to the future

years.

MBS MBRIEE - & TREH For the presentation purposes of the consolidated statement

T (AR RS o LR A3t B 75 R of financial position, certain deferred taxation assets

5 T AR A A A B TE A AR A T (liabilities) have been offset. The following is the analysis of

the deferred taxation balances for financial reporting
purposes:

“EELE CEEAE

2009 2008

AR¥TFT ARBET T

RMB’000 RMB 000

I 4 Bl JE B Deferred taxation assets 227,702 347,960
% S E B R Deferred taxation liabilities (1,098,807) (731,486)
(871,105) (383,526)

4t Annual Report 2009
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BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

29 YE #iE BL I ()

RoFZRE+A=+—H > A%H
A # N R 155,286,0007C 19 1 51 K B)
o8 T s 480 W FH A I 88 R A B (RN
M NRH177,598,0000 © B ELATA R B
103,111,00075 F) fs 48 i 52 % 4 B0 8 28
(ZFEZNE - AR H126,122,0000 ° H
T S T A R AR TR o At B
T ARH52,175,00000 (= FF)VAE - A
[ #51,476,00070) e 53 48 4 Fi JE &
A HEFR BT i 4R 8 DA R AR BEE Y

29. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At December 31, 2009, the Group had unused estimated tax
losses of approximately RMB155,286,000 (2008:
RMB177,598,000) available to offset against future profits.
Deferred taxation assets have been recognised in respect of
approximately RMB103,111,000 (2008: RMB126,122,000) of
such losses. No deferred taxation asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining RMB52,175,000 (2008:
RMB51,476,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The unrecognised tax losses will expire in the
following years:

ZRENE TERT A

2009 2008

AR T ANR#T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

e o 2012 1,338 1,338
—E = 2013 49,865 50,138
ZE— N4 2014 972 —
52,175 51,476

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w
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REZBBAEHSAZT— B
For the year ended December 31, 2009

30. 5% 8 5 P BB 2§ B B 30. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND ASSUMPTION OF
e B R 3 £ 4 LIABILITIES THROUGH ACQUISITION OF
SUBSIDIARIES
BE-ZEZNET_H=1T—HILHFE During the year ended December 31, 2009, the net assets
FEE 37 38 i I A J 2 D i Y acquired through the acquisition of subsidiaries are
e summarised as follows:

WA IR R

Chengdu Chengdu  Beijing At
Xixi Xixiang Mengke Total

ARBFE ARWTIE ARWTIZ ARWTE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Bat1)  (MfzE1)  (BfaE2)
(Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 2)

PAAPfE & 7 5 0 Net assets acquired at fair value:

W - W RS Property, plant and equipment — 39 = 39
BT E Properties under development 376,228 449,976 — 826,204
A E Prepaid lease payments — — 459,983 459,983
iR AL B IE Deferred taxation assets 343 2,315 —_ 2,658
JRE Mg B A At fRE e Accounts and other receivables,

T - & REMFIE  deposits and prepayments 7,490 108,003 — 115,493
@Eﬁ Gk KB4 Bank balances and cash 120,699 4,512 17 125,228
MEATHR K » k%4 & Accounts payable, deposits

I =T % received and accrued charges (177) (134,246) (353,522) (487,945)
SRAT M A & Bank and other borrowings (180,000) — — (180,000)

324,583 430,599 106,478 861,660

T 2 2 B ) 2 Amount attributable to the Group

T A B and previously classified as

JRE £ 3 H interests in jointly controlled entities ~ (100,283) (128,899) —  (229,182)
BAE Total consideration 224,300 301,700 106,478 632,478
LTl EHE Satisfied by:
B4 Cash 224,300 301,700 106,478 632,478
7E AR WO Y B Net cash outflow arising on

IRIRE acquisition:

et & Cash paid 224,300 301,700 106,478 632,478

Wi i 4R AT 45 B S B & Bank balances and cash acquired (120,699)  (4,512) (17) (125,228)

103,601 297,188 106,461 507,250
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30. 5 38 £ BF W8 2 v o &

30. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND ASSUMPTION

vE B R AR )

i

e # > REBEZEEZNAET A =+—
= To e g i o e e N
W IR % 25 B 2 HEdR > NI BB NE=H =
ToHRAEEREWCERRE (AAAARE
91.3% i % 1 BB 28 /1) A 2 BB A & o BB P
BT T FSUA VG 1) B8 51 709% I A L ey A 42 T 43 3l DA
RAE A R H224,300,0000 & A R #301,700,00070
Wi i o

FfE2 :

AZERNFENA TR > ALEEERIEEB
HfE B A R (T a BE M R E ) o b
FHEZEA PR ) (THE TR ) Al 2 30 Fc o T i
B M b e A -

30 WOk B J 2 il i 28 A B i

BE_ZZNFT_HA=Z+—HIEF
B ARG DL A AN R H39,200,0007T ) A
A ST I 0 0 4 E E AT BRA T 8RR
3.9% 5 i HE o

BHEZZNEFT_A=+—HIE4%#
> AR LA N R 269,056,0007C
RAB B D BB R 5 5 18 %2 0 2
AR TR B 44.7% 00 BERE o R ZFF N
EF A=+ —H o AEB MK AT Z
2\ R ¥ 0241,674,00000 F9 B0H o R &
FNEFZA=Z+—H > REEP KT
£} R #216,674,000 T

WE_EZZNE+_H=+—HIL&F
BE > ARRAEE DUE AR % 10,000,0007T H
DE BRI L T EN T EEA RS
7% N 19%H0 B HE o

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w

31.

OF LIABILITIES THROUGH ACQUISITION OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Note 1:

After the disposal of Chengdu Xixi and Chengdu Xixiang during the year
ended December 31, 2008 as set out in note 32, the Group reacquired
the respective interests and they became wholly owned subsidiaries of
Chongqing Longhu Development, a 91.3% owned subsidiary, on March
31, 2009. The additional 70% equity interests in Chengdu Xixi and
Chengdu XiXiang had been acquired by the Group at a consideration of
RMB224,300,000 and RMB301,700,000 respectively.

Note 2:

On September 18, 2009, the Group, via Beijing Longhu Zhongbai
Properties Company Limited (“Beijing Longhu Zhongbai”) acquired and
assumed the above assets and liabilities through the acquisition of 100%
equity interest in Beijing Mengke Properties Co., Ltd. (“Bejing Mengke”).

ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS
IN SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Group
acquired the remaining effective 3.9% equity interest in
Chengdu Longhu Jincheng Real Estate Company Limited at
a consideration of approximately RMB39,200,000.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the remaining
44.7% equity interest in Xi’an Longhu Banpo Real Estate
Co. Ltd. has been acquired by the Group at a
consideration of approximately RMB269,056,000 from the
minority shareholders. As at December 31, 2008, an
amount of RMB241,674,000 was not yet paid by the
Group. As at December 31, 2009, RMB216,674,000 was still
not yet paid by the Group.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the remaining
1% equity interest in Beijing Longhu Zhongbai was
acquired by the Group at a consideration of
RMB10,000,000 from the minority shareholder.
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31. W Ju WY 0 2% il i 78 4 B 4

()

WE_ZFNFELT _HA=Z1+—HILF
JE > A4 E LR E A R #200,000,0007T
B /0 S RS B I T HE R AL A PR
2 TR R 2% M HE

HWE EZZNF+_A=+—HIF
JE o A4 DA E £ N R 231,972,000
TG 1 7D e R A HE W R B B R
PR/ FIBESN21.9% I e HE > LS T PR 45
Hi 46.6%3% % 68.5% °

BWE_ZFRFET A=+ —HILF
o AEER BB ERMEEEEA
BR A ) (T #h 5% ma 1) 28% 1 Bt HEA% - DA
B 4 N R 530,500,00000 H 4 B R
PR 3% P AR 5T 1% 0 B HE - EBUE R
THE i FH 28% 1 £85.1% ©

MR ZE AT EREFYRER > Bk
i 5% % WY B8 > ) A B A0 RE 2 4 4 7
f o DLV A 3R W SE AN AS - R
ZEENFEFZH =+ — H S A
BEREZ(ZZZNEFE - AARE
231,782,0007T) ©

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

31. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the remaining 2%
equity interest in Beijing Longhu Shidai Company Limited was
acquired by the Group at a consideration of RMB200,000,000
from the minority shareholders.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the additional
21.9% equity interest in Chengdu Longhu Tongjin Real Estate
Company Limited was acquired by the Group, resulting in the
increase in effective interest from 46.6% to 68.5%, at a
consideration of approximately RMB231,972,000 from the
minority shareholders.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the additional
57.1% equity interest in Changzhou Jia’nan Properties Co.,
Ltd. (“Changzhou Jia’nan”) was acquired by the Group,
following the initial investment of 28% equity interest in it,
the effective interest has increased from 28% to 85.1%, at a
consideration of RMB30,500,000 from the minority
shareholders.

Since these companies are principally engaged in the property
development, the acquisitions of additional interests in these
subsidiaries were therefore regarded as acquisition of assets
which resulted in additional costs for properties under
development. The total amount of the additional cost as at
December 31, 2009 was nil (2008:

RMB231,782,000).

approximately
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32. i 45 I ) 4 vl

BEZFNET A=+ —H1L%E
JE > ASEE DL AT N R 56,833,000 3 4
RIE > WELEWE AR il L g
A BR 2 ) 9 100% M HE T — % 8 1 5 =
J o

BHEZENETA=Z+—HI4E
B AREEDIETHBERE > hER
Fr 2 G W8 /A 51 COF V (£ A B #S 75 22 J
BESFERETO%ME 25 > 7% T 25 2 7S P I A
S LAY E) AT — 48
S =7 o R HE COF VA > AR 7 B
T HR VG FE R T 309% 1 £ 475 H 48 M2 | K5
A7 o T B A A A T Y 3 [ 4% o R A o

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Group
disposed of its 100% equity interest in a wholly owned
subsidiary, Shanghai Wanzhuo Investment Limited, at a cash
consideration of approximately RMB56,833,000 to an
independent third party.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Group
disposed of its 100% equity interest in a wholly owned
subsidiary, COF V, which holds 70% interest in Chengdu Xixi
and Chengdu Xixiang, companies established in the PRC and
engaged in property development, at a cash consideration of
US$1 to an independent third party. Subsequent to the
disposal of COF V, the remaining 30% interest in Chengdu
Xixi and Chengdu Xixiang are still held by group companies
and they became jointly controlled entities of the Group.
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32. 1 B HHB A A 32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
A2 H o R W A R E The net assets of subsidiaries at the date of disposal are as
o follows:
“EFNE TERENGE
2009 2008
AR T ARMT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEZ EEFE Net assets disposed of:
Y3 ~ RS B s A Property, plant and equipment — 12
AT OH Prepaid lease payments 271,708 —
iR AE B IH Deferred taxation asset — 861
78 Inventories — 802
B Properties under development 18,112 858,990
JRE e iR 3k S Lt B e 3R T Accounts and other receivable,

1% 4 T T A 30H deposits and prepayments — 17,010
AT &5 % S Bl & Bank balances and cash 142 2,616
JEATRR K - E i K Accounts payable, deposits received

e &+ 2 and accrued charges (222,596) (3,249)
JRE A A £ (8 G Al Amounts due to the other

B OA entities of the Group — (532,827)
E ARF 38 7] 5 Amounts due to jointly

B 20A controlled entities — (103,780)
JRE A5} o JE Taxation payable — (3,814)

67,366 236,621
& R Loss on disposal (10,533) (5,787)
A S B HL AR £ X The Group’s remaining interests
M 1 Sk IR 42 and classified as interests in
B A BE 25 jointly controlled entities — (230,834)
HARAE Total consideration 56,833 —
L F 7 R Satisfied by:
Bl Cash 56,833 =
B R Y B AR Net cash inflow arising from disposal:
HenE Cash consideration 56,833 =
2 GRAT A IR R B4 Bank balances and cash disposed of (142) (2,616)
56,691 (2,616)
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3338 4 4 A it 3

R o B AR B A SR AR
e [ B 2 ) ZE 2 e Oy T O A R
() 57 7 1 SR IR EH B o AR I o
Ji& o~ 7 i) %t 44 Bk DL T R BB K
AR o %A R B A8 b O T UM R B
TR BH NG T H S WEE - A
A LA B AR PR B R
AR wt B AF B 4K o

A SR B IR o L BT A T A A R BB
o 1 R 8 B R o RN E TS 2
wE N FE T B L 4 SELA 4R I ) B ) B
oo AL K AR B Y%A B H & R Y
5%1e) % wt B K -

WE ZENF+ _H=+T—HILF
BE o R 4R e AR R R AR A AR AN R
36,256,000 (— & Z N F : AR
28,260,0007C) ©

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w

33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to participate in a
defined contribution retirement scheme administrated by the
local municipal government. The Group’s PRC subsidiaries
contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentage
of the average employee salary as agreed by local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of
the employees. The principal obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustee. The Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which contribution is
matched by employees.

The Group recognised the retirement benefit costs of
RMB36,256,000 (2008: RMB28,260,000) for the year ended
December 31, 2009.
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34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The following assets were pledged to secure certain banking

and other facilities granted to the Group and mortgage loans

B &Y H R IR HER to buyers of sold properties at the end of the reporting
period:

“EFZhE “EENE
2009 2008
AR T ARHT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
REYE Investment properties 3,286,338 2,945,732
AT B Prepaid lease payments — 554,567
BRI X Properties under development 8,081,396 8,793,468
FfEd &Y% Properties held for sales 10,553 9,713
AT SR AT A 3K Pledged bank deposits 496,208 605,379
11,874,495 12,908,859

Br Bt F AN RoERAEL A =L
—H o AR R R R A R (LA
Jasmine Spread Investment Limited »
Everbay Investment Limited * Silver Oak
Enterprises Limited% Join Dragon
Limited) i) i 6 15 £ 2 + 8147 /il %5 9 48
5 o

ERMFRARBE_ZTTNET A=
t— B IR R -

Other than the above, certain banking facilities are secured by

a charge over the shares of Juntion Development and

subsidiaries, including Jasmine Spread Investment Limited,

Everbay Investment Limited, Silver Oak Enterprises Limited
and Join Dragon Limited, at December 31, 2008.

The shares charged were released during the year ended

December 31, 2009.
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5. R 35.

A 5 AR th LA

2 T SE 00 s SR L 4 T AR 4 LS R BRI
BEHRNLETASLEE  #HE_ZZF
FE+ T H =+ —H IR FERERERR A s A
A% 25 A\ R 8 27,548,00000 (— %
TNE 0 AR #16,622,00070) o A 4E [
FEM e Ry Eampn—2 =+
FERHE -

AR > AL B S BT R
A d IR B FHFT B0

LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as a lessor

Contingent rental for certain properties was determined by a
certain percentage of turnover earned by the tenants. The
contingent rental income recognised during the year ended
December 31, 2009 amounting to approximately
RMB27,548,000 (2008: RMB16,622,000). The properties held
by the Group for rental purpose have committed tenants from
one to twenty years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments

as follows:
ZRENE e N2
2009 2008
A R o5 AR+ i
RMB’000 RMB 000
—4E R Within one year 200,839 131,810
BB R In the second to fifth year inclusive 440,797 335,920

(L1 H B WE)

HAER After five years 499,981 539,744
1,141,617 1,007,474

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w
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5. K @ 35. LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)
A A R AR LN The Group as a lessee
TA R SR > A 4 AR 8 R T RO £ At the end of the reporting period, the Group had future
FH 4 3 A7 A AL B 4 26 A B9 oA A o AR AL minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating
BT leases in respect of leased properties are as follows:
2 RS e AN
2009 2008
AR ¥ T AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
— 4N Within one year 14,131 15,394
BERE R In the second to fifth year inclusive 21,951 23,870
(B4 & B Wi 4F)
AR After five years 4,663 —
40,745 39,264
R M B SE AR A SR WAL T A Y Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
AT IR & o A0 & 07 2 L I R 4 Group for certain of its office premises. Leases are negotiated
—H HAE S MR EIHE R EZ for an average term of one to twenty years and rentals are
H e - fixed at the date of signing of lease agreements.
36. 745 36. COMMITMENTS
AWK > AL A LT RS At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the

following commitments:

“EFhE “ETNE
2009 2008
AR T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ERTAHERR LGS Contracted for but not provided for in the
B 5 3 o A o A consolidated financial statements:
— 6 B R ) SE Y BH S - Expenditure in respect of
properties under development 6,043,737 5,170,495
— 1 B8 i - 5 R Y - Expenditure in respect of
B XX acquisition of land use rights 8,533,238 3,231,372
— I i — [H] B JB 2 1 £ 2 A - Acquisition of additional interest
1 4 in a subsidiary 109,100 —
14,686,075 8,401,867
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3. KRB

AL A LB OB ERN EE N
10 4 4 4R AT 8 3R 4R AT HR AR AR 0 B%
SGERMVESEFER-ZZNEFET_H =71
—H#15 N R #2,686,846,0000C (. F %
JVEE 0 N R #2,204,667,00000) © A T
FHERE > AEBZEMHERSGAN
AN TAE ) I R R A R AR
R BTV T A A 0 AT RE R
N s TG B R A B B IR DA R — &
ENFELR_FENET A =+—HK
e A R M e RR AR (E

AL AT R A LB EAR
ZRATEHIER o ZERERINE KL
W) 3K SR B 4% 42 ) 3 X R 58 IR AR AT
fif B -

i B 1R

Mortgage guarantees

37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided guarantees amounting approximately
RMB2,686,846,000 (2008: RMB2,204,667,000) as at December
31, 2009 in respect of mortgage bank loans granted to
purchasers of the Group’s developed properties. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair values of
these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the directors of the
Company consider that the possibility of the default of the
parties involved is remote, accordingly, no value has been
recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and at
the end of the reporting period as at December 31, 2009 and
2008.

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured
by the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees
will be released by banks upon the delivery of the properties
to the purchasers or completion of the relevant mortgage
properties registration.

ZERNE ZRET I\

2009 2008
A R¥TF ANRBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
2,686,846 2,204,667

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w
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38. DA B Ay 2 FE B i 1 3k 58 )

DAHE 2 45 7 060 Mot 3 5 i Mt
il

a.

U2 B B Ty 5 M it
A E) I T R U2 B R B
S ar B (T 3SR at 81 0) T AR 92
R_FFLFEFT—-A=ZtTHEE=F
FREELA=ZFT—HEBRRER
PRAN o MU B0 BE B A B > AL )
A ) RS TR R
A F A (TSER AR )) o Bedh
38R & 5 A (08 B 45 SEA A A
MiE—3 - B BD = AR L
B IRB R EAE M ER -

BER -ZFEZLET—A=THRK
MEEE o R _RELET—H =
+ B A% 5 A T R A O
CERBNERZEENFEL A=
+ — H % 64,014,000 (€215 ] %
F 4% 116,749,000/ e ) - fh% H A
O ) B 1.6% o 5% B R0 5T A B R
Wtz st NFEA o BRI A 1Y 5L
AR - BB TR B Y 5% % 4
A R R H A0 45 AR B
B - HEE A YA - EEIE
—H—H -

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share award/share option schemes:

Pre-IPO share award schemes

The Company’s two Pre-IPO share award schemes (the
“Share Award Schemes”) were adopted pursuant to a
resolution passed on November 30, 2007 and July 31, 2009
respectively. Under the Share Award Schemes, the
Company has awarded the Company’s shares (the
“Awarded Shares”) to directors of the Company and certain
employees of the Group. The objective of the Share Award
Schemes is to align the interests of the employees with
those of the Company, to share the pride of ownership
among employees and to reward their performance and
contribution to the Group.

Under the scheme adopted on November 30, 2007, the
total number of shares in respect of which Awarded Shares
had been granted on November 30, 2007 and remained
was 64,014,000 (including 6,749,000 shares granted to
directors) as at December 31, 2009 and 2008, 1.6% of the
shares of the Company at that date. The Awarded Shares,
subject to a vesting period, are being held by the trustee.
The vesting period is either four or five years during
which the award shares granted to employee will vest on
each anniversary of the first vesting date in equal portions.
The first vesting date is January 1, 2009.
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38. DB Ay 2 FE 08 B 1k 22 B

(#)
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Equity-settled share award/share option schemes:
(Continued)

a. Pre-IPO share award schemes (Continued)

Under the scheme adopted on July 31, 2009, the total
number of shares in respect of which Awarded Shares had
been granted on July 31, 2009 and remained outstanding
was 30,000,000 (including 7,363,000 shares granted to
directors) as at December 31, 2009, representing 0.58% of
the shares of the Company as at December 31, 2009. The
Awarded Shares, subject to a vesting period, are being
held by the trust of the ultimate shareholders. The vesting
period is four years during which the award shares
granted to employee will vest on each anniversary of the
first vesting date in equal portions. The first vesting date is
July 31, 2010.

The weighted average fair value of the shares granted on
November 30, 2007 and July 31, 2009 were
RMB116,050,000 and RMB71,250,000 respectively and were
determined using a mix of asset-based and market
approach with option-based pricing model is adopted to
account for the vesting condition. The significant inputs
into the model were estimated fair value of shares at the
grant date, expected dividend pay out rate, annual risk-
free rate and volatility rate. The volatility is measured
based on past years historical price volatility of similar
companies listed on the SEHK.

The Group recognised an expense of RMB39,861,000 and
RMB47,626,000 for the years ended December 31, 2009
and 2008 respectively in relation to shares awarded by the
Company. The shares awarded by the Company will be
settled with the existing shares held by the trust of the
ultimate shareholders. Accordingly, the respective amounts
were credited to capital contribution reserve.
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38. DA IBe A 2 2E B W A ik 58 B 38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(% (Continued)
DIHE 35 45 55 10 Iy S8 D s ¢ Equity-settled share award/share option schemes:
at @l (4 (Continued)
a. B KO BB IRy 5 D S a. Pre-IPO share award schemes (Continued)
()
A TR BT 452 L B A 5 B 2 AR R e Ak AR The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during
LI the year are as follows:
i I 40 47 41
ety 4 B 9 H Contractual
Number of 5 E life of
share awards  Vesting Conditions options
o) B % L A B
Share Awards granted to directors:
-RZFZtEE+—-A=1H 6,749,000 HRLHMEE_FENF—H—HE 25% +4
- on November 30, 2007 25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2009 10 years
LR E R —FE——H & 25% +4
25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2010 10 years
HROAMEE - F——F—J—HE25% i
25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2011 10 years
AREAMEE - F——F—H—H25% T4
25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2012 10 years
-RZFFRELA=T—H 7,363,000 HAREHBRE-Z-FFELA=1—HH25% +4
- on July 31, 2009 25% from the date of grant to July 31, 2010 10 years
AR A MBEE —F——FLA=+—H A 25% T4
25% from the date of grant to July 31, 2011 10 years
AR AMEE-F -2 LA=1+—HR25% T
25% from the date of grant to July 31, 2012 10 years
AREHPER —F—-=FtN=+—HR25% i
25% from the date of grant to July 31, 2013 10 years
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38. DB Ay 2 S 0t B 1 3k 38 ) 38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(#) (Continued)
DI HE 35 45 55 0 I > S D I ¢ Equity-settled share award/share option schemes:
at#l (4) (Continued)
a. B KO B BB TR Gy 5 D a. Pre-IPO share award schemes (Continued)
(4
S I 5 40 41 1
B 43 4 i 4 Contractual
Number of 5 itk life of
share awards  Vesting Conditions options
1] {8 45 i P 52 B -
Share Awards granted to employees:
-REZFZLEF—-A=FH 57,265,000 HEL HHEEZFRHE—H —H A 25% T4
- on November 30, 2007 25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2009 10 years
B R R —FE— ] —H & 25% T4
25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2010 10 years
AR AR E = F ——F—HA—HA 25% i
25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2011 10 years
ARG AREE-F—"F—H—Hk25% T4
25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2012 10 years
-REZFFNEFELA=1—H 22,637,000 BEEHAMEE-Z-FELA=T—H5 25% T4
- on July 31,2009 25% from the date of grant to July 31, 2010 10 years
AREAMEE - F——FLA=+—H525% T4
25% from the date of grant to July 31, 2011 10 years
AR HHEE - F——FEA=+—H A 25% 4
25% from the date of grant to July 31, 2012 10 years
BEHAMEE —F—=FLA=1T—H% 25% T4
25% from the date of grant to July 31, 2013 10 years
2 1Y i 1 58 94,014,000

Total share awards

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w
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38. DA B Ay 2 FE B i 1 3k 58 )

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(#H) (Continued)

DIHE 35 45 55 10 Iy S8 D s ¢ Equity-settled share award/share option schemes:
at @l (4 (Continued)

b, E R B B I R RE b. Pre-IPO share option scheme

AR F IR YU T R R AR A
B (TE W B35 A B RE st 1))

TIRER —FELFE+—A=1H
R —HR AR R EEH
g AEMER LG EKERR
PESE M o R TR R E e
Ft—H=t—BE2ANFAKRMEE
PR BB iR & o 2 B ([ £ A
1) 0 Al — 8 % 3 H Lk B 44 2%

The Company’s Pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-
[PO Share Option Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a
resolution passed on November 30, 2007 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible
employees of the Group, and options can only be offered
and granted from November 30, 2007 until the business
date before the date on which dealings in the Company’s
share first commence on the SEHK (“the Listing Date”).
Under the Pre-IPO share Option Scheme, the directors of

TR o MR E R BH B i R the Company and its subsidiaries were granted options to
At ANERHMEARHERED subscribe for shares in the Company. The term of the Pre-

M 152 7 5 B A R R 0 A RE o
TR 4 BB A R T B g R
2 H B 104 o

AEELFTL—A=Z1TH > O
H 1 P R O % M £ B H £937,940,000
i ( @%rﬁ%%ﬁﬂmssswooﬂﬁﬂ&
) o RZFFNAERZFEZNEL
—“H=+— Hﬂﬂ%ﬁ(ﬁmm&%ﬁﬁ
i PG HEE 5T ) 8 452 o T A3 R A 00 Y
TR HE W I B 1y 0 H 4% 37,940,000/
U T - NNl
0.95% o

A REAT B AR A & UK B % 45 i

IPO share Option Scheme is 10 years from the date of
adoption.

On November 30, 2007, 37,940,000 shares (including
15,588,000 shares granted to directors) of option were
granted. The number of shares in respect of which options
had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as at December 31, 2009
and 2008 was 37,940,000, representing 0.95% of the shares
of the Company following completion of the Group
Reorganisation.

The total number of the Company’s shares which may be

HﬂgﬁJr%J A ) I At 9 i HE issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
Bl 1 BT A PR T AT R A the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and other share option
O E B R AR B H schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the

B AN ) BB AT R AR 10% o

AT R AT B AR A 1 A B i
e B T ) e A ) I L Al i R E T
B L 452 L AT R AT T A B T
m’* W B (0 B E BB BR ] - A
15 308 A IRF O 347 R0 (K930% ©

aggregate of the shares of the Company in issue at the
Listing Date.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme and other share option scheme of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to
time.
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38. DB Ay 2 FE 08 B 1k 22 B

(#)
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Equity-settled share award/share option schemes:
(Continued)
b. Pre-IPO share option scheme (Continued)

The vesting period of the share options is as follows:

25%:  from the date of grant to January 1, 2009
25%:  from the date of grant to January 1, 2010
25%:  from the date of grant to January 1, 2011

25%:  from the date of grant to January 1, 2012

The fair values of the share options were calculated using
the binominal model. The inputs into the model were as
follows:

Date of grant November 30, 2007

Estimated share price RMB1.97
at the date of grant
Exercise price Initial at HK$6.46 (amended
to HK$2.94 effective
from January 1, 2009)

Expected volatility 55%
Expected life (year) 10 year with different
vesting periods
Risk-free rate 3.2%
Expected dividend yield Nil
Range of fair value Range of RMB0.817 to RMB0.83

at initial recognition
(amended to range of
RMB1.074 to RMB1.120 as
a result of amendment

of exercise price on

January 1, 2009)

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the similar listed companies’ share prices over

the previous one year.
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38. DA IBe A 2 2E B W A ik 58 B 38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(% (Continued)

DIHE 35 45 55 10 Iy S8 D s ¢ Equity-settled share award/share option schemes:

at @l (4 (Continued)

b, U BH B IR RE S (4) b. Pre-IPO share option scheme (Continued)
BEZFFNET A=+ —HIE The Group recognised the total expense of RMB12,941,000
GERE s AR B AS A R IR R (2008: RMB12,513,000) for the year ended December 31,
T THE 8 A8 S A R 12,941,000 2009 in relation to share options granted by the Company.
(= ZE N AR 12,513,000
Jo) e
A TN I 4% T R 2 Mk K B Ak A The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during
L the year are as follows:

Ji T M 0 42200
Ji P HE 5 H Contractual
Number of 5 JH i+ life of
Options  Vesting Conditions options
] o 55 A5
Share Options granted to directors:
-RZFZEE+—A=1+H 15,588,000 HIRXLHMEE “FENF—H—HEH 25% T4
- on November 30,2007 25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2009 10 years
RS R —FFE——H & 25% +4
25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2010 10 years
ARt A MEE - F——F—A—H k2% i
25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2011 10 years
AREAMEE - F——F—H—H25% T4
25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2012 10 years
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38. DA I By B 2R W 1)k 3 5 38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(#) (Continued)
DI HE 35 45 55 0 I > S D I ¢ Equity-settled share award/share option schemes:
at#l (4) (Continued)
b, H KA BH B R R S (4 b. Pre-IPO share option scheme (Continued)
I P R 5 24 4 340
i B HE O H Contractual
Number of 5 Bkt life of
Options  Vesting Conditions options
1] ¢ B 4% i J i 1
Share Options granted to employees:
-REZFFLEF—-A=FH 22,352,000 BEEHAMEEFZNFE-A—HEH25% T4
- on November 30,2007 25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2009 10 years
ARG AMEE-F-FE—A—H 5 25% e
25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2010 10 years
AR HHEE T ——F—H—HA 25% T4
25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2011 10 years
AR e % -~ —H % 25% T4
25% from the date of grant to January 1, 2012 10 years
REFENERFFHE 37,940,000

T2 = R
Total share options at December
31, 2008 and 2009

S LIN
TZA=Z+— A NIL
Exercisable at December 31, 2008

#OFENE
TZAZT—Hufrff 9,485,000
Exercisable at December 31, 2009
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38. DA B Ay 2 FE B i 1 3k 58 )
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BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Equity-settled

share award/share option schemes:

(Continued)

C.

Post-IPO share option scheme

The Company’s Post-IPO share option scheme (the “Post-
[PO Share Option Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a
resolution passed on November 1, 2009 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible
employees of the Group. Under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme, the directors of the Company and its subsidiaries
were granted options to subscribe for shares in the
Company. The term of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
is 10 years from the date of adoption.

On December 23, 2009, options to subscribe 10,600,000
shares were granted. The number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme as at December
31, 2009 was 10,600,000 (including 9,600,000 shares
granted to directors), representing 0.21% of the shares of
the Company as at December 31, 2009.

The total number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the scheme and other share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate of the
shares of the Company in issue at the Listing Date.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and other share option scheme of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to
time.
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38. ey By L E MY AL Ak R B
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ah#
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i A R N
25%: HEBEHEZHEE - F—-F4E
+—-HA=-+=H
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il S MR B 2 T (B TS B ) T AR
At e A AT

RUHM  CEELF

i H AR ¥7.3470
11 i 18
T8 N R #8.4470
FHEE  2.62%
HEMES 104 BARM
(4F) 55 & 1
HERER 20%
NTEEE HTAR¥4030
# NR #4460

T W 5 R[] 8 T R A AE
A A8 A — 4 1 JE S I R

BE_EZNFET A =1+T—HIE
AR AR A B RS O A
58 48 S N R %430,0007T -

168 | Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. HE Wl #b 2 f K 2 &

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Equity-settled share award/share option schemes:
(Continued)

c. Post-IPO share option scheme (Continued)

The vesting period of the share options is as follows:

25%:  from the date of grant to December 23, 2010
25%:  from the date of grant to December 23, 2011
25%:  from the date of grant to December 23, 2012

25%:  from the date of grant to December 23, 2013

The fair values of the share options were calculated using
the binominal model. The inputs into the model were as

follows:
Date of grant December 23, 2009
Share price at the RMB7.34
date of grant
Exercise price HK$8.44
Expected volatility 2.62%
Expected life (year) 10 years with different

vesting periods
Expected dividend yield 20%
Range of fair value RMB4.03 to RMB4.46

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of similar listed companies’ share prices over the
previous one year.

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB430,000
for the year ended December 31, 2009 in relation to share
options granted by the Company.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(% (Continued)
DIHE 35 45 55 10 Iy S8 D s ¢ Equity-settled share award/share option schemes:
at @l (4 (Continued)
c. HURA B B AR I i BE ) c. Post-IPO share option scheme (Continued)
CANVRFEY 1ie AT 94 I The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during
I the year are as follows:
I I 5 4 4 340
i T HE W Contractual
Number of & & ¥ ft life of
Options  Vesting Conditions options
1) 2 2 £ )
Share Options granted to directors:
-REFFRETZAZHZH 9,600,000 HRLHMEE-F-FFEFAZTZHE 25% R
- on December 23,2009 25% from the date of grant to December 23, 2010 10 years
ARG ASMEE " F——FE+ A2 +=H A 25% +4
25% from the date of grant to December 23, 2011 10 years
ARG EHEE - F-"F+ A +=H%A 25% i
25% from the date of grant to December 23, 2012 10 years
ARG AMEE - F-=F+ A2 +=H A 25% 1k
25% from the date of grant to December 23, 2013 10 years
1] 8 B 4% i I -
Share Options granted to employees:
-REFFAEFAZF=H 1,000,000 EREAMERE-Z—FFE+ZH T =HE 25% +4
- on December 23,2009 25% from the date of grant to December 23, 2010 10 years
ARG ASMEE " F——FE+ A2 +=H A 25% +4
25% from the date of grant to December 23, 2011 10 years
AREHMEE R+ A H=HA 25% 1k
25% from the date of grant to December 23, 2012 10 years
ARG AMEE T8+ A"+ =00 25% +4
25% from the date of grant to December 23, 2013 10 years
Jil T HE 2 10,600,000

Total share options
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39. W H T R 5 39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
WAk LA 5 B R D R 3R e B RE23 2 26 Apart from the balances with related parties set out in the
) B 22 7 &5 R A0 > B4R N > A SR BRI consolidated statement of financial position, and in notes 23
BE RIS TERLS ¢ and 26, during the year, the Group entered into the following

significant transactions with its related parties:

(a) 3t W] ¥ il (a) Jointly controlled entities
“EFNE ZERENE
2009 2008
AR T I ANRWBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EL kS Sales of properties 35,564 6,706
EiEiE {LUN Consultancy fee income 13,000 5,370
) 265 B A Property management income 4,708 3,226
(b) 1= A H (b) Associate
“EFNE ZERENE
2009 2008
AR T ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
B - WS &M Purchases of property, plant and equipment — 101
(c) — i bt} g 2 W] A BB 3R (c) Minority shareholder of a subsidiary
“EFhE ZERENE
2009 2008
AR¥T T AR #F
RMB’000 RMB 000
E L b Consultancy fee expense — 2,000
i B M 25 Shareholder’s loan interest — 539
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39. BT R G )

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) FEE PG R R (d) Key management and shareholders
“RENE ZEE N4
2009 2008
AR ¥EF AR ¥F o
RMB’000 RMB’000
] g Sales of properties to key management
i TG 4y and shareholders 33,423 —

(e)

()

(8)

BB A E
8 00— 2 R R 00

PR - B KR SEIE A B
J& o o B AU o ZARIEE R

FEAE T = — AR
% o

T AR R L AT B AR AR A D R A
J& (IR B AR 28 ) B 35 ) B 3 B AR
B 5E10 ©

“EEAEAAZTH > AEEBR
R AR TR T 4 A R CHL 4 o
IR By A ) B 5 B 40 0 ) A8
BW & Hm W — %8 AT
100,000,000%5 7C ) BF 75 4 ff o 3% 4%
RERZZFZNELT_H=1T—H
BBUR B o

(e)

(®

(g)

Amount due from a minority shareholder of a subsidiary as
at December 31, 2008 was unsecured, interest-free and
repayable based on the progress of development and sale
of a property project. The amount had been fully repaid as
at December 31, 2009.

The remuneration paid and payable to the key
management of the Company who are also the directors of
the Company for the year is set out in note 10.

On June 30, 2009, the Group issued a financial guarantee
of HK$100,000,000 to a bank in respect of loans granted to
a related party, Dujiangyan Qingcheng Co., of which two
directors are common to the Company and have beneficial
interests. The guarantee has been fully released before
December 31, 2009.
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40

41
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A TR

40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
return to

maximising the shareholders through the

optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes, where appropriate, the borrowings disclosed in note
27, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital, and take appropriate actions to
balance its overall capital structure.

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

4 b TR 8 a. Categories of financial instruments
“RERIE ZERFE )N
2009 2008
AR¥Fx AR T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
45 il Financial assets
EIRETE-=i'g Available-for-sale investments 8,600 8,600
B S R WG (L4 Loans and receivables (including
HeRrBE5EY) cash and cash equivalents) 7,686,018 4,709,099
4 il 8 Financial liabilities
6 A Amortised cost 12,656,244 15,825,357
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include accounts
and other receivables, amounts due from (to) related
parties, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash,
accounts, bills and other payable, and bank and other
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are set
out in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose primarily to the market risks
of changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange
rates risks and other price risk (see below).

There has been no significant change to the Group’s
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risk over the year.

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on
bank deposits and bank and other borrowings which carry
at prevailing market interest rates and variable rate based
on the interest rates quoted by the People’s Bank of China
or Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate plus a premium,
respectively.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to
pledged bank deposits and bank and other borrowings.
The Group currently does not use any derivative contracts
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However, the
management will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

C.

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk management (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been prepared based
on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments carry at variable rates (bank balances and
bank and other borrowings) at the end of the reporting
period and assuming the financial instruments outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 200 basis point increase or decrease for
bank and other borrowings and a 100 basis point increase
or decrease for bank deposit are used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represent management’s assessment of the possible
change in interest rate in respect of bank and other
borrowings and bank deposits respectively.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had
been increased/decreased by 200 basis points in respect of
bank and other borrowings and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s profit would not be affected as
interest expenses would be fully capitalised (2008:
decrease/increase by RMB14,225,000).

In addition, if interest rate had been increase/decrease of
100 basis points in respect of bank deposits, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit would increase/
decrease by approximately RMB51,012,000 (2008:
RMB24,216,000) for the years ended December 31, 2009.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

C.

Market risk (Continued)
Foreign currency risk management

The Group collects all of its revenue in RMB and most of
the expenditures including expenditures incurred in
property sales as well as capital expenditures are also
denominated in RMB.

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in
foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arises. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure

should the need arise.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the respective reporting date are as follows:

ZRELE ZET)INAE
2009 2008
AR¥Fx A R o
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
<93 Assets

E uSD 1,020,637 98,719
e 7T HKD 2,077,520 245,900
“RENE ZEREZ )\
2009 2008
AR EF T AR ¥F o
RMB’000 RMB 000

£ it Liabilities
eI USD — —
i HKD 1,086,464 2,036,791
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

C.

Market risk (Continued)
Foreign currency risk management (Continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Group mainly exposes to foreign exchange fluctuation
of USD and HKD against RMB.

The following table details of the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% increase and decrease in RMB against the relevant
foreign currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. 5% is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes bank
borrowings as well as bank balances and pledged bank

flﬂ/ W) > Ho AR S B A deposits denominated in foreign currencies. A positive/
WRESE BT o i AR 0 AE B AN (negative) number indicates an increase/(decrease) in
i TE S (5% - J) 38 o 4 v 1) 7 profit for the year where the RMB strengthens against the
A [F] % ) T R 2 o relevant currencies. For a 5% weakening of RMB against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the profit for the year.
“RRAE “EFNE
2009 2008
AR#TF I ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
e UsD
4 5 ) Profit for the year (51,032) (4,936)
¥ T HKD
4F BE i Profit for the year (49,553) 89,545
A 5 4 R Bt Other price risks

A5 T A ] A R R A
JRBR o SR > A B E R AR A BT
TH S} 1 P £ I B J B L >

Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. #E ) i & A KR 2w

The Group is exposed to equity price risks through its
available-for-sale investments. However, the management
considers that the Company’s exposure to fluctuation in
equity price is minimal.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

d.

Credit risk management

At each of the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees
issued by the Group is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the
amount of contingent liabilities disclosed in note 37. In
order to minimise the credit risk, the monitoring
procedures are carried out to ensure that follow up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each
individual trade and other receivables and amounts due
from related parties at the end of the reporting period.
The amounts presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position are net of allowances for bad and
doubtful debts, estimated by the Group’s management
based on prior experience and their assessment of the

current economic environment.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit rating agencies or state-owned
banks in the PRC.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds
which are deposited with several banks with high credit
ratings, amount due from a minority shareholder, and
amounts due from jointly controlled entities, the Group
has no significant concentration of credit risk, in which
exposure is spread over a number of counterparties and

customers.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

d.

Credit risk management (Continued)

For properties that are presold but development has not
been completed, the Group typically provides guarantees
to banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing of
mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties
for an amount up to 70% of the purchase price of the
individual property. If a purchaser defaults on the
payment of its mortgage during the period of guarantee,
the bank holding the mortgage may demand the Group to
repay the outstanding loan and any interest accrued
thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is able to
forfeit the sales deposit received and resales the reprocess
the properties. Therefore, the management considers it
would likely recover any loss incurred arising from the
guarantee by the Group. The management considers the
credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided to
property purchasers is limited because the facilities are
secured by the properties and the market price of the
properties is higher than the guaranteed amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

The Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and the flexibility through the use of
borrowings. The directors of the Company closely monitor
the liquidity position and expect to have adequate sources
of funding to finance the Group’s projects and operations.

The following table details the Company ‘s expected
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities based on agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Company can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows.
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41$ﬂ]:ﬁ‘ (%) 41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
e. MEBESRERE @) e. Liquidity risk (Continued)
MERELEHBFHF R DB S To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
) s A 9 R I Y R 2 ol AR R discounted amount is derived from existing at rates at the
B end of the reporting period.
REFRNE
+2A
g =t-H MBS
Fofix  WEEH HEAH
Weighted  Carrying Total
average amountat  0E60H 61E180H 181Z365H 1224 2%3% @ 3% undiscounted
interest  December 060  61to180 181 to 305 12 23 Over cash
rate 31,2009 days days days years years 3 years flows

ARRTE  ARETE  ARKTE  ARETE  ARWFL  ARETZ  AREFT  ARKTZ
RMBOOO  RMBOOO ~ RMBOOO  RMBUOO  RMBOOO  RMBUOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO

Azt E Non-interest bearing 2,890,739 910,669 267,035 1,593,035 120,000 — — 2,890,739

EBTH Fixed interest rate instruments 515% 2,809,405 9,171 143,175 508,489 382,968 738,825 1,081,400 3,524,028

BEITH Variable interest rate instruments 5.61% 6,896,100 351,756 2,143,766 903,307 1,767,858 2,206,317 — 7,373,004

BB HE R A5 41 Financial guarantee contract 2,080,846 2,686,846 = = = = — 2,080,846

BZZTNE
T2

g =t-A AREL

THA%E  BREE WEEH

Weighted Carrying Total

average  amountat  0EG0H 61E180H 181%365H 1528 1535 #1834 undiscounted

interest  December 060 61t 180 181 t0 365 1-2 23 Over cash

rate 31, 2008 days days days years years 3 years flows

AREFL ARKTE AREFT ARETE AREFT AR¥FL ARETE ARKFL

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

R Non-interest bearing 2985006 1755460 458120 470,500 301,526 = — 2985606

EETH Fixed interest rate instruments 0.95% 279,000 — 285,379 = = = - 285379

W ET A Variable interest rate instruments 0.87% 12560751 2258013 1188287 2935725 5,647,085 1452890 — 13,482,000

B (4 40 Financial guarantee contract 2204607 2,204,667 — — — — — 2,204,607
L EMAESBABYZEETAS The amounts included above for variable interest rate
CR AN EIES Y ENCh S instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject
SR 1 5 1 ) 264 3 48 0 T 3 % o to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to

those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of
the reporting period.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

€.

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could be
required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at
the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that
it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable
under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables
held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer
credit losses.

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

e the fair value of financial guarantee contracts on initial
recognition is determined based on the present value
of expected payments when default, where the main
assumptions are the probability of default by the
specified counterparty extrapolated from market-based
credit information and the amount of loss, given the
default; and

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis using prices or rates from observable
current market transactions as input.

Except for the bond with fair value disclosed in note 27,
the directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement
of financial positions approximate their respective fair
values at the end of the reporting period.
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42. 00 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B W2 2 6y A CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES
R-FEFNER_EZNEF A=A+ Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, jointly controlled
—H o RN E ZME AR~ R entities and associates at December 31, 2009 and 2008 are as
KW A R REE IR follows:

RO RAR
FEMbAR L/ Rk /i A&
L AEBERRE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BENY
INGEL incorporation/  attributable to  share capital/ Place of — LEHH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital  operation Principal activities
CERAE ZREAE
2009 2008
A
Subsidiary
EERNCERRARLA il 91.3%  913% MEAARK Gl MERRE RS E
(THAER]) (W3 PRC 1,308,000,0007c PRC Properties development
Chongging Longhu Development S E YN and investment
Company Limited (note b) 1,214,214,0007C
Registered
RMB1,308,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB1,214,214,000
RBERREERARAA (WikD) 86.2%  862% MERARN il BT
Chengdu Longhu Jinhua Real PRC 100,000,0007% PRC Properties development
Estate Company Limited (note b) 4 Z YN
100,000,00075
Registered
RMB100,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB100,000,000
MOERBEREARAA Wik 855% 8550 aEMHEAARMK HH ES T
Sichuan Longhu Real Estate Development PRC 50,000,0007C PRC Properties development
Company Limited (note b) e INT
50,000,0007%
Registered
RMB50,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB50,000,000
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42. 008 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B WG 8 4 vl ik o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continuied)
REZIVE 4
AL/ Rk /A
L B AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Placeof  £HEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“ERAE CEEAR
2009 2008
W& AT ()
Subsidiary (Continued)
RAERMERBARAD Wik FH 91.04%  91.04% M EAARK T WEEH
Chengdu Longhu Property PRC 5,000,007 PRC Properties management
Services Company Limited (note a) e YN
5,000,007
Registered
RMBS,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB3,000,000
S TC P o A TR ] (B 7k ) il 93.5% KA GERERARK T BT
Chengdu Yuanbo Gardening PRC N/A 20,000,000 PRC Nursery of seeding tree
Co., Ltd (note a) BERARARE
20,000,0007c
Registered
RMB20,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB20,000,000
EEMENDERBARAR (Wika) HE 91.3%*  91.3%* FMEAARE T WEER
Chongging Xinlonghu Properties PRC 5,000,000 PRC Properties management
Services Company Limited (note a) BERANRE
5,000,0007C
Registered
RMB3,000,000
Paid up capital
RMBS,000,000

182 | Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. HE Wi b 2 f K 2 &
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A

Name of company

W& AR ()
Subsidiary (Continued)

EREWERRARAR (Wb
Chongging Longhu Properties
Company Limited (note b)

JmEmERARAT (o
Beijing Longhu Properties
Company Limited (note b)

ERENMNHEERARAT (Wit
Chongqing Longhu Xijie Real
Estate Company Limited (note a)
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42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)

it/

R B 745 R A e

Place of Equity interest

incorporation/ attributable to

establishment the Group
“ERNE ZERAE

2009 2008

Gl 91.3%  91.3%

PRC

il 89.9%  89.9%

PRC

i 91.3%  913%

PRC

SR RAR
Rk /A
Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital

Gl R YN
1,544,912,4507C
BRBA AR
1,544,912,4507C
Registered
RMB1,544,912,450
Paid up capital
RMBI,544,912,450

ALY E N
1,000,000,0007¢
VR IN
1,000,000,0007C
Registered
RMB1,000,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB1,000,000,000

Gl L INNL
624,000,0007%
R BA AR
624,000,0007C
Registered
RMB624,000,000
Paid up capital
RMBG624,000,000

AR H
Place of
operation

Gile
PRC

il
PRC

HE
PRC

FUEH

Principal activities

ES Y8

Properties development

and investment

VES ST EL S
Properties development
provision of and

consultancy service

VES $:3818

Properties development

and investment
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42. 008 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B WG 8 4 vl ik o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continuied)
CRATRAR
R/ Bk /G A&
L B AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Placeof  £HEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“EFNE ZERAE
2009 2008
W& AT ()
Subsidiary (Continued)
LR EREARAA (Bika  HE 90.0%  90.0% EMEAARH T WEEH
Beijing Longhu Property Service PRC 5,000,0007% PRC Properties management
Company Limited (note a) BREBANRE
5,000,007
Registered
RMBS,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB,000,000
TrENEEEXARAR (Wi  HH 91.3%  913% FMEAARME il EZ T
Beijing Longhu Qinghua PRC 500,000,0007C PRC Properties development
Property Company Limited (note b) BREBANRE
500,000,0007C
Registered
RMB500,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB500,000,000
FELENEMERARARE 91.3% 91.3% FEMtEAARYE FEH ES 9
(Fft &% b) PRC 700,000,000 PRC Properties development
Chongging Beilonghu Property B MA N R
Company Limited (note b) 700,000,0007C
Registered
RMB700,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB700,000,000
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42. 00 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B W6 8 4 vl ik o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)
SR RAR
it/ Bk /e mEA
L B AEMERIE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BB
kL incorporation/  attributable to  share capital/ Place of  FEEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“ERNE ZERAE
2009 2008
WA (%)
Subsidiary (Continued)
EERBLERBARAA (Wiky) R 93.5%  935% AMEAARE Gl S
Chongging Juntion Real Estate PRC 778,000,0007% PRC Properties development
Development Inc. (note b) TN
778,000,0007C
Registered
RMB776,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB778,000,000
EERNEMMERRARAT (Wita HH 91.3%  913% FMEAARYK HE E S
Chongging Longhu Hengshang PRC 30,000,0007C PRC Properties development
Real Estate Company Limited (note a) B AR AR M
30,000,0007c
Registered
RMB30,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB30,000,000
BN EEEARAD (Wiko)  HHE 46.6% 4600 FHREAARE T ESE
Chengdu Longhu Tongjin Real Estate PRC 966,549,865 7G PRC Properties development
Company Limited (note b) A E NG
966,549,365 T
Registered
RMB966,549,365
Paid up capital
RMBY066,549,805
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

42,00 )8 2 vi) ~ b ) ¥ o) £ 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
BB 88 2wl 9 E G ) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)
CRATRAR
AL/ Rk /A
L AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Placeof  £HEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“EFNE ZERAE
2009 2008
W& AT ()
Subsidiary (Continued)
HAEMABAERARAR (B b) T 91.1% 91.1% AMERARK i ES S
Chengdu Longhu Jincheng PRC 390,000,000 ¢ PRC Properties development
Real Estate Company Limited (note b) 8RR A AR B
390,000,000 7
Registered
RMB390,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB390,000,000
MBS AR A T 91.3% 013% AR ARY T ES T
(THAREER ) (Bt b) PRC 30,000,000 7¢ PRC Properties development
Chengdu Jiaxun Investment Company BRI AR B
Limited (“Chengdu Jiaxun”) (note b) 30,000,000 7¢
Registered
RMB30,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB30,000,000
TR ERRARAR (B a) il 91.3% 013% AR ARY T ES 3
Xi'an Longhu Real Estate Inc. (note a) ~ PRC 50,000,000 ¢ PRC Propeties development
YN
50,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMBS0,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB50,000,000

186 | Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. HE Wl #b 2 f K 2 &



Development Co., Ltd. (note b)

o B U 5 AR B
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BREZ

ZEMNET A= —HILEE

For the year ended December 31, 2009

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)

42. B 8 2y W) ~ 3 ) e ol R
BB 8% A v ik
Rt/
L 55 L 1 1 1
Place of Equity interest
kL incorporation/  attributable to
Name of company establishment the Group
CEFNE ZRR0E
2009 2008
WA (%)
Subsidiary (Continued)
HERNARERARAT (Wit H 90.7%  82.2%
Xi'an Longhu Jincheng PRC
Company Limited (note a)
TRERBEARAR (B b) Gl 91.3% 91.3%
Beijing Huicheng Investment Limited PRC
(note b)
ERENEEMERRARAA (Bitv) TR 46.6%*  46.0%*
Chongging Longhu Yiheng Estate PRC

SR RAR

Rk /A
Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital

Al A AR R
430,000,000 7¢
BRI AR
430,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB430,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB430,000,000

A A AR
10,000,000 ¢
BERANRE
10,000,000 7¢
Registered
RMB10,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB10,000,000

AU E N
360,000,000 7
A E NG
360,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB360,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB360,000,000

AR H
Place of
operation

Gild!
PRC

Gilel
PRC

Gl
PRC

FUEH

Principal activities

WE%E

Properties development

VES 3

Properties development

VES 3

Properties development
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42. W 8 2 \) ~ 3t ) ¥ i 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B0 8% 2 v w0 CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)
CELRYR
AL/ Rk /A
L B AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Placeof  £HEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“EFNE ZERAE
2009 2008
W& AT ()
Subsidiary (Continued)

=

BEEENNCHERRARAR (ko) b 95.6% 95.0%  FEMEAARY il EZ T
Chongging Longhu Kaian Real Estate PRC 1,278,000,000 1o PRC Properties development
Development Co., Ltd. (note b) 8RR A AR B
1,278,000,000 7©
Registered
RMB1,278,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB1,278,000,000

ERELSLEARAF (kb T 91.3% 91.3% AMERARK T WERE
Chonggqing Henghong Investment Inc. ~ PRC 10,000,000 & PRC Properties development
(note b) A ZINNL
10,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB10,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB10,000,000

Y=

FRMAEEARAA (Hikb) T 93.5% 93.5% AR ARY T ES 3
Chongqing Rongkai Industrial PRC 698,000,000 ¢ PRC Propeties development
Company Limited (note b) Y ZING
698,000,000 7¢
Registered
RMB698,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB698,000,000

Y=
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42,00 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B WG 88 4y vl i E A o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)
SR RAR
Rt/ Rk /Mg A&
L AEMERIE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BB
kL incorporation/  attributable to  share capital/ Place of  FEEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“ERNE ZERAE
2009 2008
WA (%)
Subsidiary (Continued)
TE WL EERRAR (H3ka) il 91.3% 013%  HEAARY il S
Xi'an Longhu Banpo Estate Co. Ltd. PRC 19,610,000 7¢ PRC Properties development
(note a) BRI AR
19,610,000 ¢
Registered
RMB19,610,000
Paid up capital
RMB19,610,000
R EB AR EARAR (B a) il 85.5% 85.5% kAR AR Gl MR R E
Sichuan Xing Longhu Real Estate PRC 300,000,000 ¢ PRC Properties development
Development Company Limited BRI AR and investment
(note a) 300,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB300,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB300,000,000
BMAEEAARAR (W a) Gl 93.5% 93.5% AR AR Gl BHE S
Chengdu Jinteng Trade Company 20,000,000 ¢ PRC Trading of construction
Limited (note a) PRC A E NG materials
20,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB20,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB20,000,000
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42. 008 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B WG 8 4 vl ik o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continuied)
CRATRAR
AL/ Rk /A
L AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Placeof  £HEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“EFNE ZERAE
2009 2008
W& AT ()
Subsidiary (Continued)
T4 EMERERARAR (B a) i 91.3% 91.3%  AMERARK i ES S
Xi'an Longhu Xingcheng Estate PRC 200,000,000 ¢ PRC Properties development
Co. Ltd. (note a) 8RR A AR B
200,000,000 7
Registered
RMB200,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB200,000,000
ERERPEERARAT (5 a) T 91.3% 013% AR ARY T S
Beijing Longhu Zhongbai PRC 1,500,000,000 & PRC Properties development
Properties Company Limited (note a) BRI AR B
1,500,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB1,500,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB1,500,000,000
FEEMERRRARAD (B a) T 91.3% 013% AR ARY T ES 3
Shanghai Longhu Real Estate Co. Ltd. ~ PRC 100,000,000 7¢ PRC Propeties development
(note 2) Y ZING
100,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB100,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB100,000,000

190 | Longfor Properties Co. Ltd. HE Wi b 2 f K 2 &



42. W 8 2 |~ b e o)
B8 A wl W aEts

A

Name of company

W& AR ()
Subsidiary (Continued)

Longfor Investment Company Limited

REEREE (KR) ARAF
Juntion Development Hong Kong
(Holding) Limited

REREEHRAA
Billion Way International
Trading Limited

REXEARAHA
Fortune Chance Investment Limited

i B M R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Rt/
L 55 L 1 1 1
Place of Equity interest
incorporation/ attributable to
establishment the Group
SERME SRENE
2009 2008
ERETRHE  100%  100%
The British Virgin
Islands
(the “BVI")
B (&ED  100% 100%
Hong Kong
(“AK”)
Fib 89.9%  AEA
HK N/A
ik 100%  FHE
HK N/A

SR RAR
Rk /A
Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital

EBA 1% 7T
BRI 1%
Authorised
USD1

Paid up capital
USD1

1l 2,000,000 3 7
481 JE IR 2,000,000 # 7
Authorised
HKS$2,000,000

Paid up capital
HKS$2,000,000

HE A 10,000 8 T
BRRA 147
Authorised
HKD10,000

Paid up capital
HKD1

€ K 10,0008 7T
BRERA 1T
Authorised
HKD10,000

Paid up capital
HKD1

AR H
Place of
operation

&k
HK

#it
HK

&k
HK

FUEH

Principal activities

RN

Investment holding

g el

Investment holding

BRER

Investment holding

g el

Investment holding
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42. 00 )8 2 vi) > 3t ) ¥ o) £ 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B W6 88 4y vl ik ) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continuied)
CRATRAR
AL/ Rk /A
L AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Placeof  £HEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“EFNE ZERAE
2009 2008
W& AT ()
Subsidiary (Continued)
BREREARAA &k 100%  100% EERA000ET  FiE BE R
Fortune Glister Development Limited ~ HK B 1k HK Tnvestment holding
Authorised
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
EREEHRAF &t 100  ABA EERA 00008 Al REHR
Grace Dragon Enterprise Limited HK NA  BREA LT HK Investment holding
Authorised
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
HREAHRAR) Bk 91.3%  AEM  EEBRA 100000000 8T Al BEHM
Joy Wealth Trading Limited HK N/A  HURRAK 69,687,000 HK Investment holding
Authorised
HKD100,000,000
Paid up capital
HKD9,687,000
i PR A Eit 100  ABA EERA 00008 Al REHR
Joyline Corporation Limited HK NA  BREA LT HK Investment holding
Authorised
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
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A

Name of company

W& AR ()
Subsidiary (Continued)

M B ARA
Longfor Land Company Limited

Wl (FER) FRAR
Longfor (Holdings) Company Limited

EWE (EH) ARAA
Longfor Property (Group)
Company Limited

R EERERAR
Longfor Properties Development
Company Limited

42. W08 2wl ~ 3% I ¥ o T

o B U 5 AR B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)

it/
L 5 55 L 1 1 1
Place of Equity interest
incorporation/ attributable to
establishment the Group
CEFNE ZRR0E
2009 2008
&k 100% 100%
HK
&k 100% 100%
HK
&k 100% 100%
HK
Eik 100% 100%
HK

SR RAR

Rk /A

Issued and

fully paid BEDLY

share capital/ Place of  FEEH

registered capital operation  Principal activities
EEMA 00008 FE BRER

BRI 13 HK
Authorised

HKD10,000

Paid up capital

HKD1

Investment holding

HERA 100008 B
BRI 1 HK
Authorised

HKD10,000

Paid up capital

HKD1

g el

Investment holding

BERA100008T B
BRI 13 HK
Authorised

HKD10,000

Paid up capital

HKD1

RN

Investment holding

HERA 100008 B
BRI 1 HK
Authorised

HKD10,000

Paid up capital

HKD1

g el

Investment holding
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42. 008 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B WG 8 4 vl ik o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continuied)
CRATRAR
AL/ Rk /A
L AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Placeof  £HEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“EFNE ZERAE
2009 2008
W& AT ()
Subsidiary (Continued)
MR AR A &k 100%  100% EERA000ET  FiE BE R
Longfor Construction HK BRIBA 1T HK Investment holding
Company Limited Authorised
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
R (B ARAR &b 100%  100% A 00008 Fik BE LR
Longfor Hotels (Holdings) HK BRRA LT HK Investment holding
Company Limited Authorised
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
RNEEEEARAA Fik 100%  100% EERA000ET  FiE BE R
Longfor Asset Management HK BRIBA 1T HK Investment holding
Company Limited Authorised
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
AW IR A A &k 100%  100% A 00008 Fik BE LR
Longfor Properties Management HK BRRA LT HK Investment holding
Company Limited Authorised
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
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42. 00 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B W6 8 4 vl ik o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)
SR RAR
it/ Bk /e mEA
L B AEMERIE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BB
kL incorporation/  attributable to  share capital/ Place of  FEEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“ERNE ZERAE
2009 2008
WA (%)
Subsidiary (Continued)
Longlake (Holdings) Company Limited 7 100% 100%  EERA 10008 Fi fEER
HK BULmA 1 HK Investment holding
Authorised
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
Longhu (Holdings) Company Ltd Ei 100% 100%  EEBA 0008 FE RERER
HK BRERA BT HK Investment holding
Authorised
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
Longfor Company Limited Eik 100% 100%  EERA 10008 Fi fEER
HK BULmA 1 HK Investment holding
Authorised
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
B A A A ik 100%  100% A 00008 Fik BEER
Longfor Investments HK BRERA BT HK Investment holding
Company Limited Authorised
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
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42. 008 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B WG 8 4 vl ik o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continuied)
CRATRAR
AL/ Rk /A
L AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Placeof  £HEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“EFNE ZERAE
2009 2008
W& AT ()
Subsidiary (Continued)
BEARAA Bi 100%  FER EERA000ETE BRRM
Profit Dragon Corporation Limited HK NA SRR ST HK Investment holding
Authorised
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
RREHHERAHA &t 86.2%  AER  EERA 0008 FiE REHR
Smart Sight Trading Limited HK NA  BREA LT HK Investment holding
Authorised
HK10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
RBERHRAF Eik 91.3%  AEA AMERw000ET B BEtR
Sure Fortune Trading Limited HK NA SRR ST HK Investment holding
Registered
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
AE RS A RAA #ik 91.3%  AERM  EMEA000ET  FE BE LR
Win Team Trading Limited HK NA  BREA LT HK Investment holding
Registered
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
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42. 00 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B W6 8 4 vl ik o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)
SR RAR
Rt/ Rk /Mg A&
L AEMERIE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BB
kL incorporation/  attributable to  share capital/ Place of  FEEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“ERNE ZERAE
2009 2008
WA (%)
Subsidiary (Continued)
Tasmine Spread Investment Limited EBEWATHE  100% 100%  HERKS000FET  F fEER
BVI BEmA2ER HK Investment holding
Authorised
USD50,000
Paid up capital
UsD2
Everbay Investment Limited REARTHE  100% 100%  EERAS0000EL  F RERER
BVI BRRALET HK Investment holding
Authorised
USD50,000
Paid up capital
UsD2
Fully Grace Group Limited EBEWAHE 100  AEA EERAS0000ET B BB
BVI NA  BRBEA1ET HK Investment holding
Authorised
USD50,000
Paid up capital
USD1
Silver Oak Enterprises Limited REARTHE  100% 100%  EERAS0000EL  F RERER
BVI BRRALET HK Investment holding
Authorised
USD50,000
Paid up capital
UsD2
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42. W08 2wl > 36 I P T
B W68 2 v WG )

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)
CRATRAR
Rk /i A&
Issued and
fully paid
share capital/

AR/
L B

Place of

50 L 1 1t 1
Equity interest
attributable to
establishment the Group
SEFNE CRR0E
2009 2008

R
Place of

FEEH

Principal activities

kA

Name of company

incorporation/

registered capital operation

W g A R (%)
Subsidiary (Continued)

100%

100%

Join Dragon Limited

SR
BVI

2 AR 50,000 % 7
BERALET

Fik
HK

BRER

Investment holding

Authorised
USD50,000
Paid up capital
USD2

ERERREARAA (Bika) Gilil — 100%
Shanghai Wanzhuo Investment PRC

A A AR HE
50,000,000 7 PRC
A ING

50,000,000 ¢

Registered

RMB50,000,000

Paid up capital
RMB50,000,000

ES S
Properties development
Limited (note a)

A EAARE B
335,660,000 7 PRC
NG

335,660,000 7

Registered

RMB335,660,000

Paid up capital
RMB335,060,000

WERE

Properties development

HEAEEEARAA (Bita) B
Chengdu Xixi Real Estate Company PRC

91.3% 27.4%

Limited (note a)
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42. 00 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B W6 8 4 vl ik o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)
SR RAR
Rt/ Rk /Mg A&
L AEMERIE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BB
kL incorporation/  attributable to  share capital/ Place of  FEEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“ERNE ZERAE
2009 2008
WA (%)
Subsidiary (Continued)
BBEHEEARAR (B a) il 91.3% 274%  AREAAREK il S
Chengdu Xixiang Real Estate PRC 436,370,000 7 PRC Properties development
Company Limited (note a) BRI AR
436,370,000 ¢
Registered
RMB436,370,000
Paid up capital
RMB436,370,000
R ERARAT (5 a) il 91.3% 013%  HEAARY il S
Beijing Longhu Shidai Properties PRC 1,400,000,000 7¢ PRC Properties development
Company Limited (note a) BRI AR
1,400,000,000 7¢
Registered
RMB1,400,000,000
Paid up capital
RMBI,400,000,000
TR RTERARAT (W5 a) il 91.3% 013% AR AR Gl S
Beijing Longhu Tianxing Properties PRC 600,000,000 ¢ PRC Properties development
Company Limited (note a) BRI AR
600,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB600,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB600,000,000
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42. 008 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B WG 8 4 vl ik o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continuied)
CRATRAR
AL/ Rk /A
L AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Placeof  £HEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“EFNE ZERAE
2009 2008
W& AT ()
Subsidiary (Continued)
EREERHARAR (Hka) i 93.5% 93.5%  sMERARK i EHE S
Beijing Dezhuo Trade PRC 20,000,000 7¢ PRC Trading of construction
Company Limited (note a) 8RR A AR B materials
20,000,000 7¢
Registered
RMB20,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB20,000,000
UM A KA RAT (B3 a) T 91.3% 913%  AMEAARYE T REXE
Beijing Longhu Chengheng PRC 2,000,000 ¢ PRC House decoration
Decoration Company Limited (note a) BRI AR B
2,000,000 7T
Registered
RMB2,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB2,000,000
ERERBEEARAR (i a) T 913%  AEA  AREAARE T VESL YT T
Beijing Mengke Properties Co., Ltd. PRC N/A 28,000,000 ¢ PRC Propeties development
(note a) Y ZING and provision of
28,000,000 7¢ consultancy service
Registered
RMB26,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB28,000,000
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42. 00 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B W6 8 4 vl ik o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)
SR RAR
Rt/ Rk /Mg A&
L AEMERIE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BB
kL incorporation/  attributable to  share capital/ Place of  FEEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“ERNE ZERAE
2009 2008
WA (%)
Subsidiary (Continued)
TrEHEEERARAT (5o il 93.5%  AER  AREAARE I S
Beijing Tongruiwanhua Properties PRC N/A 10,000,000 72 PRC Properties development
Co., Ltd. (note a) BEBANR K
10,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB10,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
FRENERARARAT (Wb il 100%  AER EREAARYE il S
Qingdao Longfor Real Estate PRC N/A 600,000,000 ¢ PRC Properties development
Development Co., Ltd. (note b) BRI AR
292,911,227 %G
Registered
RMB600,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB292,911,227
HMERERARAA (Wit Gl 85.1%  AEM AMEAARE il S
Changzhou Jia'nan Properties PRC N/A~ 50,000,000 & PRC Properties development
Co., Ltd. (note a) I
50,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB>0,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB50,000,000
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BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

42. 008 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B0 8 2 ) W ek ) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)
CRATRAR
AL/ Rk /A
L B AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Place of — LEEK
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“EFNE ZERAE
2009 2008
W& AT ()
Subsidiary (Continued)
B R EARA (B3 c) T 100%  ABA  GEfEA i ES S
Hangzhou Longhu Real Estate PRC N/A 149,400,000 % 7. PRC Properties development
Development Co., Lid. (note ¢) BRRA
149,400,000 % 76
Registered
USD149,400,000
Paid up capital
USD149,400,000
MAEM LB EARAR (B b) i 95.6%  AEA  AMEAARE T ES TS
Chengdu Beicheng Real Estate PRC N/A 670,000,000 1C PRC Properties development
Company Limited (note b) BRERANR
341,700,000 TG
Registered
RMB670,000,000
Paid up
RMB341,700,000
EHENFLERRARAD (B3Eb) T 98.5%  AEA dEfEA T ES T
Shenyang Longhu Estate PRC N/A 65,000,000 % ¢ PRC Properties development
Development Co., Ltd. (note b) BRRA
65,000,000 3 ¢
Registered
USD65,000,000
Paid up capital
USD65,000,000
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BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

42. 00 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B W8 2 6 G ) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)
SR RAR
Rt/ Rk /Mg A&
L AEMERIE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BB
kL incorporation/  attributable to  share capital/ Place of  FEEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“ERNE ZERAE
2009 2008
WA (%)
Subsidiary (Continued)
EHEMFLERARAR (BEb) G| 100%  AER REMEA 98.000000% T HE VES L
Shenyang Longhu Xinbei Properties PRC N/A BRI 48,020,000 % PRC Properties development
Co., Ltd. (note b) Registered
USD98,000,000
Paid up capital
USD48,020,000
EERAREARAA (Wit HE 93.5% 93.5%  sHtER AR HE ES
Chongging Tianzhuo Investment PRC 20,000,000 ¢ PRC Properties development
Company Limited (note a) BERAANRE
20,000,000 7¢
Registered
RMB20,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB20,000,000
EREMAERERRARAA (Hita) PR 91.3% 913%  sEtER AR il ES
Chongging Longhu Chengheng PRC 50,000,000 ¢ PRC Properties development
Real Estate Development Inc. (note a) BERAANRE
50,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB50,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB>0,000,000
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42. 008 )8 2 v ~ 3t ) ¥ o) 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B WG 8 4 vl ik o) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continuied)
CRATRAR
AL/ Rk /A
L AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Placeof  £HEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“EFNE ZERAE
2009 2008
W& AT ()
Subsidiary (Continued)
ERERMRFERARARD (B a) i 93.5%  AER  AREAARE i HH%s
Chongging Tianlang Agriculture PRC N/A 10,000,000 ¢ PRC Nursery of seeding tree
Development Company Limited 8RR A AR B
(note a) 10,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB10,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB10,000,000
FEENNEERARAR () T 91.3% 013% AR ARY T YEER
Shanghai Longhu Property Management ~ PRC 5,000,000 & PRC Properties management
Company Limited (note a) BRI AR B
5,000,000 7T
Registered
RMBS,000,000
Paid up capital
RMBS,000,000
FERAEEARAA (Hikb) T 93.5% 93.5% AR ARY T BHES
Shanghai Yujiu Industrial Company PRC 20,000,000 ¢ PRC Trading of construction
Limited (note b) Y ZING materials
20,000,000 75
Registered
RMB20,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB20,000,000
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A

Name of company

WA (%)

Subsidiary (Continued)

EEEREREARAT (K

Shanghai Hengchi Real Estate
Company Limited (note a)

TLEMIERBARAT (B3 a)
Xi'an Longhu Property Service
Company Limited (note a)

THEEREERRAA (ko)
Xi'an Yeheng Industrial
Company Limited (note a)

i B M R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Rt/

L 55 L 1 1 1

Place of Equity interest

incorporation/ attributable to

establishment the Group
“ERAE CEEAR

2009 2008

i 93.5% 93.5%

PRC

il 91.3% 91.3%

PRC

il 93.5% AR

PRC N/A

SR RAR

Rk /A
Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital

Al A AR
1,000,000,000 7¢
BRI AR
1,000,000,000 7¢
Registered
RMB1,000,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB1,000,000,000

A A AR
3,000,000 ¢
BERANRE
3,000,000 76
Registered
RMB3,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB3,000,000

R RN
20,000,000 ¢
A E NG
20,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMB20,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB20,000,000

AR H
Place of
operation

i
PRC

Gilel
PRC

il
PRC

FUEH

Principal activities

B

Properties development

VES 3

Properties development

BHE S
Trading of construction
materials
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

42. W5 8 2 5 ~ 3t ) ¥ 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
B8 A vl ekt @ CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)

REZIVE 4
AL/ Rk /A
L B AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Placeof  £HEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
SEFNE CRR0E
2009 2008

W g A R (%)
Subsidiary (Continued)

WAENBEGRAT (ko) il 91.3% AER GEREAARE il EZ T
Wuxi Longhu Real Estate Inc. (note a) ~ PRC N/A 100,000,000 ¢ PRC Properties development
e YN
100,000,000 72
Registered
RMB100,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB100,000,000

ElEFEERRLARAR (FEa) il 93.5%  AEA  AREAARE T BEEE
Shanghai Xinrun Garden Virescence PRC N/A 2,000,000 ¢ PRC Nursery of seeding tree
Company Limited (note a) BRI AR B
2,000,000 7T
Registered
RMB2,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB2,000,000

=

AERBREEARA #i 100%  AER EREA000ET  FiE BRER
Top Grand International HK NA  BREA LT HK Investment holding
Enterprise Limited Registered
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1

ERARAT &k 100%  AER ElER000ET  FiE BRI
Treasure State Limited HK NA SRR ST HK Investment holding
Registered
HKD10,000
Paid up capital
HKD1
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A

Name of company

KRR ER
Jointly Controlled Entity

EERENERERARLAD (Wi o)
Longhu Land Limited (note d)

BARHERARAA
([H#zd]) (B3 )
Chengdu Jia'nan Real Estate

Company Limited (“Chengdu Jia'nan")

(note d)

bR B A R A
([HEAE]) (B3 )

Chengdu Tuocheng Real Estate
Company Limited (“Chengdu
Tuocheng”) (note d)

i B M R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Rt/

L 55 L 1 1 1

Place of Equity interest

incorporation/ attributable to

establishment the Group
CEFNE ZRR0E

2009 2008

i 50%# 50%¢#

PRC

Gl 720 7.2%#

PRC

i 4.3%#+ 430+

PRC

SR RAR

Rk /A
Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital

AR H
Place of
operation

B 27000000 F T HE
MK 27,000,000 T PRC

Registered

USD27,000,000
Paid up capital
USD27,000,000

A A AR
382,890,100 7T
BERAANRE
382,890,100 7T
Registered
RMB362,890,100
Paid up capital
RMB362,690,100

A A AR K
633,495,100 7
BERAANRE
633,495,100 7
Registered
RMB633,495,100
Paid up capital
RMB633,495,100

Gild!
PRC

G|
PRC

FUEH

Principal activities

WERE

Properties development

UES T

Properties development

ES TS

Propetties development
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZZFNET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

42,00 )8 2 vi) ~ b ) ¥ o) £ 42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
BB 88 2wl 9 E G ) CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)
CRATRAR
AL/ Rk /A
L AEMENNE  Issued and
Place of Equity interest  fully paid BEH
K4 incorporation/ attributable to  share capital/ Placeof  £HEH
Name of company establishment the Group registered capital operation  Principal activities
“EFNE ZERAE
2009 2008
KR EHER )
Jointly Controlled Entity (Continued)
RBREEEARAT (Bikd) T 4204+ 42%e+  EREAARE T VES L
([HHRE]) PRC 653,275,800 7 PRC Properties development
Chengdu Jinghui Real Estate 8RR A AR B
Company Limited (“Chengdu Jinghui”) 653,275,800 ¢
(note d) Registered
RMB653,275,800
Paid up capital
RMB653,275,800
AR B R A T 29.3%#+  293%#+  EREAARE T ES T
(A EERT ) (HE3E ) PRC 629,993,500 76 PRC Properties development
Chengdu Huixin Real Bstate BRI AR B
Company Limited (“Chengdu Huixin”) 629,993,500 ¢
(note d) Registered
RMB629,993,500
Paid up capital
RMB629,993,500
FEEERBEARAR (W) T 45.7%F  183%  EfEAARE T ES 3
Shanghai Hengrui Real Estate PRC 1,589,000,000 7¢ PRC Propeties development
Company Limited (note d) Y ZING
1,589,000,000 ¢
Registered
RMBI,589,000,000
Paid up capital
RMB1,589,000,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB 8% A v ik
Rt/
L 55 L 1 1 1
Place of Equity interest
kL incorporation/  attributable to
Name of company establishment the Group
CEFNE ZRR0E
2009 2008
KR H TR (4)
Jointly Controlled Entity (Continued)
Northpole Intermediary Limited HERE 4449 KR
Cayman Islands N/A
BELT
Associate
FEEW (PE) FRAR (HiH RBERARE  47.4% 47.4%
Easeridge Investments Limited) BVI
Jiaxun Land (China) Company Limited
(Formerly known as
Easeridge Investments Limited)
BRATMERLN () ARAA (Wike) TH 20% 20%

Ar Ke Er (note e) PRC

BEZZFMET A= —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)

SR RAR

Rk /A

Issued and

fully paid BEDLY

share capital/ Place of  FEEH
registered capital operation  Principal activities
ik M &4 2003 MEHE  RRER

BRI 200 % 70 Cayman  Investment holding
Registered Islands

USD200

Paid up capital

USD200

BERAS0000FE L &k

BRI 100 % 7T
Authorised
USD50,000

Paid up capital
USD100

HMEA 1250000FE  HE

BUEBA 100 %78
Registered
USD1,250,000
Paid up capital
USD100

HK Investment holding

PRC Production of air
conditioning
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BEZZFNET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2009

42. W08 2 Wl ~ 3t I ¥ T
B W28 2 6 kA )

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)

B 5E - Notes:
() M2 W) % e B AL 2 B A 4 R (a) The subsidiary is a domestic wholly-owned enterprise established in the
=3 PRC.

(b) ZHEAR AR PRI GERE - (b) The subsidiary is an equity joint venture established in the PRC.

(c) WA M2 7 A B L 2 B ANE R o (¢) The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the
PRC.

(d)  R% AL ] 2 T A T R B R 2 A o (d) The jointly controlled entity is an equity joint venture established in the
PRC.

(e) WAEHE A F RN B AL BINERZE o (e) The associate is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the

ML ERER —EENE T A
ST HBIEMERES > BREERE
4 3640 R A7 BR A A 3547 1M AR 2 ) 3f 48
A M & 2 AR 1,400,000,0007C i
# o

o HEAF B EEENAERE (RARRZ *

FENER _FR/NFE+ A=+ — A4
FL91.3% B HE 19 — THI B JB 2 71) H5 A7 7Y B oG
DN o AR Ry AR A R A 47 R
] o B IR E A R A R
B0 AN A A %5 8 A A R 5 AR
JA50% > AFLA% A w47 AT 45 4 o6 R A 4 34
J& B 5% 2 N W) AT 8 7 ) HE o

#  SFATIR S B IR A E B R R A A R A #
RO A0 K A S ARAT A S R R R 7%
S ) A B — B R R R AR

B -
wOZEMORAEN L E (532 . o
+ XS ILIRI A R A A R A K A +

SRR B o AR EAR O Bl e R A
PR > AR - U 3 I S L I
7.84% - 4.74% > 4.50% K 32.05%) HE £ ©
WARAH B & 8 ek - AR B AT G % 5 LR
P BB 10% 2 8 F) o
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December

PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

31, 2009, except for Chongqing Longhu

Development Company Limited which has issued RMB1,400
million bonds, in which the Group has no interest.

These companies are subsidiaries held by Chongqging Longhu
Development, a subsidiary in which the Company has 91.3% equity
interest at December 31, 2009 and 2008. These companies are indirectly
controlled subsidiaries of the Company. Therefore, the Company could
exercise the control over these companies through Chongging Longhu
Development, though the effective beneficial interests attributable to the
Company in these companies are calculated at less than 50% based on

the effective interest holding percentage.

These companies were accounted for as jointly controlled entities as at
respective period end date as in accordance with the memorandum and
the articles of the companies, major financial and operating policies of
these companies required the unanimous consent of all the directors.

The entity was disposed of during the year (note 32)

These jointly controlled entities are held directly by Chengdu Jiaxun, a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The interests of Chengdu
Jia’'nan, Chengdu Tuocheng, Chengdu Jinghui and Chengdu Huixin
directly held by Chengdu Jiaxun are 7.84%, 4.74%, 4.50% and 32.05%
respectively. Pursuant to the relevant joint venture agreements, the
Group is entitled to share 10% of profit of these jointly controlled
entities.
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Four Years Financial Summary

RETLZA=Z+—HILFE

Year ended December 31,

ZRERE EENE ZEZREE ZZEAF
2009 2008 2007 2006
A R#T L ARHF I ARHF o A R#F o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
EF RESULTS
B Revenue 11,373,962 4,475,199 3,498,040 2,100,666
i Hi i 7 Profit before taxation 4,061,040 680,679 1,625,281 977,045
Jir 45 . BH 32 Income tax expense (1,568,581) (281,198) (724,081) (337,577)
4 B i Profit for the year 2,492,459 399,481 901,200 639,468
DLF REAG Attributable to:
RARFEA A Owners of the Company 2,209,207 331,590 749,990 370,969
D WU R 45 Minority interests 283,252 67,891 151,210 268,499
AF I Yk ] Profit for the year 2,492,459 399,481 901,200 039,408
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Four Years Financial Summary

BET-H=1T—HILFE

At December 31,
ZRFRE CEFEANE SRTEFE ZERAF
2009 2008 2007 2006
ANRETFLE AREFLT AR¥ETLE ARETL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
G R ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
% A Total assets 42,445,102 32,396,267 22,639,483 10,088,810
it Total liabilities (29,206,540) (28,452,033) (18,511,015) (7,598,758)
13,238,562 3,944,234 4,128,468 2,490,052
KN ] i o E A A 25 Equity attributable to
owners of the Company 12,138,678 3,122,561 2,809,240 1,493,535
B R 2% Minority interests 1,099,884 821,673 1,259,228 996,517
13,238,562 3,944,234 4,128,468 2,490,052
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